Patterns and features of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses during acute HIV-1 infection and their association with viral control

Mopo Radebe



Patterns and features of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses during acute HIV-1 infection and their association with viral control

Ву

Mopo Radebe

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Immunology) in the School of Laboratory Medicine and Medical Sciences, Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine, University of KwaZulu-Natal 2015 I, Mopo Radebe, declare that this is my original work except as acknowledged in the thesis and has not been submitted in any other form to another university. Most of the experiments were performed at the HIV Pathogenesis Programme (HPP) Laboratory, Doris Duke Medical Research Institute, Nelson R. Mandela School of Medicine, University of KwaZulu-Natal. Some of the experiments were carried out at the Walker Laboratory at the The Ragon Institute of Massachusetts General Hospital, Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Harvard University, Boston, MA, USA. The work was supervised by Prof Thumbi Ndung'u (University of KwaZulu-Natal).

Mopo Radebe

Signed:

Date: 25 February 2015

Thumbi Ndung'u

Signed:

Date: 25 February 2015

I, Mopo Radebe declare that:

- The research reported in this dissertation, except where otherwise indicated, is my original work.
- II. This dissertation has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university.
- III. This dissertation does not contain other persons' data, pictures, graphs or other information, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other persons.
- IV. This dissertation does not contain other persons' writing, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other researchers. Where other written sources have been quoted, then:
 - a) Their words have been re-written but the general information attributed to them has been referenced; where their exact words have been used, their writing has been placed inside quotation marks, and referenced.
 - b) Where I have reproduced a publication of which I am an author, co-author or editor, I have indicated in detail which part of the publication was actually written by myself alone and have fully referenced such publications.
 - c) This dissertation does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from the Internet, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being in the dissertation and in the Reference sections.

Signed:

Date: 25 February 2015

First Author Publications:

- Radebe M, Nair K, Chonco F, Bishop K, Wright JK, van der Stok M, Bassett IV, Mncube Z, Altfeld M, Walker BD and Ndung'u T. Limited immunogenicity of HIV CD8+ T-cell epitopes in acute clade C virus infection. Journal of Infectious Diseases 2011.
- 2. Radebe M, Kamini G, Mokgoro M, Ndlhovu Z, van der Stok M, Mkhize L, Walker BD and Ndung'u T. Broad and persistent Gag-specific CD8+ T-cell responses are associated with viral control but rarely drive viral escape during primary HIV-1 infection. *Manuscript submitted*.
- 3. Radebe M, Naidoo K, McKinnon L, Werner L, Mokgoro M, van der Stok M, Mkhize L, Walker BD Ndlhovu Z, Thobakgale C and Ndung'u T. The prognostic role of T-cell and plasma biomarkers of immune activation and dysfunction in predicting and viral load set point and CD4 loss in HIV infection. *Manuscript in preparation*.

Co-Author Publications:

 Wright JK, Novitsky V, Brockman MA, Brumme ZL, Brumme CJ, Carlson JM, Heckerman D, Wang B, Losina E, Leshwedi M, van der Stok M, Maphumulo L, Mkhwanazi N, Chonco F, Goulder PJ, Essex M, Walker BD, Ndung'u T. Influence of Gag-Protease-Mediated Replication Capacity on Disease Progression in Individuals Recently Infected with HIV-1 Subtype C. J Virol. 2011 Apr;85(8):3996-4006.

Chapters in Books

 Sande's HIV/ AIDS Medicine, 2nd Edition Medical Management of AIDS 2012. Edited by Paul Volberding, Warner Greene, Joep M. A. Lange, MD, Joel E. Gallant, MD, MPH and Nelson Sewankambo (Chapter 4). Release Date: 25 May 2012.

Oral and Poster Presentations:

- Radebe M, Zaza Ndlhovu, Mmamekwa Mokgoro, Mary van der Stok, Lungile Maphumulo, Walker BD and Ndung'u T. Longitudinal Analysis of the Human Immunodeficiency Virus-1 Specific T-Cell Response during primary HIV-1 infection and association with viral control. AIDS Vaccine 2012, October 7-10, Poster number: P01.02. Barcelona, Spain.
- Radebe M, Zaza Ndlhovu, Mmamekwa Mokgoro, Mary van der Stok, Lungile Maphumulo, Walker BD and Ndung'u T. Longitudinal Assessment of HIV-1-Specific T-Cell Responses Generated During Acute Subtype C HIV-1 Infection and Associations with Viral Set Point. AIDS Vaccine 2012, September 9-12, Poster number: 247795. Boston, Massachusetts.

- Radebe M, Nair K, Chonco F, Bishop K, Wright J, Stok M, Mncube Z, Altfeld M, Walker B, Ndung'u T. Limited Immunogenicity of HIV CD81 T-Cell Epitopes in Acute Clade C Virus Infection. AIDS Vaccine 2011, September 12-15, Oral Presentation. Bangkok, Thailand.
- Radebe M, Nair K, Chonco F, Bishop K, Wright J, Stok M, Mncube Z, Altfeld M, Walker B, Ndung'u T. Characterization of Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Specific CD8+ T-cell Responses and their Immunodominance Patterns Following Acute HIV-1 Clade C Infection. HIV Vaccines Keystone conference (X5), March 21- 26, 2010, Poster number: 244. Banff, Alberta, Canada.
- Radebe M, Nair K, Chonco F, Bishop K, Altfeld M, Walker B, Ndung'u T. Immunodominance of Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Specific CD8+ T-cell Responses during acute HIV-1 Clade C Infection. Poster Presentation: HIV Acute Infection Meeting, September 22 – 23, 2009, Boston, MA.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My sincere gratitude goes to:

My dedicated, encouraging, and patient husband Thami. Your love and support during the Ph.D. journey will always be appreciated, now and beyond. Great thanks and love to my mother, sister and brother who constantly supported me throughout my studies.

My supervisor Thumbi Ndung'u, being your Ph.D. student has been an honour. The joy and enthusiasm you have for research is contagious and inspiring. I will always value your continued encouragement and support. I couldn't have chosen a better mentor to work with.

My co-supervisor Bruce Walker, I appreciate all the opportunities that you made available to me, your guidance, your contributions of time and funding to make my Ph.D. experience both productive and stimulating. I couldn't have chosen a better place to undertake this research.

Our study participants, your commitment has made our efforts in understanding the HIV pathogenesis possible and worthwhile. Great thanks to the HPP clinical staff at our hospital sites; clinicians, nurses and counsellors for providing care and support to our study participants, health wise and beyond.

The members of the HPP group, you have contributed immensely to my personal and professional time at UKZN. You have been a source of friendship, good advice and collaboration.

The funders who made this study possible, the South African National Research Foundation, the Technology Innovation Agency and the L'Oreal/UNESCO Foundation for Women in Science. "Alas! What was there of mine in that work? Say not that it was I, but God in me. I labored – yet not I, but by the grace of God which was in me. Away with all merit, either in me or any other man whatsoever."

-Phillp de Mornay (1549-1623)

ABBREVIATIONS

ADCC	Antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity
AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
CTL	Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISPOT	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot
IFN-γ	Interferon gamma
IL-2	Interleukin 2
IL-8	Interleukin 8
IL-10	Interleukin 10
IL-12p70	Interleukin 12p70
Gag	Group-specific antigen
GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating
нιν	Human immunodeficiency virus
HAART	Highly active anti-retroviral treatment
HLA	Humal leukocyte antigen
FMO	Flourescence minus one
мнс	Major histocompatibility complex
MIP-1α	Macrophage inflammatory protein-1-alpha
ΜΙΡ-1β	Macrophage inflammatory protein-1-beta
NEF	Negative regulatory factor
РВМС	Peripheral mononuclear cells
PD-1	Programmed Death 1

Rev	Regulator of gene expression
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
TCR	T-cell receptor
Tat	Trans-activator of transcription
ΤΝΕ-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
SIV	Simian immunodeficiency virus
Vif	Viral infectivity factor
Vpu	Viral protein U
Vpr	Viral protein R
WHO	World Health Organization

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Global view of the estimated number of adults living with HIV/AIDS	3
Figure 1.2. HIV prevalence distribution by province in South Africa in 2011	4
Figure 1.3. The viral genome for HIV-1	11
Figure 1.4. Representation of HIV's lifecycle	12
Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of the course of HIV-1 infection	18
Figure 2.1. Plasma HIV-1 RNA titres and CD4+ T-cell counts in primary infection	47
Figure 2.2. Average magnitude of HIV-1 specific CD8+ T-cell responses	56
Figure 2.3. Immunodominance patterns of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses	61
Figure 3.1. Alignment of viral load data from 18 subjects	81
Figure 3.2. Kinetics of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses	83
Figure 3.3. Evolution of IFN- γ ELISPOT CD8+ T-cell responses targeting epitopes	85
Figure 3.4. Association of the breadth of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses	89
Figure 3.5. The impact of persistent T-cell responses	94
Figure 3.6. Recognition patterns associated with wild type and variant Gag	97
Figure 4.1. Summary of the distribution of the data sets	110
Figure 4.2. Gating strategy for identification of CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell subsets	114
Figure 4.3. The relationship between CD4+ T-cell counts	116
Figure 4.4. The mean fold changes of analytes	117
Figure 4.5. The relationship between viral load set point and cytokines	123
Figure 4.6. The relationship between CD8+ and CD4+ T-cell activation	125
Figure 5.1 Schematic diagram summarising the main findings	139

List of Tables

Table 1.1. HIV vaccine products tested in clinical efficacy trials to date	6
Table 1.2. Laboratory stages of primary HIV infection	17
Table 2.1. Typical evolution of key viral and serological markers	48
Table 2.2: Demographic and clinical characteristics of enrolled subjects.	50
Table 2.3. Viral load characteristics and antibody pattern	51
Table 2.4. Dynamics of HIV-CD8+ T-cell responses	53
Table 2.5. Overlapping peptides targeted in the cohort	55
Table 2.6. Optimal CD8+ T-cell peptides corresponding to defined epitopes	58
Table 2.7. HLA frequencies in study cohort	60
Table 2.8. Sequence analysis of autologous virus Gag epitopes	63
Table 3.1. HIV-1-specific CD8+-T-cell responses	82
Table 3.2. HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses in acute and early infection	87
Table 3.3. T-cell responses to OLPs	88
Table 3.4. Confirmed persistent HLA class I-restricted CD8+ T-cell epitopes	91
Table 3.5. HIV-1-specific T-cell responses determined by the ex vivo ELISPOT	95
Table 4.1. General linear model analysis showing associations	121
Table 4.2. General linear model analysis for the evaluation of associations	127
Table 4.3. General linear model analysis for the evaluation of associations	.127

ABSTRACT

Evidence suggests that CD8+ T-cells play a major role in the control of HIV-1 viremia and apply significant immune pressure on HIV-1 replication. However, the presence of virus-specific CD8+ T-cells in individuals with varying levels of viral control suggests that CD8+ T-cells may differ in their antiviral function or efficacy. The mechanisms underlying differences in the control of viremia, particularly the reasons why particular individuals experience more effective acute viremia resolution, which is a good correlate of the subsequent rate of disease progression, are still not well understood. In order to uncover some of the features of CD8+ T-cell subsets responsible for the control of HIV replication, particularly during the critical early infection phase, we investigated the patterns and features of HIV-1-specific CD8+ Tcell responses during acute and primary HIV-1 infection and their association with viral control. We also sought to determine the impact of acute phase immune activation on the acute HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell response and on disease hypothesized that protein-specific and epitope-specific progression. We immunodominance patterns during the first 12 weeks of HIV-1 infection are associated with subsequent disease progression.

Our data show the presence of HIV-1 specific CD8+ T-cells with limited breadth during acute HIV-1 infection and also demonstrate that the magnitude and breadth of interferon gamma (IFN-γ) ELISPOT assay responses measured within 12 weeks post-infection are unrelated to the course of disease in the first year of infection. During the first weeks of infection Nef protein was most frequently recognized by T-

xiv

cells and was the target for the earliest response. Although initially subdominant, there was a broadening of the Gag-specific T-cell immune response such that these responses became immunodominant by one year post infection. The broadening and preservation of early Gag-specific T-cell responses during the follow up period was associated with better control of viremia and lower viral load set point. Although many of the acute/early HIV-1-specific IFN- γ enzyme linked immunospot assay (ELISPOT) CD8+ T-cell responses targeting Gag and Pol persisted, the majority of acute and early T-cell responses targeting Env, Nef and other regulatory proteins waxed and waned over time and could not be detected at the last time point evaluated. Some of the early T-cell responses which where no longer detectable when using overnight ELISPOT assay were detectable when PBMCs were stimulated with corresponding peptides and cultured for 10 days before measuring IFN-y secretion via the ELISPOT assay. The presence of these cultured ELISPOT central memory type T-cell responses targeting epitopes in Pol, Env, Nef, Regulatory and Accessory proteins were not significantly associated with viral set point. However, cultured ELISPOT Gag-specific responses correlated with low plasma viremia, thus further providing evidence for the favourable role of Gag-specific T-cell responses in the control of viral replication. We also show that three cytokines IL-10, IP-10 and IL-12 were associated with changes in viral load set point and/or CD4+ T-cell dynamics during the first year of HIV-1 infection. Interestingly, the activation of the PD-1 inhibitory pathway in acute HIV-1 infection was associated with a slower disease progression.

XV

The data indicate that induction and preservation of Gag-specific effector and central memory type CD8+ T-cell responses is required for the maintenance of low viral load levels in primary infection. Our study suggests that an early and broadly directed Gag-specific CD8+ T-cell response in acute infection may augment early control, and provide a rational goal for both prophylactic and therapeutic vaccination. The role of these plasma and T-cell markers of immune activation and dysfunction as early independent predictors of rapid disease progression was detected despite the relatively small number of subjects evaluated, supporting the predictive strength of these markers. In addition to or in combination with canonical parameters, early biomarkers, which are indicative of early immune dysfunction and are also predictive of subsequent HIV disease prognosis, may inform approaches for evaluating the ability of therapeutic HIV vaccines to control HIV infection and may be indicative of pathways that may be manipulated to achieve better viral control in natural infection or following vaccination.

The research reported study is registered with the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee of the University of KwaZulu-Natal as a subsidiary study to the parent study entitled Characterisation of the evolution of adaptive immune responses in acute HIV clade C virus infection (*BREC reference number: E036/06*).

The Postgraduate Education Committee at the Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, granted approval towards studying for a PhD degree.

lapter 1 : The Immune Response to HIV-1	•••••
1. HIV and AIDS Pandemic:	
1.1. The Global Perspective	
1.2. HIV and AIDS: South Africa	
2. Therapeutic strategies for HIV	
2.1. The STEP and Phambili trials	
2.2. The Thai Phase III HIV vaccine clinical trial	
3. Origin and Structure of HIV	
3.1. HIV-1 types	
3.2. Structure of HIV-1	
3.3. Transmission of HIV-1	
4. The acute phase of HIV-1 infection	1
4.1. Viral dynamics	
4.2. The acute retroviral syndrome	
4.3. Staging of acute HIV-1 infection	
5. The innate immune response to HIV-1	1
5.1. Dendritic cells	
5.2. Natural killer cells	
5.3. Host restriction factors	
6. The adaptive immune response to HIV-1	
6.1. The antibody response	
6.2. The CD8+ T-cell response	
6.3. Role of HLA class I in mediating CD8+ T-cell responses	
6.4. CD8+ T-cell immunodominance	
6.5. CD8+ T-cells exert selective pressure	

Table of Contents

6.6. The fitness of the infecting virus	30
6.7. CD4+ T-cells in HIV-1 infection	
6.8. Immune activation and HIV pathogenesis	32
7. Rationale for the study:	34
8. Objectives of the Study	35
Chapter 2 : Limited immunogenicity of HIV CD8+ T-cell epitopes in act	ute
clade C virus infection	36
1. Abstract	37
2. Introduction	38
3. Materials and methods	40
3.1. Study Participants	40
3.2. Isolation of PBMCs	41
3.3. Viral load quantification, and CD4+ T-cell enumeration	41
3.4. HLA typing	41
3.5. Synthetic HIV-1 peptides	42
3.6. IFN-gamma ELISPOT Assay	42
3.7. <i>Gag</i> amplification and sequencing	44
3.8. Statistical analysis	45
4. Results	46
4.1. Viral load and CD4 counts in HIV-1 clade C acute infection	46
4.2. HIV-1 -specific CD8+ T-cell responses prior to and following seroconvers	sion 50
4.3. Evolution of CD8+ T-cell responses following acute HIV infection	54
4.4. Limited breadth of HIV-1-specific T-cell epitopes in primary infection	56
4.5. Effect of sequence variation on recognition by specific CTL	62
5. Discussion	65
6. Conclusion	67

Chapter 3 : Progressive broadening of HIV-1 Gag-specific CD8+ T-c	ell
responses is associated with viral control despite limited immuno	genicity
and infrequent immune escape in early HIV-1 infection	
1. Abstract	69
2. Introduction:	70
3. Materials and methods	74
3.1. Study participants	74
3.2. Synthetic HIV-1 subtype C peptides	75
3.3. Viral load determination, CD4 T-cell counts, and HLA typing	75
3.4. Interferon-γ ELISPOT Assay	75
3.5. Cultured IFN-γ ELISPOT Assay	76
3.6. Virus sequencing	77
3.7. Statistical analysis	
4. Results	79
4.1. Association of CD8+ T-cell responses with viral load	79
4.2. Fate of the early T-cell IFN-γ ELISPOT responses	
4.3. Gag immune responses and viral evolution	
5. Discussion:	
Conclusions	103
Chapter 4 : The prognostic value of plasma and T-cell markers of in	nmune
activation in predicting viral load set point and CD4+ T-cell loss in	HIV
infection	104
1 Abstract	105
2 Introduction	105
3 Materials and methods	100
3.1. Study cohort	

3.2. Viral load determination, CD4+ T-cell counts and HLA typing111
3.3. Measurement of plasma cytokines111
3.4. Assessment of T-cell activation by multicolor flow cytometry
3.5. Statistical analysis113
4. Results
4.1. Exponential viral load expansion in plasma donors with acute HIV infection 115
4.2. Plasma levels of cytokines and chemokines in primary HIV-1 infection116
4.3. Cytokine expression is associated with CD8+ T-cell magnitude and breadth 120
4.4. Early cytokine expression patterns predict viral load set point
4.5. T-cell markers of immune activation and viral load set point
4.6. Plasma cytokine concentrations alone predict viral load set point
4.7. Variables predicting the rate of CD4+ T-cell decline
5. Discussion:130
6. Conclusion135
Chapter 5 : General Discussion and Future Directions
1. Discussion and Future Directions137
2. The acute CD8+ T-cell response and HIV-1 dynamics140
3. Acute Nef-specific CD8+ T-cell responses: the good and the bad
4. Viral load kinetics mirror evolving Gag CD8+ T-cell responses142
5. Impact of acute immune activation on HIV-1 disease progression147
6. Future directions150
Chapter 6 : References

Chapter 1 provides an overview of the HIV epidemic, acute and primary HIV-1 infection and the role of the innate and adaptive immune responses in the control of HIV-1 infection.

Chapter 2 gives a detailed overview of CD8+ T-cell responses, the magnitude and breadth of these responses and their targets and immunodominance patterns in 20 HIV-1 subtype C infected, antiretroviral naive subjects from 4 weeks up to 18 weeks post infection.

Chapter 3 provides a description of evolving breadth of CD8+ T-cell responses during the first year HIV-1 of infection and the association of these changes with viral load. The role of persistent immune responses and central memory-type CD8+ T-cells in viral control is also highlighted.

Chapter 4 provides evidence on the role of T-cell and plasma immune markers of activation and dysfunction in predicting disease progression.

Chapter 5 gives an overview of the study findings in relation the current body of knowledge on the immune response to HIV. Also highlighted is what we know and what we should know, in order to facilitate the development of an efficacious HIV vaccine.

1. HIV and AIDS Pandemic:

1.1. The Global Perspective

In the more than three decades since the first clinical case of AIDS was identified, over 70 million people have been infected with the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) and 35 million people have died of HIV-1-related illnesses (UNAIDS, 2013). At the end of 2012, it was estimated that there were 35.3 million (32.2–38.8 million) people living with HIV. Sub-Saharan Africa remains most severely affected, with nearly 1 in every 20 adults (4.9%) living with HIV and accounting for 69% of the people living with HIV globally (Figure 1.1) and in this region women account for at least 58% of infections (UNAIDS, 2012, UNAIDS, 2013).



Figure 1.1. Global view of the estimated number of adults living with HIV/AIDS (according to region) in 2012 (WHO, 2013).

1.2. HIV and AIDS: South Africa

Within sub-Saharan Africa, South Africa with 5.26 million individuals infected with HIV is the country with the world's largest population of people living with HIV (UNAIDS, 2013). The estimated overall HIV prevalence rate is approximately 10%, with 16% of adults aged 15–49 years and 17% of South African women in their reproductive ages HIV infected (Stats SA., 2013). However, within the country, differences in HIV prevalence vary widely by region and risk group.



Figure 1.2. HIV prevalence distribution by province in South Africa in 2011 (Stats SA., 2013).

According to the 2011 National Antenatal Sentinel HIV & Syphilis Prevalence Survey, an estimated 29.5% of the antenatal population is HIV positive with the province of KwaZulu-Natal experiencing the most severe HIV epidemic with the highest HIV prevalence of 37.4% in the antenatal population (South African Department of Health., 2011). Mpumalanga follows it closely with overall prevalence rates of 36.7%, and the Free State at 32.5% (Figure 1.2). The Northern Cape and Western Cape provinces have the lowest HIV prevalence rates of below 20% (Stats SA., 2013).

2. Therapeutic strategies for HIV

Although declines in new HIV infections have been reported since 2011, the burden of disease remains incredibly significant. So far the best results at curbing the epidemic have been the development of antiretroviral drugs (ARVs) that inhibit crucial HIV-1 functions. Whilst ARV therapy has significantly reduced the toll of AIDS related deaths, a significant gap still exists between those on therapy and those who need it. In South Africa, only 2 million of the 5.26 million individuals infected with HIV are on therapy (UNAIDS, 2013). Furthermore, the unique ability of HIV-1 to mutate and adapt (Korber et al., 2001, Wain-Hobson, 1995, Ndung'u and Weiss, 2012) also requires the use of multiple drug treatments that are often limited in their use mainly because of their side effects and cost (Maenza and Flexner, 1998).

Arresting the spread of the HIV/AIDS epidemic will require a multi-pronged approach, which consists of efficient HIV-1 prevention strategies, improved ARV therapy access for individuals infected with HIV-1, and the development of an efficient vaccine to protect people from HIV-1 infection and/or attenuate disease progression in those that are already infected. In order to facilitate the design of successful vaccination regimens that elicit specific immune responses, an in-depth

immunological knowledge as well as an enhanced understanding of host-virus

interaction is crucial (Virgin and Walker, 2010).

Table 1.1. HIV vaccine products tested in clinical efficacy trials to date (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2013).

1981	HIV was identified as the cause of AIDS.
1987	The first HIV vaccine clinical trial opened at the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Clinical Center. The gp160 subunit vaccine showed no serious adverse effects.
1992	NIAID launched the first Phase II HIV vaccine clinical trial.
1998	First large scale vaccine trial began: VaxGen initiates Phase III trial of AIDSVAX in North America and The Netherlands.
1999	NIAID begins first African preventive HIV vaccine trial in Uganda. First large scale vaccine trial in a developing country began: VaxGen initiates Phase III trial of AIDSVAX in Thailand.
2003	U.S. and Royal Thai governments jointly initiated RV144, a Phase III trial to evaluate a novel HIV vaccine strategy commonly referred to as "prime-boost."
2004	VaxGen candidate failed in Phase III trials.
2007	NIAID halted the Phase II Step and Phambili studies due to safety concerns.
2009	Phase II HVTN 505 study initiated to evaluate a "prime-boost" vaccine regimen developed by the VRC.
2009	Results of Phase III Thai Trial (RV144) show vaccine combination is first to demonstrate modest preventive effect in humans.
2010	Two potent antibodies that prevent most strains of HIV identified by the VRC (VRC01 and VRC02). Establishment of Pox-Protein Public-Private Partnership (P5)
2012	Additional analyses of samples from RV144 provide insight about what type of immune response may be needed for an effective vaccine.
2013	HVTN 505 immunizations stopped due to lack of efficacy.

2.1. The STEP and Phambili trials

Soon after HIV-1 was isolated and confirmed as the cause of AIDS, it was widely expected that an effective vaccine would be developed in a few years. Over thirty years later, we are still struggling to develop an effective vaccine. As shown in Table 1.1, decades of effort have been spent, and continue to be made, toward developing an efficacious HIV vaccine (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2013). Two Phase IIb trials of a vaccine candidate created by the pharmaceutical company Merck were halted in September 2007. The STEP and Phambili clinical trials evaluated Merck's trivalent Ad5-HIV-1 vaccine in high-risk MSM and heterosexual men and women in the Americas and Australia (STEP) and heterosexual men and women in South Africa (Phambili). Despite inducing T-cell responses of similar magnitude and breadth to those observed in earlier trials, the vaccine failed to prevent infection or impact on early viraemia and was prematurely terminated in 2007 on grounds of futility (Buchbinder et al., 2008, McElrath et al., 2008). The measures of immunogenicity in phase I/II trials of the STEP trial were shown to be ambiguous since vaccinees who acquired HIV-1 infection showed a similar magnitude of CD8+ T-cell responses to vaccination in comparisons to those who were not vaccinated. Furthermore, the breadth of responses in vaccinees was particularly narrow with CD8+ T-cell responses targeting a median of one epitope per protein and with a bias towards less conserved epitopes (McElrath et al., 2008, Li et al., 2011).

2.2. The Thai Phase III HIV vaccine clinical trial

The Thai HIV vaccine efficacy trial (2003-2009), known as RV144, tested the "primeboost" combination of two vaccines: ALVAC-HIV recombinant canarypox vaccine (the prime) and AIDSVAX gp120 B/E vaccine (the boost). The vaccine combination was based on HIV strains that commonly circulate in Thailand. In 2009, the RV144 trial conducted in Thailand revealed an estimated efficacy of 31% with the ALVAC vCP1521-AIDSVAX B/E vaccine regimen (Rerks-Ngarm et al., 2009). Exploring the immune correlates of risk for HIV-1 infection in this phase IIb trial led to the identification of two immune correlates of risk, IgG antibodies to HIV-1 Env V1-V2 and high-titre anti-Env IgA antibodies (Haynes et al., 2012). Initially, IgG antibodies to HIV-1 Env V1-V2 were shown to correlate inversely with infection risk, suggesting that antibodies binding to the V1V2 Env region were involved somewhat in preventing infection (Liao et al., 2013, Haynes et al., 2012). High titer anti-Env IgA antibodies were shown to be directly correlated with infection risk, moreover, in the presence of low-titer anti-Env IgA antibodies, antibody-dependenT-cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) levels inversely correlated with infection risk suggesting that anti-Env IgA antibodies could lessen the protective effects of IgG antibodies (Haynes et al., 2012, Tomaras et al., 2013).

Although attempts to produce a vaccine that prevents HIV infection have not been wholly successful to date, these HIV vaccine clinical trials have provided many valuable lessons towards the generation of promising HIV vaccine regimens. The clues gathered from the failed clinical trials and the partially successful RV144 trial, in addition to the promising ongoing preclinical vaccine data, offer a unique

opportunity to build on efforts towards an effective HIV vaccine (Spearman, 2003, Day and Kublin, 2013).

3. Origin and Structure of HIV

3.1. HIV-1 types

HIV belongs to a large family of ribonucleic acid (RNA) viruses and is a member of the genetically related Lentivirus genus of the Retroviridae family. Infection with lentiviruses is characterized mainly by immunosuppression with a long period of clinical latency following infection before manifestations of illness become apparent (Fauci, 1993). It has long been suspected that HIV-1 is of chimpanzee origin derived from the simian immunodeficiency virus of the *Pan troglodytes troglodytes* subspecies of chimpanzee (SIVcpz) (Gao et al., 1999). In 2006, extracts of SIVcpz were found in faecal samples collected from wild chimpanzees, thus confirming that they were indeed a reservoir of SIVcpz (Keele et al., 2006). It is now well established that SIVs from chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes troglodytes*) and gorillas (*Gorilla gorilla gorilla*) in West central Africa are the progenitors of HIV-1 (Keele et al., 2006, Van Heuverswyn et al., 2006, Sharp and Hahn, 2011).

The HIV isolates are currently grouped into two types, HIV type 1 (HIV-1), which is the main causative agent of AIDS globally, and HIV type 2 (HIV-2), which is restricted to some regions of Western and Central Africa (Clavel et al., 1986, Sharp and Hahn, 2011, Whittle et al., 1994). HIV-1 comprises 3 distinct virus groups, termed M (the Main group), O (the Outlier group) and N (the Non-M, Non-O group). Group M was

the first to be discovered and is the pandemic form of HIV-1 that has infected millions of people and is found in nearly every country on the globe (Sharp and Hahn, 2011). It consists of at least nine genetically distinct subtypes (or clades), denoted subtype A, B, C, D, F, G, H, J and K (Perrin et al., 2003, Robertson et al., 2000). Subtype B is the dominant form in Europe, the Americas, Japan, and Australia, whilst subtype C is dominant in southern Africa, eastern Africa, India, and parts of China (Taylor and Hammer, 2008). Group O is less prevalent than group M and represents less than 1% of global HIV-1 infections restricted mainly to Cameroon, Gabon, and neighbouring countries (Mauclere et al., 1997, De Leys et al., 1990). Group N infections have been documented in 13 individuals, all from Cameroon (Simon et al., 1998, Vallari et al., 2010, Sharp and Hahn, 2011) and two cases of group P have been reported also in individuals from Cameroon (Plantier et al., 2009).

3.2. Structure of HIV-1

The genome of HIV, similar to retroviruses in general, contains three major genes *gag*, *pol*, and *env* (Figure 1.3). The *gag* gene (group-specific-antigen) encodes the core structural proteins (p24, p7, p6) and matrix (p17) and the *env* gene encodes the viral envelope glycoproteins gp120 and gp41, which are used for cell surface receptor recognition. The *pol* gene encodes for enzymes crucial for viral replication, namely reverse transcriptase which converts viral RNA into DNA, the integrase which incorporates the viral DNA into host chromosomal DNA (the provirus) and the

protease which is responsible for cleaving large Gag and Pol protein precursors into their components (Sierra et al., 2005, Sundquist and Krausslich, 2012).



Figure 1.3. The viral genome for HIV-1 consists of nine open reading frames: *gag, pol and env. Gag* encodes the proteins that form the viral capsid. *Env* encodes the envelope surface proteins. *Pol* encodes the three catalytic enzymes: Reverse Transcriptase (RT), Integrase (IN), and the Protease (PR). The remaining six open reading frames encode accessory proteins: Vif, Vpr, Nef, Tat, Rev, and Vpu.

A defining feature of retroviruses is their ability to assemble into particles that are able to leave producer cells and spread infection to susceptible cells. Virion morphogenesis can be divided into three stages, 1) assembly: the virion is created and vital components are packaged; 2) budding: wherein the virion crosses the plasma membrane and acquires its lipid envelope; and 3) maturation: the virion changes structure and becomes infectious (Figure 1.4). The Gag polyprotein and its proteolytic maturation products, which function as the major structural proteins of the virus, coordinate these stages (Sundquist and Krausslich, 2012).

Six virally regulatory/accessory genes carried by HIV-1 in its 9,2 kB RNA include *tat*, *rev*, *nef*, *vif*, *vpr*, and *vpu* and these contribute to the genetic complexity of the virus. *Tat* and *rev* stimulate the transcription of proviral HIV-1 DNA into RNA, enhance the

transportation of HIV RNA from the nucleus to the cytoplasm and are important for translation (Fanales-Belasio et al., 2010, Emerman and Malim, 1998).



Nature Reviews | Cancer

Figure 1.4. Representation of HIV's lifecycle: The HIV lifecycle begins with the interaction of a virus particle with a receptor on the cell's surface, resulting in the fusion of the viral and cellular membranes and transfer of the viral contents into the cell. The viral RNA genome is reverse transcribed and produces a DNA copy which is imported into the nucleus. Within the nucleus, the viral DNA is integrated into the hosT-cell genome and is transcribed from within the host genome, then exported from the nucleus. The translation of the viral proteins by hosT-cell machinery begins and the major structural protein, Gag, is transported to the plasma membrane where it directs assembly of the viral coat and incorporates other viral proteins and the viral genome. The virus buds through the cell membrane, and Gag is cleaved by the viral protease leading to a structural change of the virion into its mature infectious form, which is capable of fusing with a new susceptible cell (figure adapted from Monini et al. (2004), with permission from the Nature Publishing Group).

Nef has been shown to have a number of functions such as CD4 and HLA class I downregulation (Schwartz et al., 1996, Greenberg et al., 1998), activation of p21activated protein kinase (Pak2) (Foster and Garcia, 2007, Foster and Garcia, 2008) and enhancement of virion infectivity (Miller et al., 1994). The downregulation of CD4 and MHC class I molecules from the surface of HIV-1-infected cells represents an important escape mechanism for the virus in evading recognition and attack mediated by cytotoxic CD8+ T-cells and to also avoid recognition by CD4+ T-cells (Foster and Garcia, 2007, Foster and Garcia, 2008). Downregulation of CD4+ T-cells is thought to be primarily for enhancing virion release, virus infectivity and this may also be a mechanism to avoid antibody mediated cytotoxicity (Veillette et al., 2014). The virion infectivity factor (Vif) suppresses the antiretroviral cellular enzyme APOBEC3G and other cytidine deaminases in the cytoplasm (Marin et al., 2003) and is essential for efficient viral replication in primary cells (Desrosiers et al., 1998). The virion-associated protein (Vpr) has the ability to delay or arrest infected cells in the G2 phase of the cell cycle (Fletcher et al., 1996), facilitates infection of macrophages (Eckstein et al., 2001) and activates HIV transcription (Felzien et al., 1998). By counteracting host restriction factors (particularly Tetherin) (Neil et al., 2008), Vpu enhances efficient release of virions from infected cells (Varthakavi et al., 2003) and downregulates the CD4 molecules during the late stages of HIV-1 infection (Levesque et al., 2003).

3.3. Transmission of HIV-1

The most common mode of HIV-1 infection is sexual transmission via the genital mucosa or rectal mucosa (Cohen et al., 1997, Royce et al., 1997). Upon sexual transmission, HIV-1 infects Langerhans cells and dendritic cells that reside in the submucosal tissues (Spira et al., 1996) as these cells express CD4 and CCR5 molecules on their surfaces, which serve to facilitate viral entry (Elsaesser et al., 2009). The lamina propria of the human vagina also contains many CD4+ T-cells, which express relatively high levels of CCR5 compared with T-cells found in peripheral blood (Hladik and Hope, 2009, Elsaesser et al., 2009, Spira et al., 1996). Entry of HIV-1 into host T-cells depends largely upon the interaction of the viral glycoprotein envelope gp120 subunit with cell surface CD4 (Dalgleish et al., 1984). Upon CD4 binding, subsequent conformational changes of gp120 trigger interactions of the Env with HIV-1 co-receptors CCR5 or CXCR4 (Moore, 1997). As a result, this binding to co-receptors exposes the Env gp41 transmembrane subunit and promotes fusion of viral and cellular membranes (Furuta et al., 1998).

Findings from studies of macaques infected intravaginally with SIV show that virus replication is initially confined to the mucosal infection site where small foci of infection are established locally, some of which expand and disseminate virus to the draining lymph node and blood (Haase, 2010). Single-genome amplification and sequencing of the first detectable virus has shown that approximately 80% of mucosally transmitted HIV-1 subtype B and C infections originate from single viruses (Keele et al., 2008) and these primary founder viruses have been shown to infect

CD4+ T-cells with greater efficiency than they can infect monocytes and macrophages (Salazar-Gonzalez et al., 2009). Productive infection has also been shown to arise from a single infecting virus in rhesus macaques inoculated intra-rectally with a complex SIV quasispecies thus further supporting the use of SIV infection of rhesus macaques as a model for HIV-1 transmission and vaccine studies (Keele et al., 2009, McMichael et al., 2010).

4. The acute phase of HIV-1 infection

4.1. Viral dynamics

Acute HIV-1 infection is the phase of HIV disease immediately after infection during which the initial burst of viremia in newly infected patients occurs whilst anti-HIV antibodies are undetectable. After transmission of the virus, there is an interval, known as the eclipse phase, which is the time before viral RNA becomes detectable in the plasma (Keele et al., 2008, Lee et al., 2009). The length of the eclipse phase before virus dissemination takes place may range from 5–6 days to several weeks, with exposure to lower doses of the virus being associated with longer eclipse periods (Keele et al., 2008, Lee et al., 2009, Liu et al., 2010, Stone et al., 2010).

Following infection and the replication of the virus in the mucosa, virus and/or virus infected cells are transported to draining lymph nodes, where they encounter activated CD4+CCR5+ T-cells and thus facilitating further viral amplification in these cells (Haase, 2010). Subsequently, the virus spreads via the blood to the other lymphoid tissues reaching peak plasma levels, usually more than a million RNA
copies per ml of blood at 21–28 days after HIV-1 infection in humans (McMichael et al., 2010).

4.2. The acute retroviral syndrome

The clinical effects of HIV-1 infection are diverse, ranging from an asymptomatic seroconversion to a severe illness that may require hospitalization of the patient. Acute HIV infection often remains undiagnosed partly because the symptoms are protean and are also typical of other viral infections like influenza or mononucleosis (Tindall et al., 1988, Niu et al., 1993). The onset of illness is usually between 2 and 6 weeks after viral transmission and most patients experience fever, disseminated lymphadenopathy, often associated with headache, myalgias, anorexia, rash, and/or diarrhoea (Busch, 1994). A more severe clinical syndrome during acute HIV infection has been associated with rapid HIV disease progression (Pedersen et al., 1989).

4.3. Staging of acute HIV-1 infection

Analysis of samples obtained from individuals during early HIV-1 infection has revealed that the first few weeks after infection can be divided into clinical stages that are defined by a sequential gain in positive HIV-1 clinical diagnostic assays (viral RNA measured by PCR, p24 and p31 viral antigens and HIV-1-specific antibodies measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and HIV-1-specific antibodies detected by Western blot) (Fiebig et al., 2003). Based on this sequential gain in positivity of these HIV-1 clinical diagnostic assays, patients can be categorized into Fiebig stages I–VI (Table 1.2).

			Mar	Duration in days			
Stage	RNA	P24 Antigen	Not sensitive 2nd generation EIA	Sensitive 3rd generation EIA	Western blot	/estern blot Individual Cumu	
I	+	_	-	_	_	5 (3.1, 8.1)	5 (3.1, 8.1)
Ш	+	+	_	_	_	5.3 (3.7, 7.7)	10.3 (7.1, 13.5)
ш	+	+	_	+	_	3.2 (2.1, 4.8)	13.5 (10.0, 17.0)
IV	+	+/-	_	+	I	5.6 (3.8, 8.1)	19.1 (15.3, 22.9)
v	+	+/-	+/-	+	+ without p31 band	69.5 (39.7, 121.7)	88.6 (47.4, 129.8)
VI	+	+/-	+	+	+	Open-ended	Open-ended

Table 1.2. Laboratory stages of primary HIV infection based on the emergence of viral markers in seroconverting plasma donors (adapted from Fiebig et al., 2003).

Infected individuals progress from acute infection through to the early chronic stage of infection at the end of Fiebig stage V, approximately 100 days following infection, (Fiebig et al., 2003, McMichael et al., 2010) (Figure 1.5). At this time the plasma viral load begins to plateau and decreases to a steady level referred to as the viral set point. The mechanisms underlying the establishment of the viral set point are poorly understood, but may involve the interplay between host immune responses and viral replication. The viral load set point is an established predictor of HIV-1 disease progression and mortality where a high viral set point is a marker of rapid disease progression; the higher the set point, the more rapid the immunologic progression to disease (Mellors et al., 1997)



Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of the course of HIV-1 infection showing changes in viral load, antibodies, CD4 and CD8 T-cell counts in peripheral blood in untreated individuals.

Although several mechanisms such as the innate immune system, host factors, age, virulence of the infecting strain and other immunological factors are known to influence the rate of HIV disease progression, the adaptive immune response is thought to be the most critical component of the immune system in the control of HIV infection (Fauci, 1993, Pantaleo et al., 1993, Borrow et al., 1997, Borrow et al., 1994).

5. The innate immune response to HIV-1

5.1. Dendritic cells

The immune response to HIV-1 requires the successful activation of innate immunity, which stimulates the development of the subsequent adaptive immune response. The innate response triggered during acute HIV-1 infection is thought to be one of the key aspects of the immune system, which determines establishment of infection and the rate of subsequent disease progression (McMichael et al., 2010, Borrow and Bhardwaj, 2008, Borrow et al., 2010).

Dendritic cells (DCs) known as the sentinels of the immune system, are strategically located in skin, mucosal tissues (including oral and vaginal mucosal surfaces) and lymphoid tissues, and are proposed to be among the first cells that encounter HIV-1 during sexual transmission (Haase, 2005, Coleman et al., 2013). Through expression of a diverse array of receptors and signalling molecules, these professional antigen presenting cells play a critical role in the early host response to infection by acting as potent antigen-presenting cells and by producing cytokines that mediate direct effector and immunoregulatory functions which can stimulate adaptive immune responses and also mediate rapid antimicrobial effector functions (Banchereau et al., 2000, Borrow and Bhardwaj, 2008). Dendritic cells are highly efficient at stimulating HIV-specific T-cell responses as well as priming polyfunctional HIV-specific T-cell responses (Zarling et al., 1999, Colleton et al., 2009, Lubong Sabado et al., 2009, McMichael et al., 2010). However, during acute HIV-1 infection there is a rapid decline in the number of circulating DCs, mainly plasmacytoid DCs and this may be the result of activation-induced cell death or the migration of activated DCs into lymph nodes (Malleret et al., 2008, Lore et al., 2002). In chronic HIV-1 infection, the depletion of pDCs has been associated with HIV disease progression and development of opportunistic infections (Soumelis et al., 2001).

5.2. Natural killer cells

Other key players in the innate immune system are natural killer (NK) cells, which contribute to innate defence against viral infections as they respond rapidly during the early events of HIV-1 infection. The classical NK cells are non-T-cell lymphocytes, lacking expression of T-cell receptors (Biron et al., 1999) as well as a small subset of T-lymphocytes expressing surface markers characteristic of both T-cells and NK (NKT) cells are now appreciated to form an important link between the innate and adaptive immune responses (Alter et al., 2007, Borrow and Bhardwaj, 2008). An increased percentage of NK cells has been observed in the blood during acute HIV-1 infection and longitudinal data also show that NK cell populations are expanded around the time of peak plasma viremia prior to seroconversion and the appearance of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses (Alter et al., 2005, Alter et al., 2007). Because of their activation during acute HIV-1 infection and their heightened activity in HIVexposed, seronegative individuals, it has been suggested that these cells may contribute directly or indirectly to control of primary viraemia and may also play a role in preventing the establishment of infection (Alter et al., 2005, Alter et al., 2007, Borrow and Bhardwaj, 2008, Titanji et al., 2008, Scott-Algara et al., 2003). NK cells may also inhibit HIV-1 replication and spread via lysis of virally infected cells or

production of antiviral cytokines (e.g. IFN- γ) and chemokines (Borrow and Bhardwaj, 2008). Although the significance of innate responses as determinants of the outcome of HIV-1 infection has been demonstrated, more work is still needed to understand how innate immune responses can be harnessed to combat HIV-1 (Borrow and Bhardwaj, 2008, McMichael et al., 2010).

5.3. Host restriction factors

As part of the innate immune response to HIV-1, cell-intrinsic factors also contribute in suppressing viral replication. These are known as restriction factors and/or intrinsic resistance factors, and they provide an early line of defence against infection as a part of, or even occurring before innate antiviral responses (Monajemi et al., 2012). The most widely recognized restriction factors, which restrict HIV-1 replication in target T-cells and provide the host with a pre-mobilized defence against retroviral infection are APOBEC3G (Sheehy et al., 2002), TRIM5 α (Stremlau et al., 2004) and tetherin (Neil et al., 2008).

APOBEC3G (apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing, enzyme-catalytic, polypeptide-like 3G) is a human enzyme encoded by the APOBEC3G gene belonging to the APOBEC super-family of proteins and has the ability to interfere with HIV replication (Monajemi et al., 2012). This family of proteins has been suggested to play an important role in innate anti-viral immunity by converting deoxycytidine (dC) to deoxyuridine (dU) in single stranded DNA (ssDNA) or RNA of human and viral genomes, most notable HIV, thereby affecting a variety of inhibiting proper viral replication (Conticello, 2008,

Monajemi et al., 2012). This protein is mainly expressed in CD4+T-cells, macrophages, as wells as dendritic cells, however, expression may be induced by interferons in other tissues (Tanaka et al., 2006, Pion et al., 2006, Monajemi et al., APOBEC3G can interrupt dissemination of HIV by binding viral RNA, 2012). interfering with reverse transcription (cDNA), physically blocking reverse transcriptase and obstructing integration into the hosT-cell genome (Mbisa et al., 2007, Anderson and Hope, 2008). After the reverse transcription stage, incorporation of dU into the neo-synthesized minus strand DNA of the HIV genome has been shown to interfere with synthesis of the complementary plus strand (Klarmann et al., 2003, Monajemi et al., 2012). However, lentiviruses such as HIV have evolved several strategies, primarily in the form of auxiliary proteins such as Vif, which interacts with APOBEC3G and triggers its degradation via the ubiquitindependent proteosomal pathway (Yu et al., 2003, Goncalves and Santa-Marta, 2004, Sheehy et al., 2003).

TRIM5-alpha: Mammalian cells express several factors that inhibit lentiviral infection and one of these factors, tripartite motif-containing motif 5 alpha (TRIM5 α), mediates species-specific and early block of retrovirus infection (Reymond et al., 2001). In Old World monkeys, rhesus TRIM5 α may restrict HIV-1 infection by binding to the viral capsid, leading to its premature disassembly or by blocking virus production (Stremlau et al., 2004, Uchil et al., 2008, Zhang et al., 2008). Although human TRIM5 has also been shown to possess some anti-HIV activity, its effect however, has been shown to be significantly less potent than that of rhesus TRIM5 α (Stremlau et al., 2004, Zhang et al., 2008, Kaumanns et al., 2006). Studies have

suggested that genetic variants of human TRIM5 may influence relative susceptibility to HIV-1 infection, antiretroviral function and the rate of disease progression (Javanbakht et al., 2006, Speelmon et al., 2006). Recently Richardson et al. (2014) investigated the role of protein stability in conferring TRIM5 α -mediated HIV-1 restriction and they demonstrated that human TRIM5 α protein was less stable than rhesus TRIM5 α , and this difference correlated with higher self-ubiquitination activity. Using a stabilized form of human TRIM5 α in which the steady-state expression level was more similar to rhesus TRIM5 α , the authors were able to show comparable HIV-1 restriction activity in HIV-1 challenge assays. Interestingly, primary human CD4+ T-cells expressing a stabilized human TRIM5 α were protected from HIV-1 mediated destruction *in vivo* (Richardson et al., 2014).

Tetherin: Human cells also possess an antiviral activity that inhibits the release of a broad-spectrum of enveloped viruses, including retroviruses and this antiviral activity can be constitutively expressed or induced by interferon-alpha (Neil et al., 2008, Pardieu et al., 2010, Xu et al., 2011). This antiviral activity consists of protein-based tether, termed 'tetherin' because it directly tethers virions to infected cells through the partition of its membrane anchors into both virion and cell membranes thus causing the retention of fully formed virions on infected cell surfaces (Perez-Caballero et al., 2009). However, HIV-1 can overcome the restriction imposed by tetherin through the activity of viral protein U (Vpu), which mediates surface downregulation and degradation of tetherin (Neil et al., 2008, Van Damme et al., 2008, Schindler et al., 2010, Douglas et al., 2009).

6. The adaptive immune response to HIV-1

6.1. The antibody response

The last few years have seen a rapid acceleration in our understanding of human antibodies that neutralize HIV-1 and much of this has been enabled by technologies which allow for the identification of effective neutralizers from HIV-1-infected donors capable of neutralizing a broad spectrum of HIV-1 isolates (Doria-Rose et al., 2014, Scheid et al., 2011, Walker et al., 2009b, Wu et al., 2010). Infection by HIV-1 elicits a strong antibody response to both the surface unit (gp120) and the transmembrane unit (gp41) envelope glycoprotein as well as to conformationally dependent epitopes formed by the trimeric Env spike (Pantophlet and Burton, 2006, Mascola and Montefiori, 2010). However, these Env-directed responses consist predominantly of non-neutralizing and neutralizing antibodies are usually detected several months later (Wei et al., 2003, Gray et al., 2007, Pantophlet and Burton, 2006, Shen et al., 2009, Stamatatos et al., 2009). Although the detection of cytotoxic T-cell activity coincides with the initial decrease in plasma viral RNA levels, neutralizing antibodies against autologous virus are detected in the majority of HIVinfected individuals from approximately 12 weeks or later after HIV-1 infection (Wei et al., 2003, Gray et al., 2007). Screening of thousands of HIV-1 infected individuals in different cohorts has revealed that some degree of neutralization of heterologous viruses eventually arises in 20-25% of patients and antibodies appear after 1-4 years of infection, however, evidence of their efficacy in the control of viremia is still lacking (Gray et al., 2007, Shen et al., 2009, Stamatatos et al., 2009). Interestingly, approximately 1% of infected individuals, referred to as elite neutralizers, develop an

exceptionally broad and potent neutralizing antibody response (Simek et al., 2009, Bello et al., 2009, Lambotte et al., 2009). In HIV-1 clade B infection, the range of epitopes bound by the earliest autologous-virus neutralizing antibodies is narrow and epitopes are mostly restricted to certain virus isolates (Wei et al., 2003, Richman et al., 2003). Similarly, in HIV-1 clade C, the initial autologous-virus neutralizing antibodies are induced with similar kinetics and are typically specific only for the initially transmitted Env variant (Moore et al., 2008). Moreover, antibodies specific for the more conserved regions of HIV-1 Env are rarely generated during the course of HIV-1 infection; when they do occur, they develop only after 20–30 months of infection (Calarese et al., 2003, Kwong et al., 2002, Shen et al., 2009).

During acute HIV-1 and SIV infection the virus replicates profusely in mucosal B cell inductive microenvironments such as Peyer's patches, high levels of HIV and SIV can induce lysis of uninfected bystander follicular B cells, apoptosis of B cells and loss of nearly 50% of germinal centers within the first 80 days of infection (Alam et al., 2008, Fox et al., 1991, Pantaleo et al., 1993, McMichael et al., 2010). The early loss of germinal centers may result in defects in the ability to rapidly generate highaffinity HIV-1 antibodies and result in the delayed induction of autologous-virusneutralizing antibodies (McMichael et al., 2010, Pantaleo et al., 1991, Muro-Cacho et al., 1995). The finding that the generation of potentially protective antibodies is delayed until after initial control of viraemia and the narrowness of the breath of these neutralizing antibodies implies that key vaccine strategies which will enable effective control of early viral expansion have to focus on priming an early and broad antibody response targeting multiple neutralizing epitopes and also induce a rapid

secondary response (McMichael et al., 2010). However, vaccine protocols with a number of envelope presentations, including live and inactivated virus and recombinant envelope proteins lack the ability to elicit strong neutralizing responses to primary isolates of HIV-1 or SIV capable of protection against challenge with primary viruses (Mascola and Montefiori, 2010, Pantophlet and Burton, 2006, Burton, 1997).

6.2. The CD8+ T-cell response

There is compelling evidence that acute-phase HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses play an important role in determining the subsequent clinical course of disease. CD8+ T-cell depletion studies have demonstrated that in non-human primates infected with pathogenic SIV, the absence of CD8+ T-cells during acute or chronic infection resulted in a significant increase in virus replication and acceleration in disease progression (Schmitz et al., 1999, Jin et al., 1999). Numerous studies have also demonstrated that vaccine-induced CD8+ T-cells can protect against the development of AIDS when macaques were challenged with an SIV-HIV chimera (Amara et al., 2001, Barouch et al., 2001, Barouch et al., 2013).

In both HIV-1 and SIV infection the first wave of virus-specific CD8+ T-cell responses occurs as viremia approaches its peak, and the CD8+ T-cell response peaks 1–2 weeks later, coinciding with the decline in viraemia (Koup et al., 1994, Borrow et al., 1994, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Pantaleo et al., 1994, Huber and Trkola, 2007,

Radebe et al., 2011, Liu et al., 2013). The range of epitopes recognized by the CD8+ T-cell response during acute HIV-1 infection is narrow, even at the time of maximal decline in peak viremia when only a very few epitopes are targeted (Altfeld et al., 2001, Turnbull et al., 2009, Radebe et al., 2011, Goonetilleke et al., 2009). The earliest CD8+ T-cell responses are often specific for Env and Nef with responses against Gag p24 and Pol proteins arising during later waves of T-cell responses (Turnbull et al., 2009, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Radebe et al., 2011). Despite the narrowness of the acute phase CD8+ T-cell response, both human and animal studies have demonstrated that the emergence of a CD8+ T-cell response is important in the control of virus replication in early infection, before the appearance of anti-HIV binding and/or neutralising antibodies (Hansen et al., 2009, Bimber et al., 2009, Wilson et al., 2009, Streeck et al., 2009b, Borrow et al., 1994, Koup et al., 1994, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Schmitz et al., 1999, Burton et al., 2004, Walker et al., 2009a, Hubner et al., 2009, Buchbinder et al., 2008, McElrath et al., 2008, Virgin and Walker, 2010).

6.3. Role of HLA class I in mediating CD8+ T-cell responses

CD8+ T-cells detect HIV-1 peptides through T-cell receptor (TCR)-mediated recognition of peptides which are selected and transported to the cell surface by HLA class I proteins inducing T-cell activation and clonal expansion, which is followed by lysis of infected target T-cells (Koup et al., 1989, Kaslow et al., 1996, Neefjes et al., 2011). Although many thousands of different peptides can be potentially generated for CD8+ T-cell recognition, the intricate system of intracellular peptide processing,

transport and binding to available HLA-I allomorphs, and TCR repertoire matching, constrain these candidates to a relatively small number of peptide epitopes that serve as targets for the effector CD8+ T-cells (Yewdell, 2006, Irvine and Bennink, 2006). The control of HIV replication has also been linked with the ability to mount a diverse class I restricted response, where HIV-infected individuals who are heterozygous at the HLA class I loci have been shown to have a slower disease progression (Carrington et al., 1999).

6.4. CD8+ T-cell immunodominance

Depending on the relative contribution of epitope-specific CD8+ T-cell responses to the overall magnitude of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses in a given individual, these CD8+ T-cells responses can be classified as immunodominant, co-dominant and subdominant (Streeck and Nixon, 2010, Loffredo et al., 2008, Tenzer et al., 2009, Goulder et al., 1997b). Specific immunodominant patterns of CD8+ T-cell responses have been identified during acute HIV-1 infection that are linked to a low ensuing set point suggesting that the hierarchy of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses in acute infection may be crucial for the effectiveness of the immune response (Liu et al., 2013, Streeck et al., 2009b). Indeed, individuals able to mount certain immunodominant responses in acute HIV-1 infection have been shown to on average have a lower viral set point than those who do not target those epitopes in acute HIV-1 infection (Streeck et al., 2009b, Allen et al., 2000, Liu et al., 2013). These data show that the generation of immunodominant CD8+ T-cell responses in the acute phase of infection may impact viral load set point and subsequent disease

progression. Owing to their early presentation, high immunogenicity and apparent involvement in the initial control of viremia, these early-recognized CD8+ T-cell epitopes represent key targets in vaccine development (Yu et al., 2002).

6.5. CD8+ T-cells exert selective pressure

An indicator of CD8+ T-cell immune pressure on the virus is the emergence of viral escape within targeted epitopes (Fischer et al., 2010, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Brumme et al., 2008, Liu et al., 2013, Ferrari et al., 2011). CD8+ T-cells are able to exert significant selective pressure on HIV-1 and SIV during acute and chronic infection and thus lower viral replication (Cao et al., 2003b, Borrow et al., 1997, Allen et al., 2000, Moore et al., 2002, Allen et al., 2005, Kawashima et al., 2009, Pereyra et al., 2008). In fact, after the initial CD8+ T-cell response wave, significant changes in the sequence of the virus have been observed with rapid selection of mutations occurring at discrete sites in the virus genome (Salazar-Gonzalez et al., 2009, Bernardin et al., 2005, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Liu et al., 2013). More rapid escape has been associated with the most immunodominant CD8+ T-cell response within an individual (Liu et al., 2013, Turk et al., 2013), and escape from such responses may be linked to establishment of viral set point (Henn et al., 2012).

Detailed analysis of four patients by Goonetilleke et al., 2009 showed that during acute infection HIV-1–specific T-cells rapidly select escape mutations concurrent with falling virus load and that CD8+ T-cell–mediated killing significantly contributed to the killing of productively infected cells in acute HIV-1 infection thus contributing

to the initial decline of plasma virus in acute infection. By single genome amplification they were able to detect viral evolution at sites of CD8+ T-cell pressure during peak viremia, thus clearly demonstrating that there is effective pressure being applied as it leads to a significant turnover in the replicating virus population. A mathematical model of these data postulates that 15%– 35% of infected cells can be killed by CD8+ T-cells of a single specificity per day in vivo during acute infection (Ganusov et al., 2011, Liu et al., 2013, Goonetilleke et al., 2009).

6.6. The fitness of the infecting virus

Current data convincingly demonstrate the role of CD8+ T-cells in combating HIV-1 infection and have been a driving force in strategies aimed at eliciting these responses with HIV-1 vaccines (Burton et al., 2004, Walker et al., 2009a, Hubner et al., 2009, Buchbinder et al., 2008, McElrath et al., 2008, Virgin and Walker, 2010, Hansen et al., 2011, Korber et al., 2009, Barouch et al., 2010, Stephenson et al., 2012). A major obstacle however, is CTL-mediated selection leading to viral escape, which occurs frequently in both acute/early and chronic HIV-1 infection (Boutwell et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2009, Brumme et al., 2009, Ganusov et al., 2011). Although the evasion of intrinsic immune responses through escape mutations may represent a survival benefit to the virus, the same mutations can carry associated fitness costs as evidenced by the reversion of transmitted escape mutations during acute and early HIV-1 infection (Leslie et al., 2004, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Li et al., 2007). Many of the critical escape mutations which carry an associated fitness cost have been identified in the relatively conserved Gag protein (Wright et al., 2010, Boutwell

et al., 2009, Brockman et al., 2007, Schneidewind et al., 2008), whilst CTL escape mutations in Env protein have been shown to have a neutral effect on virus fitness, suggesting a balance between immunologic escape and replicative fitness costs (Troyer et al., 2009). A number of studies have reported that in chronic HIV-1 infection, there is a correlation between in vitro HIV-1 replication capacity and plasma viremia or disease progression (Blaak et al., 1998, Brumme et al., 2007, Wright et al., 2010). Studies of HIV-1 elite controllers who are able to maintain viremia to limits below detection, have revealed the presence of replicationcompetent viruses in these individuals, however, these viruses were shown to be less fit (Blankson et al., 2007, Lassen et al., 2009, Miura et al., 2009). There is also data demonstrating that acute/early stage viruses from individuals with a slower rate of disease progression also display reduced replication capacity during the early stages of infection, suggesting that viral dynamics during acute infection may have a major impact on HIV disease progression and outcome (Miura et al., 2010, Prince et al., 2012, Brockman et al., 2010, Wright et al., 2011).

6.7. CD4+ T-cells in HIV-1 infection

The hallmark of HIV-1 infection is the depletion of CD4+ T-cells in peripheral blood, lymphoid organs and mucosal sites (Haase, 2005). Since CD4+ T-cells play a vital role in immune defences against almost all pathogens, HIV-1-infected individuals are subject to a variety of opportunistic infections (Okoye et al., 2007, Andrews and Koup, 1996, Rosenberg et al., 1997). Activated CD4+ T helper cells are the main target of HIV-1 and are killed by infection and HIV-1 induced apoptosis (Groux et al.,

1992, Musey et al., 1999). Activated CD4+ T-helper cells mediate a Th1 response by producing IL-2 and IFN-γ, cytokines essential for maintaining an effective CD8+ T-cell response (Altfeld et al., 2001, Kalams et al., 1999, Rosenberg et al., 1997, Ramduth et al., 2005). However, as a result of continuous viral replication, the CD4+ T-cell population lose the ability to produce IL-2 or to proliferate and may result in lack of viral control (Iyasere et al., 2003, Younes et al., 2003, Palmer et al., 2005).

6.8. Immune activation and HIV pathogenesis

Data from animal models and human studies show that acute HIV-1 infection is characterized by a rapid and massive depletion of CCR5+CD4+ memory T-cells and these cells account for most of the CD4+ T-cells found in the mucosal surface of the intestinal tract (Veazey et al., 2000, Brenchley et al., 2004a). The depletion of CD4+ T-cells in mucosal lymphoid tissues results in the absence of key regulatory and effector functions that CD4+ T-cells perform in controlling immune response, thus the extent of the initial damage at the mucosal surface may subsequently determine the course of infection (Brenchley et al., 2006a, Hel et al., 2006, Gupta, 1993, Pedersen et al., 1990). Loss of mucosal CD4+ T-cells may also disrupt various immune components that constitute the mucosal barrier in the gut thus causing microbial translocation into circulation and the systemic immune system resulting in enhanced T-cell activation (Catalfamo et al., 2008, Equils et al., 2001, Faure et al., 2000, Brenchley et al., 2006b, Nowroozalizadeh et al., 2010, Deeks et al., 2004). The increased levels of activation result in increased CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell turnover and death of these activated cells (Alter et al., 2004, Brenchley et al., 2006b, Douek et al., 2003, Hellerstein et al., 2003). In addition, T-cell immune activation during acute HIV-1 infection is characterized by an increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Godfried et al., 1993, Fahey et al., 1990, Miedema et al., 2013, Stacey et al., 2009, Roberts et al., 2010) which enhance HIV-1 replication and CD4+ T-cell loss by directly promoting proviral transcription, by recruiting and activating CD4+ T-cell targets for HIV-1 infection, and by inducing apoptosis of bystander T-cells (Osborn et al., 1989, Swingler et al., 1999, Katsikis et al., 2011).

7. Rationale for the study:

Evidence suggests that CD8+ T-cells play a major role in the control of HIV-1 viremia and apply significant immune pressure on HIV-1 replication. However, significant numbers of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cells responses are seen in both chronically infected rapid progressors and controllers. The presence of virus-specific CD8+ T-cells in individuals with varying levels of viral control suggests that CD8+ T-cells may differ in their antiviral function or efficacy. The mechanisms underlying differences in the control of viremia, particularly the reasons why particular individuals experience more effective primary viremia resolution are still not well understood. It is important to identify the specificity and patterns of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses and how they mediate viral control in order to accurately define the immune correlates for protection. In order to uncover some of the features of CD8+ T-cell subsets responsible for the control of HIV replication, we investigated the patterns and features of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses during acute and primary HIV-1 infection and their association with viral control. We also sought to determine the impact of acute phase immune activation on the acute HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell response and on disease progression. We hypothesized that proteinspecific and epitope-specific immunodominance patterns during the first 12 weeks of HIV-1 infection are associated with disease progression.

8. Objectives of the Study:

- 1. To characterize HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses and their immunodominance patterns during primary HIV-1 infection.
- 2. To assess the impact of early HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses on viral control and viral evolution
- 3. To assess the impact of memory CD8+ T-cell responses during primary HIV-1 clade C infection on long-term disease progression.
- 4. To characterize fluctuations of early cytokine expression and levels of T-cell immune activation in acute HIV-1 infection and the impact of these factors on the acute CD8+ T-cell response and disease progression.

Chapter 2 : Limited immunogenicity of HIV CD8+ Tcell epitopes in acute clade C virus infection

1. Abstract

Background: HIV-1-specific CD8+ responses contribute to the decline in acute peak viremia following infection. However, data on the relative immunogenicity of CD8+ T-cell epitopes during and after acute viremia are lacking.

Methods: We characterized CD8+ T-cell responses in 20 HIV-1C acutely infected, antiretroviral-naive subjects using the IFN-γ ELISPOT assay. Eleven of these had not fully seroconverted at analysis. Viruses from plasma were sequenced within defined CTL epitopes for selected subjects.

Results: At approximately 28 days after estimated initial infection, CD8+ T-cell responses were directed against an average of 3 of the 410 peptides tested (range 0-6); two individuals had no detectable responses at this time. At 18 weeks, the average number of peptides targeted had increased to 5 (range 0-11). Of 56 optimal Gag CTL epitopes sequenced, 31 were wildtype in the infecting viruses, but only 11 of 31 elicited measurable CD8+ T-cell responses.

Conclusion: These data demonstrate that the majority of CD8+ responses that subsequently arise are not elicited during acute HIV infection despite the presence of the cognate epitope in the infecting strain. There is a need to define factors that influence lack of induction of effective immune responses and the parameters that dictate immunodominance in acute infection.

2. Introduction

HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-lymphocytes have been a key focus for HIV vaccine development efforts, in part because approaches based on the development of a neutralizing antibody based vaccine have thus far failed to induce broadly cross reactive neutralizing antibodies (Walker et al., 2009a, Hubner et al., 2009, Buchbinder et al., 2008, McElrath et al., 2008, Virgin and Walker, 2010) and in part because induction of T-cell responses in animal models of AIDS virus infection impact viral set point and disease progression (Hansen et al., 2009, Bimber et al., 2009, Wilson et al., 2009).

Numerous studies in clade B infection have shown that early CD8+ T-cell responses are narrowly directed, and specific immunodominant T-cell responses detected during acute HIV-1 infection are associated with the subsequent viral set point (Yu et al., 2002, Lichterfeld et al., 2005, Altfeld et al., 2006, Streeck et al., 2009b). However, these studies have had a number of limitations. In most studies to date, although subjects have been identified prior to seroconversion, the initial assays of T-cell function have been performed following seroconversion. Studies that link CD8+ T-cell responses to seroconversion status and contemporaneous viral load are lacking, and overall there is a paucity of data on HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses for the ethnicities most ravaged by the HIV-1 pandemic and for the clades responsible in these regions.

Moreover, most studies on immune responses in acute infection have relied on identification of subjects based on symptoms of acute infection staged as days following onset of symptoms (Koup et al., 1994, Streeck et al., 2009b, Turnbull et al., 2009), whereas the evolution of antibody responses used in the Fiebig staging of acute infection were obtained from a cohort of asymptomatic blood donors (Fiebig et al., 2003) who would not have qualified for donation if they had had typical acute infection symptoms such as fever and malaise.

To address these limitations and to define the characteristics of HIV-1-specific immunity in acute HIV-1C infection, we screened persons at voluntary counseling and testing (VCT) centers testing negative by standard antibody assays for evidence of HIV RNA (Bassett et al., 2011). Subjects were enrolled after initial screening, allowing us to document the decline in viral load concurrent with the measurement of immune responses. Using the ELISPOT assay, we evaluated the breadth and magnitude of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses over the first few weeks of infection using synthetic overlapping peptides and defined HLA class I-restricted epitopes. Our data indicate that limited T-cell breadth is associated with the initial decline in viremia in acute HIV-1C infection, and that the majority of epitopes known to be targeted in the context of expressed class I molecules are not immunogenic in the earliest stages of infection.

3. Materials and methods

3.1. Study Participants

The HIV Pathogenesis Programme (HPP) Acute Infection Study is an ongoing effort to characterize acute HIV-1 subtype C infection in Durban, KwaZulu-Natal. Recruitment of subjects with acute and early HIV infection was achieved through the recruitment of subjects at 3 different sites: St. Mary's Hospital, McCord Hospital and Prince Mshiyeni. Individuals testing negative or discordant by dual commercial rapid HIV-1 tests (Bioline, Standard Diagnostics, Inc., Kyonggi-do, Korea); and Sensa (Hitech Healthcare LTC, China) were recruited for HIV-1 RNA testing. Acute HIV-1 infection was defined by a positive HIV-1 RNA test, negative HIV-1 enzyme immunoassay test (SD HIV1/2 ELISA 3.0 (Standard Diagnostics, Inc., Kyonggi, Korea)) and a negative or indeterminate Western blot (Genetic Systems, Bio-Rad, Redmond, USA). Centers for Disease Control (CDC) criteria were used for the interpretation of Western blot results such that a positive sample had at least two of the major bands (gp160, gp120, gp41 and p24), with either gp160 or gp120 present as well as gp41 or p24 (Centers for Disease, 1985). If the result did not meet these requirements but one or more bands were present; or where the band intensity was less than the weak positive control this result was classified as indeterminate. Negative results exhibited no reactive bands. We estimated the infection date as occurring 14 days prior to the first positive HIV RNA and negative HIV antibody test as previously described (van Loggerenberg et al., 2008).

A total of 42 subjects were identified, of whom 20 were enrolled. The study was approved by the Biomedical Research Ethics Committee (BREC) of the University of KwaZulu-Natal. All study participants provided written informed consent for participation in the study.

3.2. Isolation of PBMCs

Blood was collected in EDTA tubes and processed within 6 hrs of collection. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from whole blood using the Ficoll-Histopaque (Sigma, St Louis, Mo) density gradient centrifugation and used fresh in ELISPOT assays.

3.3. Viral load quantification, and CD4⁺ T-cell enumeration

HIV-1 RNA in plasma was measured using the Roche Amplicor version 1.5 or Cobas Taqman HIV-1 Test according to the manufacturer's instructions. CD4+ Tcells were enumerated using Tru-Count technology and analyzed on a four-color flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

3.4. HLA typing

DNA for HLA typing was extracted using Puregene DNA isolation kit for blood (Gentra Systems, Minneapolis, Minn.) according to the manufacturer's instructions. HLA class I typing was done by DNA PCR using sequence specific primers as previously described (Kiepiela et al., 2004). Briefly, genomic DNA samples were initially typed to an oligo-allelic level using Dynal RELITM reverse Sequence Specific Oligonucleotide (SSO) kits for the HLA-A, -B and -C loci (Dynal Biotech). Refining the genotype to the allele level was performed using the Dynal Biotech sequence-specific priming kits in conjunction with the previous SSO type.

3.5. Synthetic HIV-1 peptides

A panel of 410 peptides (18-mers overlapping by 10 amino acid residues), spanning the entire HIV-1 clade C consensus sequence together with optimal peptides with known HLA class I restriction patterns, were synthesized on an automated peptide synthesizer (MBS 396; Advanced ChemTech) and used in the ELISPOT assay (Chessman et al., 2008).

3.6. IFN-gamma ELISPOT Assay

Assessment of HIV-1-specific CD8+ responses was performed on peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) samples collected at 2-4, 4-6, 6-8, 8-12 and 12-18 weeks (14-28, 29-56, 57-84, 85-126 days) following initial viral load screening. PBMCs (50,000-100,000 cells/well) were plated in 96-well polyvinylidene plates (MAIP S45; Millipore), precoated with anti-human IFN- γ monoclonal antibody 1-D1k (0.5 µg/ml; Mabtech). Peptides were added at 2 µg/ml in a matrix (Thobakgale et al., 2007). Phytohemagglutinin (1 µg/ml) stimulation was included as a positive control, and medium alone as a negative control. Plates were incubated overnight at 37°C and 5% CO₂, then washed with phosphatebuffered saline before addition of the biotinylated anti-IFN- MAb, 7-B6-1 biotin

(Mabtech), at $0.5 \mu g/ml$ and incubation for 90 minutes. Following washing, streptavidin-conjugated alkaline phosphatase (Mabtech) was added for 45 minutes. IFN- γ -producing cells were noted by direct visualization following development with alkaline phosphatase colour reagents (Bio-Rad). A response was defined as positive when there were at least 100 spot forming cells (SFCs)/million PBMC and the total number of spots was 3 standard deviations above the negative control value. In addition to overlapping peptides, peptides corresponding to optimal HIV-1 CTL epitopes described for the individual's HLA class I type were tested at a peptide concentration of 2 $\mu g/ml$.

To verify peptides identified as positive in the peptide pool matrix, PBMCs from the same time point were stimulated with individual peptides that were common to two peptide pools in the initial ELISPOT screen. The criteria used to define positive responses in the peptide pool matrix were also used for the verification assay. In 98% of the matrix positive responses, at least one single peptide positive reaction was confirmed. The sensitivity of the matrix approach for the detection of peptide-specific T-cell responses was found to be 82% for Nef and Gag. The sensitivity was calculated by dividing the number of responses detected in the peptide matrix by the number of responses detected using individual peptides (Addo et al., 2003).

All responses at the first sampling time point were evaluated using fresh PBMC, which provide greater sensitivity in ELISPOT assays in comparison to viably frozen cells (Mooij et al., 2009). Fresh cells were also used in all but 10% of assays

performed at later time points. PBMC were frozen (90% calf serum and 10% DMSO) at -160°C until use. Cell viability was determined using a Guava automated counter (Guava Technologies, Hayward, CA) and the ELISPOT assay was performed only when PBMC viability was greater than 80%.

3.7. Gag amplification and sequencing

Viral RNA was isolated from 140µl of plasma samples using the QIAamp Viral RNA Extraction Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Viral RNA was then reverse transcribed using ThermoScript[™] RT-PCR System kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and the gene-specific primer, GagD reverse as previously described (Chopera et al., 2008). To amplify the HIV-1 gag region, a nested PCR was performed with two sets of primers, GagD forward (5'-TCT CTA GCA GTG GCG CCC G-3') and GagD reverse for the first round and GagA forward (5'-CTC TCG ACG CAG GAC TCG GCT T-3') and GagC reverse (5'-TCT TCT AAT ACT GTA TCA TCT GC-3') for the second round as previoulsy described (Chopera et al., 2008). The resulting PCR product was then purified using purification columns from Illustra™ GFX[™] PCR DNA Gel Band Purification Kit, (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK) and cloned into a PCR 2.1-TOPO vector (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Plasmid DNA was isolated from individual randomly picked white bacterial colonies (GeneJet Plasmid Mini Prep Kit; Fermentas, Vilnius, Lithuania) and were screened for the presence of the insert with the EcoRI restriction enzyme (New England BioLabs, Ipswich, MA, USA). Sequencing was done using the ABI PRISM Big Dye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction

kit version 3.4 (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). A modified NAP algorithm (Huang et al., 1996) was used to align sequences to HXB2 (Genbank Acc. No. K03455) and insertions with respect to HXB2 were stripped before further analysis.

3.8. Statistical analysis

The Mann-Whitney nonparametric analysis was used to test for significant differences between HLA groups. For assessments of the relationship between immune responses and viral load, Spearman rank correlations were used. Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism version 5.0 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego California USA).

4. Results

4.1. Viral load and CD4 counts in HIV-1 clade C acute infection

HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses have been documented in primary HIV infection; however, very little is known about the breadth and magnitude of these responses in the earliest phase of infection, prior to seroconversion. Moreover, most studies have evaluated responses well after the documented decline in viremia, such that very little data are available during documented periods of viral load decline. To begin to address these issues, we recruited persons with acute clade C HIV infection who had not yet seroconverted. Twenty such persons were identified, all of whom initially tested negative or discordant by two rapid HIV tests currently in use at Voluntary Counseling and Testing (VCT) sites in KwaZulu-Natal, and were then screened for HIV RNA in plasma. In each case, $RNA^{+}Ab^{-}$ status was confirmed by positive quantitative HIV-1 reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (PCR), negative ELISA test and a negative Western blot, and all were subsequently documented to seroconvert to HIV. The representative serological and viral profile of subjects recruited into the study is given in Table 2.1.

The characteristics of each of the recruited subjects are listed in Table 2.2. Median age at enrolment was 29 years (range 21-66) and 60% of the participants were female. Subjects were heterogeneous with respect to viral load obtained at the time of diagnosis, ranging from 28,720 to 33,200,000 RNA copies/ml plasma (median 5,572,000 RNA copies/ml). The majority of individuals in the cohort exhibited a dramatic elevation in plasma viral load before seroconversion

indicative of acute HIV and this was followed by a steady decline in viremia over the first year of infection, as well as a decline in absolute CD4+ T-cell counts (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1. Plasma HIV-1 RNA titres and CD4+ T-cell counts in primary infection. Scatter plot of (A) plasma HIV-1 RNA levels and median plasma HIV-1 RNA levels in the cohort (solid black line) from the time of seroconversion up to one year post infection; (B) individual absolute CD4+ T-cell counts and median CD4+ count (solid black line) in the cohort during acute HIV-1 infection up to one year post infection.

Variable			AS01-0703			
Days post infecion	14	26	40	54	110	138
Rapid screening or HIV-1	Negative					
EIA	Negative	Positive				
CD4+ T cell count (per mm ³)		625	782	674	640	616
gp160	-	+/-	+	+	+	
gp120	-	+/-	+	+	+	
p65	-	-	-	-	+	
p55	-	-	+	+	+	
p51	-	-	-	-	+	
gp41	-	-	-	-	+	
p40	-	-	+	+	+	
p31	-	-	-	+/-	+/-	
p24	-	-	+	+	+	
p18	-	-	+/-	+/-	+	
Interpretation of Western blot results	Negative	Indeterminate	Positive	Positive	Positive	
HIV-1 RNA copies/ml	4,560,000	119,000	140,000	66,200	365,000	166,000

Table 2.1. Typical evolution of key viral and serological markers during the first weeks following infection with HIV-1.

The initial screening was limited to obtaining a plasma sample, thus no T-cell assays were performed at this time. The viral load at enrolment, when the first ELISPOT assays were performed (on average 14 days following the initial RNA assay) was 371,000 RNA/ml (range 1,090-2,840,000) and the average CD4+ cell counts obtained at this time were 389 cells/mm³, again with a wide range from 151-691 cells/mm³. Of note, four of the 20 subjects expressed the HLA-B*58:02 allele which is associated with rapid disease progression and poor prognosis (Ngumbela et al., 2008). Surprisingly, these four subjects had a lower median plasma viral load and a higher CD4+ count when compared to the rest of the cohort not expressing this allele, with a median viral load approximately 10 fold less than the cohort as a whole (506,000 RNA copies/ml, range 112,500-4,560,000 vs 7,425,000 RNA copies/ml range 28,700-33,200,000 and median

CD4+ cell count 519 cells/mm³, range 238-691 vs. 385 cells/mm³, range 151-652 cells/mm³, respectively), however these differences did not reach statistical significance (p=0.199 and p=0.163, respectively). The two subjects with known protective alleles HLA-B*57:03 and HLA-B*58:01 had initial viral loads of 1.1M and 7.3M respectively, indicating even with these few numbers that preservoronversion viral loads in persons with protective HLA class I alleles can be in the range of the median for clade C virus infection.

Together these results indicate that a strategy based on nucleic acid testing on persons who test negative at VCT sites can identify acute HIV-1 virus infection during times of peak viremia following acute HIV infection, and these subjects can be successfully recruited for follow up studies. These data also indicate that acute HIV clade C virus infection is somewhat heterogeneous with respect to preseroconversion viral load, early CD4+ cell counts and expressed HLA class I alleles.

Participant number	Sex	Age at Enrolment	НLА Туре	*CD4+ T cell count/µl	HIV-1 RNA copies/ml	†Western Blot
AS1-703	М	54	A*2601/3004, B*4403/5802, C*0210/0602	626	4,560,000	-
AS1-876	F	29	A*2301/4301, B*1503/4403, C*0210/1800	309	1,160,000	-
AS1-919	м	58	A*2902/7400, B*3501/4201, C*0401/1700	589	6,280,000	-
AS2-016	F	28	A*2601/3002, B*1518/4201, C*1700/1800	559	31,000,000	-
AS2-110	м	23	A*0214/2902, B*4403/4403, C*0401/0701	304	634,000	-
AS2-174	м	33	A*2301/3002, B*0801/1402, C*0304/0802	359	7,390,000	-
AS2-207	м	39	A*0205/3001, B*5801/5801, C*0302/0701	246	7,460,000	-
AS2-358	F	34	A*2402/3001, B*4202/5301, C*0404/1700	242	8,560,000	-
AS2-483	м	27	A*3001/3402, B*1503/4201, C*0210/1700	390	33,200,000	-
AS2-802	F	42	A*3002/4301, B*0801/5802, C*0602/0701	411	732,265	-
AS2-945	м	26	A*2301/7400, B*1510/5703, C*0701/1601	652	1,109,915	-
AS2-973	м	66	A*3001/4301, B*4201/4201, C*1700/1700	151	10,000,000	-
AS2-1037	F	43	A*03/3402, B*1503/1510, C*0210/0304	418	12,133,226	-
AS3-017	F	34	A*2301/2601, B*3910/8100, C*0401/1501	245	22,000,000	-
AS3-268	F	21	A*2902/8001, B*1503/1801, C*0202/0210	416	8,640,000	-
AS3-369	F	28	A*6602/6802, B*1510/4403, C*0304/0701	432	3,180,000	-
AS3-458	F	25	A*2902/3402, B*4403/5802, C*0401/0602	691	280,000	-
AS3-513	F	25	A*2601/6601, B*1510/5802, C*0304/0602	238	112,448	-
AS3-740	F	26	A*0205/3402, B*1510/4403, C*0401/05	387	28,716	-
AS3-759	F	21	A*0101/7400, B*3501/8100, C*0401/1800	382	4,864,320	-
Median		28.5		389	5,572,160	

Table 2.2: Demographic and clinical characteristics of enrolled subjects.

*CD4+ cell counts were not performed at screening; the values given are for 2-4 w post screening

† CDC criteria followed for the interpretation of Western Blot results

4.2. HIV-1 -specific CD8+ T-cell responses prior to and following seroconversion

Although studies of acute HIV infection have assessed CD8+ T-cell responses in persons identified prior to seroconversion, there are some important caveats: most of initial assays were performed post-seroconversion, and/or with cryopreserved samples (Altfeld et al., 2001, Alter et al., 2002, Koup et al., 1994). Moreover, few have assessed responses to all expressed viral proteins (Altfeld et al., 2001, Streeck et al., 2009b, Alter et al., 2002, Blankson, 2009). To address these gaps in knowledge, we performed a detailed analysis of CD8+ T-cell responses to all expressed HIV proteins using fresh PBMCs obtained prior to antibody seroconversion. Since only plasma was obtained during initial

screening, these assays were limited to the 11 subjects for whom subsequent samples were available prior to seroconversion (Table 2.3). All 11 subjects were Fiebig stage IV or earlier.

Table 2.3. Viral load characteristics and antibody pattern against HIV-1 western blot in 11 individuals who had not fully seroconverted when HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses to peptides spanning the entire HIV proteome were evaluated at ~28 days post the estimated time of infection.

Participant number	Screening VL (RNA copies/ml)	Enrollment VL (days after screening)	WB bands at enrollment	Fiebig stage	
AS1-703	4 560 000	119,000 (14)	p24, p40, p55/51	IV	
AS1-919	6 280 000	484,000 (15)	p24, p40	IV	
AS2-174	7 390 000	330,000 (21)	p18, p24	IV	
AS2-802	732 260	138,300 (15)	p18, p24, p40	IV	
AS2-945	1 100 000	1,872 (32)	p24, p40, p55/51	IV	
AS2-973	10 000 000	66,530 (15)	p24	IV	
AS2-1037	12 100 000	708,000 (23)	p24, p40, p55/51	IV	
AS3-017	22 000 000	2,840,000 (14)	0	11/111	
AS3-458	280 000	1,650,000 (14)	p24, p55/51	IV	
AS3-513	112 448	1,967,000 (14)	p24	IV	
AS3-740	28 716	3,493 (22)	p24, p40, p55/51	IV	
HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses were detected in 9 of the 11 subjects but were narrowly directed in each case (Table 2.4). The overlapping peptides targeted as well as their sequences are listed in Table 2.5. Two subjects with no detectable responses had each experienced an approximate 50-100 fold drop in viremia at the time of testing; both made detectable responses at later time points. Although the two most frequently recognized proteins at the earliest time point were Nef (peptides #69 to #84) and Gag (peptides #4 to #65), targeted by 50% and 36% of the subjects respectively, there was great heterogeneity among subjects with respect to the specificity of the initial responses. Moreover, among those with detectable responses, there were dramatic differences in magnitude, with total detectable epitope-specific responses ranging from as high as 4,000 SFC/million PBMC detected to as low as 100 SFC/million PBMC.

HIV-1-specific responses were subsequently tested longitudinally in these individuals up to 18 weeks (Table 2.4). At this time, responses were detectable in 10 of the 11 subjects, albeit at different magnitudes, and both subjects who initially tested negative (AS2-0945 and AS2-0973) now had detectable responses. Of the nine with initially positive responses, at least one of these responses was still detected in eight subjects at the later time point. There were only two subjects in whom the initial breadth of responses declined at the follow-up time point. Of the nine subjects in whom an initial immunodominant response was detected, this response was still present at follow-up weeks later in seven. However, there was no consistent pattern in terms of specificity, magnitude or evolution of responses in these individuals. These results indicate that the initial responses largely persist, and that those with no initial responses were able to

mount immune responses subsequently.

Participant number	Peptides targeted at enrollment	Dominant response (SFC/million)	Total magnitude of responses (SFC/million)	Peptides targeted at 12-18 weeks	Total magnitude of responses (SFC/million)
AS1-703	Nef-81, Nef-83	Nef-83 (490)	850	#81	500
AS1-919	Nef-83, Nef-202, Nef-203	Nef-83 (280)	740	None	0
AS2-174	gp41-366	gp41-366 (700)	700	#25, #35, #36, #41, #65, #69, #231, #366	11240
AS2-802	Nef-82, Nef-83, gp120-289, gp120- 294	gp120-294 (4000)	5710	#11, #35, #36, #44, #64, #65, #82, #83, #294	2740
AS2-945	None	None	0	#20, #22, #33, #84, #181	6390
AS2-973	None	None	0	#275, #294, #407	780
AS2-1037	Gag-41, Rev-100	Rev-100 (580)	720	#40, #41, #46, #76, #100, #101, #116, #411	5610
AS3-017	Gag-16, Gag-40, Nef- 76, Tat-115	Gag-16 (1020)	2700	#40	1320
AS3-458	gp120-316	gp120-316 (420)	420	#42, #157, #194, #225, #252, #316	1990
AS3-513	Gag-41	Gag-41 (200)	200	#4, #40, #41	920
AS3-740	Gag-41, Nef-78, Nef- 81, Nef-83	Nef-78 (700)	2280	#41, #78, #81, #83	1120

Table 2.4. Dynamics of HIV-CD8+ T-cell responses to peptides spanning the entire HIV proteome

and viral load kinetics in individuals not fully seroconverted at ~28 days post the estimated time of infection.

4.3. Evolution of CD8+ T-cell responses following acute HIV infection

To further characterize the evolution of CD8+ T-cell responses following acute HIV-1 infection, we performed a longitudinal analysis in all 20 subjects. The magnitude of responses at approximately 4 weeks after the estimated date of infection ranged from 150-8,770 SFC/million PBMC. There was a 15-fold decline in viral loads from the initial screening value, CD8+ T-cell responses were directed against an average of 3 peptides (range 0–6) and the most targeted protein was Nef followed by Pol and Gag (Figure 2.2). At 18 weeks, the total magnitude of responses ranged from 500-11,240 SFC/mill PBMC and the average number of peptides targeted was 5 (range 0-11). The overlapping peptides targeted as well as their sequences are listed in Table 2.5.

At 6-8 weeks post the estimated date of infection, our analyses for all 20 subjects revealed that there was a significant positive correlation between the magnitude of Nef CD8+ T-cell responses and plasma viremia (P=0.003). Plotting the magnitude of virus-specific T-cell responses targeting other HIV-1 proteins against plasma viral load over time revealed that the kinetics of expansion and contraction of T-cell responses in the subjects did not correlate with their viral load dynamics. In subjects sampled prior to the documented peak in plasma viremia (AS3-458 and AS3-513), the magnitude of T-cell responses were found to be lower during peak viremia with an increase thereafter. Likewise, in all other subjects, the higher enrolment plasma viremia was not accompanied by a higher T-cell response; instead, the breadth and magnitude of responses increased following the decline in viremia.

^a Peptide number	Protein	OLP sequence	^a Peptide number	Protein	OLP sequence		
#3	Gag	EKIRLRPGGKKHYMLKHL	#115	Tat	YHCLVCFQTKGLGISYGR		
#4	Gag	GKKHYMLKHLVWASREL	#116	Tat	TKGLGISYGRKKRRQRRS		
#5	Gag	KHLVWASRELERFAL	#117	Tat	GRKKRRQRRSAPPSSEDH		
#7	Gag	ERFALNPGLLETSEGCK	#125	Vpu	LIVALIIAIVVWTIAYIEY		
#11	Gag	TGTEELRSLYNTVATLY	#151	Pro	GAERQGTLNFPQITLW		
#12	Gag	SLYNTVATLYCVHAGIEV	#157	Pro	DDTVLEEINLPGKWKPKM		
#13	Gag	LYCVHAGIEVRDTKEAL	#181	RT	LDVGDAYFSVPLDEDFRK		
#16	Gag	NKSQQKTQQKAAADKGKV	#194	RT	KIEELREHLLKWGFTTPDK		
#18	Gag	GKVSQNYPIVQNLQGQMV	#202	RT	SKLNWASQIYPGIKVRQL		
#20	Gag	QMVHQAISPRTLNAWVKV	#203	RT	IYPGIKVRQLCKLLRGAK		
#21	Gag	PRTLNAWVKVIEEKAF	#209	RT	YYDPSKDLIAEIQKQGHDQW		
#22	Gag	WVKVIEEKAFSPEVIPMF	#216	RT	QKIAMESIVIWGKTPKFR		
#25	Gag	GATPQDLNTMLNTVGGH	#218	RT	FRLPIQKETWETWWTDYW		
#33	Gag	SDIAGTTSTLQEQIAWM	#224	RT	GAETFYVDGAANRETKI		
#34	Gag	STLQEQIAWMTSNPPVPV	#225	RT	DGAANRETKIGKAGYV		
#35	Gag	WMTSNPPVPVGDIYKRWI	#226	RT	ETKIGKAGYVTDRGRQKI		
#36	Gag	PVGDIYKRWIILGLNKIV	#228	RT	VSLTETTNQKTELQAIQL		
#40	Gag	GPKEPFRDYVDRFFKTLR	#229	RT	QKTELQAIQLALQDSGSEV		
#41	Gag	YVDRFFKTLRAEQATQDV	#231	RT	EVNIVTDSQYALGII		
#42	Gag	LRAEQATQDVKNWMTDTL	#234	RT	AQPDKSESELVNQIIEQL		
#44	Gag	MTDTLLVQNANPDCKTIL	#240	RT	SSGIRKVLFLDGIDKA		
#46	Gag	TILRALGPGASLEEMMTA	#252	Int	GYIEAEVIPAETGQETAY		
#54	Gag	CFNCGKEGHIARNCRAPR	#258	Int	VKAACWWAGIQQEFGIPY		
#64	Gag	RFEETTPAPKQEPKDREPL	#262	Int	GIQQEFGIPYNPQSQGVV		
#65	Gag	PKQEPKDREPLTSLK	#265	Int	AVFIHNFKRKGGIGGYSA		
#66	Gag	KDREPLTSLKSLFGSDPLSQ	#275	Int	KVVPRRKAKIIKDYGKQM		
#69	Nef	WPAIRERMRRTEPAAEGV	#276	Int	KIIKDYGKQMAGADCVA		
#75	Nef	WLRAQEEEEEVGFPVRPQV	#279	Vpr	GPQREPYNEWTLELLEEL		
#76	Nef	EVGFPVRPQVPLRPMTFK	#281	Vpr	ELKQEAVRHFPRPWLHGL		
#77	Nef	QVPLRPMTFKGAFDLSFF	#287	Vpr	HFRIGCQHSRIGILRQRR		
#78	Nef	FKGAFDLSFFLKEKGGL	#289	gp120	MRVMGIQRNCQQWWRW		
#80	Nef	GLEGLIYSKKRQEILDLW	#294	gp120	TVYYGVPVWKEAKTTLF		
#81	Nef	KKRQEILDLWVYHTQGYF	#316	gp120	KVSFDPIPIHYCAPAGYA		
#82	Nef	LWVYHTQGYFPDWQNY	#325	gp120	IRSENLTNNAKTIIVHL		
#83	Nef	QGYFPDWQNYTPGPGVRY	#347	gp120	AGNITCKSNITGLLLTR		
#84	Nef	NYTPGPGVRYPLTFGWCF	#348	gp120	SNITGLLLTRDGDTTTNT		
#85	Nef	RYPLTFGWCFKLVPV	#366	gp41	RVLAIERYLKDQQLLGIW		
#95	Rev	DEALLQAVRIIKILY	#405	Vif	VKHHMYVSRRANGWFYRH		
#96	Rev	QAVRIIKILYQSNPY	#408	Vif	HPKVSSEVHIPLGEARLV		
#100	Rev	RWRARQRQIHSISERIL	#409	Vif	HIPLGEARLVIKTYWGL		
#101	Rev	QIHSISERILSTCLGRPA	#411	Vif	LQTGERDWHLGHGVSIEW		
#102	Rev	ILSTCLGRPAEPVPLQL	#413	Vif	VSIEWRLRRYSTQVDPGL		
#103	Rev	RPAEPVPLQLPPIERL	#414	Vif	RYSTQVDPGLADQLIHMH		
#111	Tat	MEPVDPNLEPWNHPGSQPK					

Table 2.5. Overlapping peptides targeted in the cohort between 4-18 weeks post infection.

^a**Peptides are numbered sequentially, as follows:** Gag peptides 1 to 66; Nef peptides 67-93; Rev peptides 94-107; Tat peptides 111-122; Vpu peptides 123-131; Protease peptides 145-164; RT peptides 165-240; Intergrase peptides 241-277; Vpr peptides 278-288; gp120 peptides 289-355; gp41 peptides 356-401; Vif peptides 402-425.



Number of weeks post infection

Figure 2.2. Average magnitude of HIV-1 specific CD8+ T-cell responses in early infection for all participants. The magnitude of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses to overlapping HIV peptides spanning each of the designated proteins are shown on the *y* axis as SFC/million PBMCs and the *x* axis denotes when the assays were done (number of days post the estimated time of infection). Solid lines represent IFN-y release in response to HIV-1 CD8+ T-cell peptides, and the dashed line represents viral load dynamics.

4.4. Limited breadth of HIV-1-specific T-cell epitopes in primary infection

The above analyses determined HIV-1–specific CD8+ T-cell responses using overlapping peptides, thus did not define the actual targeted epitopes within those peptides. To delineate the precise regions being targeted, a subset of peptides corresponding to previously described epitopes for each person's respective HLA class I allotypes were used (Table 2.6) (Brander and Goulder, 2000). The analyses were restricted to HLA class I alleles that were expressed in at least three participants, and for which at least three optimal CD8+ T-cell epitopes had been described and could be tested against the subjects' PBMC. The frequencies of these qualifying HLA class I alleles expressed in the study cohort, as well as the number of epitopes tested for each HLA allele and the percentage of individuals with detectable CD8+ T-cell responses to the tested epitopic peptides restricted by the designated allele, are listed in Table 2.7. The majority of HIV-1 clade C epitopes that have been described in chronic HIV infection were not targeted in these early stages of infection, indicating that there are marked differences in the inductive phase of the immune response that must depend on the epitope rather than the restricting HLA allele.

Class 1	Class 1	Peptide	Peptide	Class 1	Class 1	Peptide	Peptide
family	allele	Identification ^a	Sequence	family	allele	identification ^a	sequence
HLA-A	HLA-A23	A23-HW9 (p17)	HYMLKHLVW	HLA-B	B7/42/81	B7/42/81-SV9 (p24)	SPRTLNAWV
		A23-RW8 (Nef)	RYPLTFGW			B7/42/81-TL9 (p24)	TPQDLNTML
		A23-IL9 (RT)	IYQEPFKNL			B7/42/81-HA9 (p24)	HPVHAGPIA
		A23-VW8 (gp120)	VYYGVPVW			B7/42/81-GL9 (p24)	GPSHKARVL
		A23-LY10 (gp120)	LFCASDAKAY			B7/42/81-FL9 (Nef)	FPVRPQVPL
		A23-RL9 (gp41)	RYLKDQQLL			B7/42/81-RM9 (Nef)	RPQVPLRPM
		A23-KY9 (gp120)	KYLGSLVQY			B7/42/81-RGF9 (Nef)	RPMTFKGAF
		A23-NL10 (gp120)	NYTNTIYRLL			B7/42/81-TL10 (Nef)	TPGPGVRYPL
		A11-IN8 (RT)	IYQEPFKN			B7/42/81-SM9 (RT)	SPAIFQSSM
	HLA-A26	A26-EL9 (p24)	EVIPMFTAL			B7/42/81-FL9 (Vpr)	FPRPWLHGL
		A26-ER11 (RT)	ETFYVDGAANR			B7/42/81-RI10 (gp120)	RPNNNTRKSI
		A26-EY13 (Int)	EVIPAETGQETAY			B7/42/81-IA9 (gp41)	IPRRQGFEA
	HLA-A29	A29-YY8 (Nef)	YFPDWQNY			B7/42/81-HI10 (Vif)	HKRVSSEVHI
		A29-RY11 (p17)	RSLYNTVATLY			B7/42/81-LI9 (Int)	LPPIVAKEI
		A29-QY9 (RT)	QLIKKERVY			B7/42/81-TL11 (Pro)	TPVNIIGRNML
		A29-SY9 (gp160)	SFDPIPIHY			B7/42/81-YL9 (RT)	YPGIKVKQL
		A29-SY10 (gp120)	SFNCRGEFFY			B7/42/81-RL10 (Rev)	RPAEPVPLQL
		A29-RW10 (p15)	RQANFLGKIW			B7/42/81-RLY10 (p17)	RLRPGGKKHY
		A29-FY9 (gp120)	FNCRGEFFY			B81/42/81-SL10 (RT)	SPIETVPVKL
		A 29 LY9 (p17)	LYNTVATLY			B7/42/81-VM9 (RT)	VPVKLKPGM
_		A11-IN8 (RT)	IYQEPFKN			B7/42/81-VL9 (RT)	VASCDKCQL
	HLA-A30	A3002-RLY10 (p17)	RLRPGGKKHY			B//42/81-RQL11 (RT)	RPPLVKLWYQL
		A3002-RY11 (p17)	RSLYNTVATLY			B7/42/81-TM10 (Pro)	IPVNIIGRNM
		A3002-AY11 (RT)	AQINPEIVIYQY			B7/42/81-KL9 (VIT)	KPKKIKPPL
		A3002-KLY9 (RT)	KLINWASQIY			B7/42/81-TLTT (Pro)	
		A3002-KIY9 (Int)	RIQNERVIY			B//42/81-GL9 (RT)	GPKVKQWPL
		A3002-R19 (gp41)	KIGPGQTFT		TLA-DO	B8-GL8 (p17)	
		A30-KQ19 (gp43) A30-KCV9 (gp41)	KYCWNILLOV			B8-D18 (p17)	
		A3002-SW(11 (n17)				B8-DI9 (p24)	
		$\Delta 3002 - 819 (n17)$	REALNEGU			B8-W/M8 (Nef)	WPAIRERM
		A3002-KV10 (p24)	KNWMTDTLLV			B8-FL8 (Nef)	FLKEKGGL
		A30-YY8 (Nef)	YEPDWONY			B8-GL9 (RT)	GPKVKOWPI
		A3002-AF8 (p17)	ASRELERF			B8-YL8 (gp41)	YLKDQQLL
		A3002-RY10 (RT)	RAQNPEIVIY			B8-EL8 (p15)	EPKDREPL
	HLA-A43	A43-TK10 (gp120)	TVYYGVPVWK			B8-VI8 (RT)	VPRRKAKI
		A43-GF13 (gp120)	GVPVWKEAKTTLF			B8-NL11 (p24)	NPDCKTILRAL
		A43 PF11 (Env))	PVWKEAKTTLF			B8-MK15 (p24)	MTDTLLVQNANPD
		A43 VL11 (Env)	VWKEAKTTL			B8-LL13 (p24)	LVQNANPDCKTIL
	HLA-A68	A6801-RK9 (RT)	RTAHTNDVK		HLA-B15	B1503-FY10 (Tat)	FQTKGLGISY
		A6801-FK8 (Vif)	FADSAIRK			B1503-FY10 (Int)	FKRKGGIGGY
		A6801-DA8 (p24)	DTINEEAA			B1503-VF9 (p24)	VKVIEEKAF
		A6801 NK10 (Pol)	NTPVFAIKKK			B1503-IY9 (RT)	IQQEFGIPY
		A6801 PK8 (Pol)	PAGLKKKK			B1503-RY9 (RT)	RKAKIIKDY
		A6801 YR8 (Pol)	YVDGAANR			B1503-GL9 (RT)	GKKAIGTVL
		A6801 ER10 (Vif)	EVHIPLGEAR			B1510-RL9 (p17)	RFALNPGLL
		A6802-DV9 (RT)	DVKQLTEAV			B1510-VL10 (p24)	VHQAISPRTL
		A6802-IV9 (RT)	ITLWQRPLV			B1510-GL9 (p24)	GHQAAMQML
_		A6802-DL9 (RT)	DTVLEEINL			B1510-WI9 (Vif)	WHLGHGVSI
		A6802-EV10 (Vpr)	ETYGDTWTGV			B1510-KL10 (p1/)	KHLVWASREL
_		A6802-IL9 (gp41)	IAARAVELL			B1510-GI9 (p17)	GKVSQNYPI
		A6802-EL9 (Int)	ETAYFILKL			B1510-IL9 (Rev)	IHSISERIL
		A6802-VV8 (p17)	VSQNYPIV			B1510- FIL9 (RT)	THLEGKIL
		A6802-SA9 (p24	STLQEQIA			B1510-VL9 (RT)	VASCDKCQL
		A6802-GA10 (RT)	GAETFYVDGA			B1510-RI11 (Vit)	KHPKVSSEVHI
		A6802-PA9 (Int)	PAETGQETA			B1510-GL11 (Rev)	GRPAEPVPLQL
		A6802-EA10 (Int)	E IAYFILKLA			B1510-KL9 (POI)	KHQKEPPFL
		A6802-EQA10 (RT)	ETWWIDYWQA			PT2T0-KF8 (b1)	KHTIVILKHL
		ADOUZ-EA9 (KI)	EIFYVDGAA				

Table 2.6. Optimal CD8+ T-cell peptides corresponding to defined epitopes for the HLA class-I alles represented in the cohort.

Table 2.6 continued....

lass 1 family	Class 1 allele	Peptide identification ^a	Peptide sequence
HLA-B	HLA-B44	B44-SL9 (p24)	SEGATPQDL
		B44-RL11 (p24)	RDYVDRFFKTL
		B44-AW11 (p24)	AEQATQDVKNW
		B44-GV11 (Nef)	GEVGFPVRPQV
		B44-MY9 (gp120)	MGNLWVTVY
		B44-AA9 (RT)	AETFYVDGA
		B44-II10 (p24)	IEEKAFSPEVI
		B44-SY11 (RT)	SEVNIVTDSQY
		B44-IW11 (RT)	IEELREHLLKW
		B44-QW11 (RT)	QEEHEKYHSNW
		B44-GL10 (p24)	GDIYKRWIIL
		B44-GL9 (p24)	GDIYKRWII
		B44 IV10 (p24)	IEEKAFSPEV
	HLA-B57	B57-WF9 (p17)	WASRELERF
		B57-ISW9 (p24)	ISPRTLNAW
		B57-KF11 (p24)	KAESPEVIPME
		B57-DW10 (p24)	
		B57-TW10 (p24)	
		B57-OW/9 (p24)	
		B57-HWQ (Nof)	
		B57-IAVV9 (RT)	
		B57-SW10 (Int)	SAAVKAACWW
		B57-KF9 (Int)	KIAVQIVIAVE
		B57-AW9 (Vpr)	AVRHEPRPW
		B57-KW11 (Env)	KAYETEVHNVW
		B57-VF9 (Vit)	VSRRANGWF
		B57-KAF9 (Net)	KAAFDLSFF
		B57-AF10 (RT)	QATWIPEWEF
		B57-FF9 (RT)	FSVPLDEDF
		B57-EY9 (RT)	ETKIGKAGY
		B57-KI13 (RT)	KAGYVTDRGRQKI
		B5802-QL11 (gp120)	QTRVLAIERYL
		B57-LW9 (Vif)	LGHGVSIEW
		B57-TWS10 (gp41)	TTAVPWNSSW
		B57-LL9 (RT)	LGIPHPAGL
		B57-FW11 (RT)	FAIKKKDSTKW
		B57 KR10 (Pol)	KAGYVTDRGR
		B57 VI9 (Pol)	VTDRGRQKI
HLA-Cw	HLA-Cw4	Cw4-QW9(p24)	QATQDVKNW
		Cw4-SF9 (gp120)	SFNCRGEFF
		Cw4-YY8(Nef)	YFPDWQNY
		Cw4-WM13 (gp41)	WSNKSQEEIWDNM
		Cw4-EW11 (gp41)	EIWDNMTWMQW
		Cw4-KY12 (RT)	KKSVTVLDVDAY
		Cw4-IW10 (Env)	IWDNMTWMQW
		Cw4-TF10 (RT)	TVLDVDAYF
		Cw4-IY11 (gp120)	IPIHYCAPAGY
	HLA-Cw6	Cw6-LR10 (RT)	LKTGKYAKMR
		Cw6-KK11 (RT)	KMRTAHTNDVK
		Cw6-II13 (gp120)	IRSENLTNNAKTI
		CW6-LL12 (gp120)	LTNNAKTIIVHL
		Cw06-MV9 (RT)	MRTAHTNDV
		Cw06-AL8 (gn120)	AKTIIVHI
		CW0602-KR9 (Pol)	KTGKYAKMR
	HIA-Cw17	Cw1701-HI 10 (Vpu)	
		Cw1701-TL11 (PT)	
		$C_{W1701-D10}(R_{OV})$	
		$C_{W1701-FL3}(ReV)$	
			E D D D E F F

^aPeptide identification provides the restricting HLA Class I allele, the first and last amino acid of the respective epitope, the length of the epitope, and the HIV-1 protein containing the epitope.

HLA Class I Allele	Frequency (%)	Epitopes Ta Epitopes T	argeted / ested at:	Subjects (%) with Responses at:		
		6-8 w	12-18 w	6-8 w	12-18 w	
A23	21	3/9	5/9	40	60	
A26	17	1/3	1/3	25	50	
A29	25	4/9	5/9	60	67	
A30	38	5/14	8/14	75	63	
B1503	25	4/6	6/6	100	100	
B1510	21	6/11	7/11	100	100	
B42	29	8/26	13/26	100	100	
B44	33	4/13	4/13	100	67	
B58	21	3/27	5/27	20	67	
Cw4	25	4/9	2/9	67	50	
Cw6	21	1/7	2/7	20	40	
Cw17	25	1/5	1/5	17	25	
Median Values	25	4/9 (44%)	5/9 (56%)	63	65	

 Table 2.7.
 HLA frequencies in study cohort and the percentage of subjects with responses against peptides associated with individual HLA expression.

To further define these relationships, we assessed the persistence of early epitope-specific immune responses for the most frequently targeted early epitopes (Figure 2.3). For five of the seven epitopes tested, there was a decrease over time in the targeting of these epitopes in persons expressing the restricting HLA allele, but the immunodominance patterns of CD8+ T-cells remained unchanged in the individuals with detectable responses. There was no shift in the immunodominance hierarchy in HLA-B*1503 restricted responses measured at 6-8 and 8-12 weeks against the HLA-B*1503-restricted epitopes RT(Int)-FY10 and p24-IY9, and the epitopes were found to be immunodominant and subdominant, respectively.



Figure 2.3. Immunodominance patterns of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses restricted by individual HLA class I alleles at 4-6 weeks and 12-18 weeks post the estimated time of infection. The percentage of participants expressing the respective allele that had detectable peptide-specific CD8+ T-cell responses is shown on the *y* axis. HLA-restricted HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell epitopes are aligned on the *x* axis and their location on the major HIV-1 proteins is also indicated. Data are shown only for HLA class I alleles that were expressed in at least three individuals, and for which at least three HIV-1-specific optimal CD8+ T-cell epitopes had been defined.

Similarly, CD8+ T-cell responses against the HLA-B*44-restricted epitope p24-AW11 the HLA-B*1510 restricted and epitope Rev-IL9 remained immunodominant during the earliest and latest tested time points in individuals expressing these respective alleles. However, there was a shift in the hierarchy of responses in individuals expressing the HLA-A*30 where the initially immunodominant RT-AY11 epitope later became subdominant and CD8+ T-cell responses against the initially subdominant Int-KIY9 epitope became immunodominant (Figure 2.3). Overall, these data demonstrate the immunodominance patterns of specific epitopes during acute infection are persistent for the majority of HLA class I alleles which could be assessed, but that many class I alleles are infrequently utilized in early infection, and many potentially immunogenic epitopes are not targeted.

4.5. Effect of sequence variation on recognition by specific CTL

Others (Turnbull et al., 2009) and we (Altfeld et al., 2003) have shown that up to 30% of early responses may be missed when using peptides representing a reference strain of virus. We therefore sequenced plasma virus to determine if lack of CD8+ recognition related to lack of expression of the cognate epitope. We focused these efforts on the gag region, as targeting of Gag has been associated with lower viral loads (Kiepiela et al., 2007). Plasma virus sequencing revealed that of the 56 epitope sequences evaluated, 31 were wild-type virus sequences; however, these did not elicit detectable CD8+ T-cell responses in 20 of 31 (65%) of cases (Table 2.8). In the two subjects in whom we failed to detect any CD8+ T-cell responses prior to seroconversion (Table 2.4; AS2-945 and AS2-973), both were infected with viruses that contained epitopes present in the reference set of peptides used in the assays. These data indicate that despite expression of the restricting HLA class I allele and the presence of cognate viral sequence, CD8+ responses to the virus were often not mounted, suggesting that the immunogenicity of these epitopes is suboptimal, and that factors other than IFN-gamma expressing CD8+ T-cells may be involved in the initial decline in viremia.

Participant Number	HLA Type	HLA Restricted Epitope	CD8+ T cell Response
		EVIPMFTAL	
AS2-0016	A26	•••••	-
AS3-0017		•••••	+
AS1-0703		.I	-
AS3-0513		•••••	-
		RSLYNTVATLY	
AS3-0268	A29	KF	+
AS3-0458		I	-
AS1-0919		KF	-
AS1-0323		KF	-
AS2-0184		KFC	-
AS2-0110		KV	-
		RLRPGGKKHY	
AS2-0802	A30	Q.	-
AS2-0050		•••••	+
AS2-0973		•••••	-
AS2-0483		Q.	-
AS2-0358		R.	-
AS2-0016		C.	+
AS1-0703			-
AS2-0174		KQ.	-
		RSLYNTVATLY	
AS2-0802	A30		+
AS2-0050			-
AS2-0973		KI	-
AS2-0483		K	-
AS2-0358		F	-
AS2-0016		F	-
AS1-0703		F	-
AS2-0174		•••••	-
		VKVIEEKAF	
AS2-1037	B1503		-
AS1-0876			-
AS3-0268			+
AS2-0483		G.	-
AS2-0341		G.	-
AS2-0050			+

Table 2.8. Sequence analysis of autologous virus Gag epitopes at 6-8 weeks post infection.

Table 2.8. continued.

Participant Number	HLA Type	HLA Restricted Epitope	CD8+ T cell Response
		VHQAISPRTL	
AS2-0945	B1510	•••••	-
AS3-0369		•••••	-
AS2-1037		•••••	+
AS3-0513		•••••	-
		GHQAAMQML	
AS2-0945	B1510		-
AS3-0369			-
AS2-1037			-
AS3-0513		I.	+
		EQATQDVKNW	
AS1-0703	B44	•••••	+
AS3-0458		•••••	+
AS2-0184		•••••	+
AS3-0369		S	+
AS1-0876		GE	-
		SEGATPQDL	
AS1-0703	B44		-
AS3-0458			-
AS2-0184		T	-
AS3-0369		•••••	-
AS1-0876		•••••	+
		RDYVDRFFKTL	
AS2-0110	B44	•••••	-
AS1-0703		R	-
AS3-0458		R	-
AS2-0184		•••••	+
AS3-0369		•••••	-
AS1-0876		• • • • • • • • • • •	-

5. Discussion

Despite the dominance of HIV-1 subtype C worldwide, the evolution of virologic and immunologic parameters in acute HIV-1C infection have not been extensively characterized. By RNA screening of persons testing negative by standard antibody assays, we were able to recruit 20 subjects before seroconversion, and characterize viral kinetics and evolving HIV-specific CD8+ Tcell responses during acute infection. Despite high viremia, responses were narrowly directed, and the majority of epitopes targeted in chronic infection (Kiepiela et al., 2007) did not induce detectable responses during the rapid decline of viremia. Although the ELISPOT assay can underestimate the true magnitude of T-cell responses (Sun et al., 2003, Turnbull et al., 2009, Goonetilleke et al., 2009) and autologous virus sequences can differ from the reference strains used, HIV-1-specific CD8+ responses ultimately arose in these persons, indicating that many immunogenic epitopes are not targeted in the earliest stages of infection, at a time when viral load is rapidly declining.

Longitudinal assays for responses during and following acute infection allowed us to address not only the specificity of responses but also their persistence. In the entire cohort, responses to Nef-derived peptides were dominant in the earliest stages of infection, consistent with other data (Blankson, 2009, Celum et al., 2010, Harari et al., 2009). However, only approximately half of the individuals tested targeted Nef in the early stages, although 82% targeted this protein at some time during the average 5 months of follow up (data not shown), again

suggesting impaired induction of responses in acute infection. A trend was observed where high T-cell responses against the Nef proteins correlated positively with high viral loads, as has been reported in other studies (Lichterfeld et al., 2004b, Blankson, 2009, Novitsky et al., 2003, Masemola et al., 2004a, Masemola et al., 2004b), suggesting that these responses are driven by level of antigenemia, rather than they being causal in lowering viral load, again suggesting impaired functional CD8+ T-cell responses in the earliest stages of acute infection. However, there was no correlation between the magnitude and breadth of CD8+ T-cell responses for other viral proteins and the concurrent plasma viral load, consistent with other reports (Addo et al., 2003, Betts et al., 2001, Cao et al., 2003a).

By assessing responses using peptides representing optimal epitopes, we were able to assess the hierarchy in the development of epitope-specific CD8+ T-cell responses restricted by specific HLA alleles, their immunodominance patterns, and the timing of induction of these responses. Within a month of the estimated time of infection, CD8+ T-cell responses were detected against 44% of peptide epitopes matched for each subjects' HLA and against 56% of the epitopes presented by their expressed alleles at 3 months. These data confirmed that the detectable responses in early infection are largely maintained, although immunodominance often shifts. Further investigation is required to determine whether the changes in the magnitude of responses and immunodominance are the result of sequence evolution within targeted epitopes or their flanking

regions (Altfeld et al., 2006), immunoregulation (Day et al., 2006, Trautmann et al., 2006, Petrovas et al., 2006, Kaufmann et al., 2007), or other mechanisms.

6. Conclusion

We demonstrate that HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses can be detected before complete seroconversion, but many of the epitopes that elicit responses in chronic infection are not immunogenic during acute infection. We also confirm previous studies showing that the initial HIV-1 specific immune responses are narrowly directed, and extend these by showing the paucity of responses even when dramatic drops in viremia have occurred. Moreover, although response breadth and magnitude expands with duration of infection, a significant proportion of individuals are still unable to make responses despite the presence of cognate peptides restricted by the corresponding HLA allele. Further studies are needed to address why recognition of HIV-1 peptides appears to be selective during acute infection as the lack of recognition may contribute to the failure to control viremia to a low set point. Moreover the paucity of responses during the dramatic reduction in viremia suggests that tissue specific responses as well as measures of CD8+ T-cell function other than IFN-gamma should be examined to better define the role of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cells in the initial decline in viremia. Further studies are needed to understand the determinants and role of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses in high burden settings where an effective HIV-1 vaccine is urgently needed.

Chapter 3 : Progressive broadening of HIV-1 Gagspecific CD8+ T-cell responses is associated with viral control despite limited immunogenicity and infrequent immune escape in early HIV-1 infection

1. Abstract

Background: We characterized protein-specific CD8+ T-cell immunodominance patterns during the first year of HIV-1 infection, and their impact on viral evolution and immune control.

Methods: We analyzed CD8+ T-cell responses to the full HIV-1 proteome during the first year of infection in eighteen antiretroviral-naïve individuals with acute HIV-1 subtype C infection, all identified prior to seroconversion. *Ex vivo* and cultured IFN-γ ELISPOT assays were performed and viruses from plasma were sequenced within defined CTL Gag epitopes.

Results: Nef-specific CD8+ T-cell responses were dominant during the first 4 weeks post infection and made up 40% of total responses at this time, yet by 1 year responses against this region had declined and Gag responses made up 47% of all T-cell responses measured. An inverse correlation between the breadth of Gag-specific responses and viral load set point was evident at 26 weeks (p=0.0081; r= -0.60) and beyond. An inverse correlation between the number of persistent responses targeting Gag and viral set point was also identified (p=0.01; r=-0.58). Gag-specific responses detectable by cultured ELISPOT correlated negatively with viral load set point (p=0.0013; r=-0.91). Sequence evolution in targeted and non-targeted Gag epitopes in this cohort was infrequent.

Conclusions: These data underscore the importance of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses, particularly to the Gag protein, in the maintenance of low viral load levels during primary infection and show that these responses are initially poorly elicited by natural infection. These data have implications for vaccine design strategies.

2. Introduction:

There is compelling evidence that acute-phase HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses play an important role in determining the subsequent clinical course of disease. Experimental data and mathematical models show that the appearance of HIV-1specific CD8+ T-cells coincides with and contributes to the decline in peak viremia in acute infection (Borrow et al., 1994, Koup et al., 1994, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Pantaleo et al., 1994, Liu et al., 2013), and CD8+ T-cell responses have been detected in some cases when antibodies are not yet detectable by ELISA and Western blot assays (Huber and Trkola, 2007, Radebe et al., 2011, Liu et al., 2013, Goonetilleke et al., 2009). An indicator of CD8+ T-cell immune pressure on the virus is the emergence of viral escape within CTL epitopes, which has been demonstrated to occur as early as 10 days after the first detection of a CD8+ Tcell response during acute HIV-1 infections (Fischer et al., 2010, Goonetilleke et al., 2009), but the kinetics of escape is quite variable (Brumme et al., 2008, Liu et al., 2013). Together these data indicate that early immune responses are critical for immune containment of HIV infection.

Despite strong data that HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cells play a critical role in viral control, there is also evidence of marked heterogeneity in the antiviral effectiveness of these cells. First, is the observation that almost all HIV-1-infected individuals have detectable CD8+ T-cell responses, irrespective of viral control or disease progression status (Betts et al., 2001, Addo et al., 2003), suggesting that some CD8+ T-cells are inefficient at suppressing virus replication (Gray et al., 2009, Chen et al., 2009, Ferrari et al., 2011, Perreau et al., 2013).

Indeed, even in late stage infection the majority of detectable HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses are able to target the circulating virus (Draenert et al., 2004, Koibuchi et al., 2005). Secondly, it has been demonstrated that CD8+ T-cells targeting different viral proteins differ in their antiviral effectiveness (Chen et al., 2009), consistent with clinical data that Gag but not Env- or Nef-specific responses are associated with lower viremia (Saez-Cirion et al., 2009, Julg et al., 2010, Chen et al., 2009, Perez et al., 2013, Kiepiela et al., 2007, Turk et al., 2013). Third, there is variability in the hierarchy of responses following infection and the ability of HLA-restricted CD8+ T-cell responses to drive viral immune escape is not consistent and remains incompletely characterized (Brumme et al., 2008, Streeck et al., 2009b, Liu et al., 2013).

Studies conducted during acute and early HIV-1 infection offer an important opportunity to characterize and understand better the quality and phenotype of CD8+ T-cells that mediate control of viral replication and disease progression. Numerous studies have examined these responses in early stages of infection (Turk et al., 2013, Mlotshwa et al., 2010, Gray et al., 2009, Streeck et al., 2009b, Henn et al., 2012, Freel et al., 2011, Borrow et al., 1994, Koup et al., 1994, McMichael et al., 2010, Fischer et al., 2010, Lichterfeld et al., 2004b) but less is known about the impact and fate of CD8+ T-cell immune responses in cohorts limited to persons with clearly defined dates of acute infection in whom studies have been initiated within a month of exposure to the virus (Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Ferrari et al., 2011, Turk et al., 2013, Mlotshwa et al., 2010, Radebe et al., 2011, Jones et al., 2004, Gray et al., 2009). A number of studies have reported on

the longitudinal analysis of CD8+ T-cell responses in relation to time from initial acute or primary infection and viral load, in order to determine the kinetics and fate of these responses and their impact on the virus over time (Ferrari et al., 2011, Mlotshwa et al., 2010, Streeck et al., 2009b, Perez et al., 2013, Liu et al., 2013, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Allen et al., 2005, Brumme et al., 2008, Turk et al., 2013). However, very few studies have assessed CD8+ T-cell immune responses to the entire viral proteome during acute infection and at one year in antiretroviral therapy naïve persons with clearly defined dates of infection, in high prevalence and incidence settings (Mlotshwa et al., 2010, Liu et al., 2013). This is an important consideration in view of evidence of viral adaptation to endemic population HLA and loss of CTL epitopes over the course of the epidemic (Kawashima et al., 2009, Schellens et al., 2011) and the emerging evidence of high transmission of escape variants (Goepfert et al., 2008, Wright et al., 2011).

Here, using a cohort of acutely infected, antiretroviral therapy naive individuals with a reliable estimated time of infection in a high HIV-1 prevalence and incidence setting, we have conducted a longitudinal analysis of immune responses in persons with acute HIV-1 subtype C infection identified prior to full seroconversion in order to define the specificity of the earliest CD8+ T-cell responses, the fate of these responses over time, the evolving immunodominance patterns and impact on viral control within the first year of infection. Our data provide evidence of marked differences in immunogenicity of individual viral proteins for induction of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses during

acute HIV infection, and lack of a clear relationship of early CD8+ T-cell responses to viral load. However, over the one year period of follow up, the number of targeted Gag CD8+ T-cell epitopes increased resulting in a significant negative association between these responses and viral load set point. CD8+ T-cell immune responses generated during the acute phase of infection persisted or waned irrespective of cognate epitope sequence, with persistence of initial responses correlating with lower viral set point. Moreover, some Gag-specific immune responses that were no longer detected by standard IFN-gamma ELISPOT assay persisted as memory responses and appeared to contribute to lower viremia. This information sheds light on the characteristics and antiviral efficacy of evolving CD8+ T-cell immune responses responsible for long-term control of HIV-1 infection in a high incidence setting and has important implications for both prophylactic and therapeutic vaccine design for this population.

3. Materials and methods

3.1. Study participants

The cohort consisted of 18 antiretroviral treatment-naïve individuals with acute HIV-1 subtype C infection enrolled as part of the HIV Pathogenesis Programme (HPP) Acute Infection Study in Durban, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa (Radebe et al., 2011). Briefly, study participants were recruited from HIV Counseling and Testing (HCT) centers in the greater Durban area based on negative HIV rapid testing, and those testing positive by plasma HIV RNA were offered enrollment into the study. Blood samples were obtained from study participants at 2-4, 4-6, 6-8, 8-12, 12-18, 24-26, and 50-52 weeks post-infection. The date of infection was estimated to be 14 days prior to screening, as previously described (Radebe et al., 2011). The median age at recruitment was 28 years (interquartile range [IQR] 26 to 40 years), and 60% of the participants were female. The median plasma viral load at enrollment was 5,572,160 RNA copies/ml, (IQR, 921,090 to 9,320,000 RNA copies/ml) and the median CD4 count was 389 cells/mm³ (IQR, 275 to 496 cells/mm³). The average viral load between 3 and 12 months post infection was the measure of viral load set point used in this study and could be calculated for all study subjects. The Biomedical Research Ethics Committee (BREC) of the University of KwaZulu-Natal and the institutional review board of Massachusetts General Hospital approved this study, and all the participants provided written informed consent for participation in this study.

3.2. Synthetic HIV-1 subtype C peptides

A panel of 410 consensus subtype C peptides (18-mers overlapping by 10 amino acid residues), spanning the entire HIV-1 proteome corresponding to the gene products Gag, Pol, Nef, Env, Vif, Vpr, Vpu, Tat, and Rev were synthesized on an automated peptide synthesizer (MBS 396; Advanced ChemTech, Louisville, Kentucky) and used in the ELISPOT assay as previously described (Thobakgale et al., 2007). HLA class I-restricted epitopes predicted from the published epitopes on the HIV immunology database were also tested based on the HLA type (Llano et al., 2013) of the individual.

3.3. Viral load determination, CD4 T-cell counts, and HLA typing

Plasma HIV-1 RNA levels were quantified using the Roche Amplicor version 1.5 or Cobas Taqman HIV-1 Test according to the manufacturer's instructions (Roche Diagnostics, Branchburg, NJ). Absolute blood CD4 T-cell counts were enumerated using Tru-Count technology and analysed on a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson) and were expressed as cells/mm³. High-resolution HLA typing was performed as previously described (Radebe et al., 2011).

3.4. Interferon-γ ELISPOT Assay

IFN- γ enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot assays (ELISPOT) were performed as described previously (Streeck et al., 2009a, Radebe et al., 2011, Thobakgale et al., 2007). Briefly, peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) samples were stimulated with HIV-1 peptide pools (2 µg/ml) and incubated overnight at 37°C

with 5% CO₂. Phytohemagglutinin (PHA) was used as a positive control (duplicate wells) at a final concentration of 4 μ g/ml and negative controls consisted of cells without stimuli (quadruplicate wells). Confirmation of positive responses at the single-peptide level within peptide pools was undertaken in a second ELISPOT assay. A response was defined as positive when there were at least 100 spot-forming cells (SFCs)/million PBMCs and the total number of spots was 3 standard deviations above the negative control value (Novitsky et al., 2001, Ngumbela et al., 2008). To be conservative in estimating the breadth of a response, responses to 2 overlapping peptides were classified as one response; to 3 overlapping peptides were classified as 2 responses. In addition to overlapping peptides, HLA class I-restricted epitopes predicted from the published epitopes on the HIV immunology database (Llano et al., 2013), based on the expressed HLA alleles of the participants were also tested at a peptide concentration of 2 μ g/mL.

3.5. Cultured IFN-γ ELISPOT Assay

The cultured IFN- γ enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot assays were performed as described previously (Ndhlovu et al., 2012, Calarota et al., 2008). Briefly, 5-10 × 10⁶ peptide-stimulated were cultured at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 12 days in 5-10 ml of RPMI medium containing 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum (R10 medium) and supplemented with 50 units/ml of recombinant human interleukin 2 (IL-2)(R10/50 medium). Unstimulated cells cultured with IL-2 (R10/50 medium) alone were used as controls. A peptide concentration of 100 ng/ml (the final concentration of each peptide within the pool) was selected for these experiments. Fresh R10/50 medium was added to the cultures at day 3, day 7, and day 10 as needed. On day 12, cells were harvested, washed three times with fresh R10 medium and rested at 37°C and 5% CO₂ overnight in fresh R10 medium. Cells were then plated for a standard ELISPOT assay as described for the *ex vivo* ELISPOT.

3.6. Virus sequencing

Viral RNA was isolated from 140µl of plasma samples using the QIAamp Viral RNA Extraction Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Viral RNA was then reverse transcribed using ThermoScript[™] RT-PCR System kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and the gene-specific primer, GagD reverse as previously described (Chopera et al., 2008). To amplify the HIV-1 Gag region, a nested PCR was performed with two sets of primers, Gag forward (5'-TCT CTA GCA GTG GCG CCC G-3') and GagD reverse for the first round and GagA forward (5'-CTC TCG ACG CAG GAC TCG GCT T-3') and GagC reverse (5'-TCT TCT AAT ACT GTA TCA TCT GC-3') for the second round as previoulsy described (Chopera et al., 2008). Resulting PCR products were purified using purification columns from Illustra™ GFX™ PCR DNA Gel Band Purification Kit, (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, UK) and cloned into a PCR 2.1-TOPO vector (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Plasmid DNA was isolated from individual randomly picked white bacterial colonies (GeneJet Plasmid Mini Prep Kit; Fermentas, Vilnius, Lithuania) and were screened for the presence of the insert with the EcoRI restriction enzyme (New England BioLabs, Ipswich, Massachusetts, USA). Sequencing was done using the ABI PRISM Big Dye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction kit version 3.4

(Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Sequences were assembled and edited using the Sequencher Program v5.0 (Gene Codes Corporation, Ann Arbor, MI, USA).

3.7. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis and graphical presentation were performed using GraphPad Prism software version 5.0 for Windows. For assessments of the relationship between immune responses and viral load, statistical analysis of significance was based on two-tailed t tests using Spearman rank correlations. A value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4. Results

4.1. Association of CD8+ T-cell responses with viral load

In earlier studies, we examined the breadth and specificity of CD8+ T-cell responses to HIV during the first 18 weeks of infection in twenty subjects with acute HIV infection (Radebe et al., 2011). Here we extended these studies by examining changes in the frequency of recognition, magnitude and breadth of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses during the entire first year of infection. Viral load measurements and CD4+ T-cell counts from the 18 individuals from whom blood samples were available at sequential time points over the first year of infection are shown in Figure 3.1. We screened 18 subjects using the IFN-y ELISPOT assay with synthetic peptides spanning HIV-1 Gag, Pol, Env, Nef, Tat, Vpr, Rev, Vif, and Vpu. PBMCs were stimulated with pools of overlapping 15- to 20-mer peptides, in addition, each subject's PBMCs were evaluated according to their class I HLA type for selective recognition of 8- to 11-mers corresponding to previously defined class I MHC-restricted HIV-1-specific CTL epitopes (Llano et al., 2013). A summary of the defined class I MHC-restricted HIV-1 epitopes targeted per subject is given in Table 3.1 and depicted in Figures 3.2 and 3.3.



Weeks post infection



Weeks post infection

Figure 3.1. Alignment of viral load data from 18 subjects during acute HIV infection and over the first year of infection. For each patient, the viral load ($log_{10}copies/ml$ plasma) and CD4+ T-cell counts determined at sequential time points throughout the course of acute and early infection are plotted against time, measured weeks post infection.

Participant HLA Class I Type			No. of MHC class I defined epitopes targeted in:								Total no. of epitopes per	No. of restricting	Viral load set point
ID	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	Nef	Gag	Pol	Vif	Vpr	Vpu	Env	Rev	Tat	subject	class I alleles	(Log ₁₀ copies/ml)
AS1-0703	A*2601/3004, B*4403/5802, C*0210/0602	1	5	3				1		1	11	3	4,89
AS1-0876	A*2301/4301, B*1503/4400, C*2100/1008	1	3	5							9	4	3,61
AS1-0919	A*2900/7400, B*3500/4201, C*0400/1700	3	4	6	1			1		1	16	5	4,44
AS2-0016	A*2600/3000, B*1518/4201, C*1700/1800	3	5	4		1					13	4	4,70
AS2-0174	A*2301/3002, B*0801/1402, C*0304/0802	1	10	4				2	1		18	6	3,20
AS2-0184	A*2300/2900, B*0800/4400 C*0700/0700	4	4		1			3			12	3	4,60
AS2-0341	A*3400/6800, B*1503/5802, C*0200/0600	1		3	1					1	6	2	4,93
AS2-0358	A*2400/3000, B*4202/5300, C*0400/1700	6	7	8				2	1		24	6	5,18
AS2-0483	A*3000/3400, B*1503/4201, C*0200/1700	2	7	7		1				1	18	3	4,79
AS2-0802	A*3000/4301, B*0800/5802, C*0600/0700	1	6	3				3			13	4	5,20
AS2-0945	A*2300/7400, B*1510/5703, C*0700/1600	2	6	5				3	1		17	4	4,40
AS2-1037	A*0300/3400, B*1503/1510, C*0200/0300	2	5	1	2			1	1	1	13	4	3,61
AS3-0268	A*2902/8001, B*1503/1801, C*0202/0210	2	3	2	1			2		1	11	3	5,57
AS3-0369	A*6602/6800, B*1510/4400, C*0300/0700	1	7	3					1		12	6	3,78
AS3-0458	A*2900/3400, B*4400/5802, C*0400/0600	4	7	5							16	4	3,97
AS3-0740	A*0200/3400, B*1510/4400, C*0400/0500	1	6	1	1				3		12	4	3,38
AS5-0643	A*0201/3001, B*1503/4201, C*0210/1700	1	2	2		1		2			8	5	4,67
AS5-0953	A*2402/7400, B*0702/5703, C*0701/0702	1	5	3	1	1		3			14	4	3,62

Table 3.1. HIV-1-specific CD8⁺-T-cell responses: breadth, HLA class I usage, and total frequency during the first year of HIV-1C infection.



Figure 3.2. Kinetics of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses during the 1 year follow-up period. (A) Frequency of T-cell recognition across the entire HIV-1 subtype C proteome. The bars represent response frequencies to Nef, Pol, Gag, Env, Regulatory (Rev, Tat) and Accessory (Vpr, Vpu, and Vif) proteins from 4 to 52 weeks post infection; (B) Bar graphs depicting the relative contributions of Nef, Gag, Pol, Env, and Regulatory (Rev, Tat) and Accessory (Vpr, Vpu, and Vif) proteins the total magnitude and (C) breadth of HIV-1-specific T-cell responses at the specified time points.

At 4 weeks post infection, the earliest time point of measurement of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses, 55% of the subjects made Nef-specific T-cell responses, followed by Gag (33%) and Pol (27%), and VVTRV (Vif, Vpr, Vpu, Rev and Tat) (16%) and Env (10%) (Figure 4.2A). Responses against Nef increased in frequency

and at 18 and 26 weeks, 77% of the subjects had detectable Nef responses, subsequently, these responses underwent a marked decline and at 52 weeks only 50% of the subjects had detectable anti-Nef responses. In contrast, epitopes in the Gag region were targeted by only 33% of the subjects at 4 weeks and this number increased to 94% at 52 weeks. The number of individuals with detectable responses against Pol peaked at 12 weeks when 88% of subjects had detectable anti-Pol responses. The sequences of the defined class I MHC-restricted HIV-1-specific CD8+ epitopes that were targeted, the restricting MHC class I allele, and position of these epitopes in the HIV-1 genome as well as OLPs that were targeted but have not been previously defined are listed in Tables 3.2 and 3.3.

Evolution of immune responses was also apparent in terms of the breadth of responses to individual viral proteins. For this analysis we examined the sum total responses detected in the 18 study subjects. A total of 41 T-cell responses against epitopes in Gag, Pol, Nef, Env, Vif, Vpr, Vpu, Tat, and Rev were measured at 4 weeks. As expected, Nef responses were dominant in breadth and made 42% of the total detectable HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell response at this time, whilst Pol and Gag-specific responses contributed 24% and 17%, respectively (Figure 3.3). In those in whom HIV-1-specific T-cell responses were detected, the median magnitude of responses was quite variable over time, and the median values for Nef-specific responses were generally higher in magnitude than those directed against other regions.



Figure 3.3. Evolution of IFN- γ ELISPOT CD8+ T-cell responses targeting epitopes in (A) Nef, (B) Pol, (C) Gag, (D) Env and (E) Regulatory (Rev, Tat) and Accessory (Vpr, Vpu, and Vif) proteins HIV-during the 1 year follow-up period. measured from 4-52 weeks post infection in a cohort of 18 subjects. Each symbol represents a single response against an epitope in the specified protein. *P* values are indicated (Repeated measures ANOVA test followed by Bonferroni adjustment).

We next examined the relationship between evolving breadth of responses and Responses against Pol, Nef and Env peaked at 12 weeks and viral load. subsequently declined; yet with increased duration of infection there was a steady rise in the overall number of Gag epitopes targeted (Figure 3.2 and 3.3C). The highest breadth of Gag-specific responses was recorded at 52 weeks postinfection, the last time point to be analyzed in this study (Figure 3.3C). We next aimed to identify whether the magnitude or breadth of CD8+ T-cell responses against epitopes in all HIV-1 regions had any impact on early disease progression in the first 12 months post infection. We observed no correlation between magnitude and breadth of all of responses to Pol, Env, Rev, Tat, Vpu, Vpr and Vif and viral load set point. There was also no significant association between the breadth of Nef T-cell responses and viral set point at all measured time points, yet a trend towards significance was observed at 8 weeks (p=0.098; r=0,4)(Figure 3.4A). Although there was no correlation observed between the breadth of Gagspecific responses measured up to 18 weeks and viral set point (Figure 3.4B and data not shown), subsequent measures showed a significant negative association from 26 weeks (p=0.0081; r=-0.61) and at 52 weeks (p=0.027; r= -0.52) (Figure 3.4B-D). When we fitted a linear regression model to viral load set point, accounting for the repeated measurements and adjusting for weeks post infection, there remained a significant association between breadth and viral load set point in this analysis. For every 1 unit increase in breadth, viral load decreases by 0.15 log copies/ml (SE=0.067; p=0.0225).

Table 3.2. HIV-1-specific $CD8^+$ T-cell responses in acute and early infection, the epitopes targeted and restricting MHC class I alleles.

		Epitope	Clade-C	Corresponding			Epitope	Clade-C	Corresponding
HLA	Protein	code	Sequence	OLP	HLA	Protein	code	Sequence	OLP
A2	p17	SL9	SLYNTVATL	#11, #12	B7/42/81	p24	SV9	SPRTLNAWV	#20
A2	RT	AM9	ALTAICEEM	#170	B7/42/81	p24	TL9	TPQDLNTML	#25
A2	RT	VL9	VIYQYMDDL	#190	B7/42/81	p24	HA9	HPVHAGPIA	#29, #30
A2	RT	IV9	ILKEPVHGV	#207	B7/42/81	p24	GL9	GPSHKARVL	#48
A2	gp41	SV10	SLLDTIAIAV	#396	B7/42/81	Nef	FL9	FPVRPQVPL	#76
A2	Nef	PL10	PLTFGWCFKL	#85	B7/42/81	Nef	RM9	RPOVPLRPM	#76
A2	Nef	VL10	VLQWKFDSQL	#91	B7/42/81	Nef	RGF9	RPMTFKGAF	#77
A2	Vpr	AL9	ALIRILOOL	#285	B7/42/81	Nef	TL10	TPGPGVRYPL	#84
A2	Nef	GL9	GAFDLSFFL	#78	B7/42/81	RT	SM9	SPAIFQSSM	#187
A2	n24	149	II RAI GPGA	#45	B7/42/81	vor	FI 9	EPRPWI HGI	#281 #282
A2	n24	GA9	GVGGPSHKA	#48	B7/42/81	gn120	RI10	RPNNNTRKSI	#328
A2	Rev	019	OAVRIIKII	#96	B7/42/81	Int	119	I PPIVAKEI	#244
Α2	P15	0W9	OANFLGKIW	#58	B7/42/81	Pro	TI 11	TPVNIIGRNMI	#163
Δ2	RT	01/8	OIYPGIKV	#202	B7/42/81	RT	YIG		#202 #203
Δ2	Pol			#262	B7/42/81	Rev	RI 10		#102
Δ2	RT	U10		#162	B7/42/81	n17	RIV10	RIRPGGKKHV	#3
A0205	Pol	VIQ		#192	B7/42/81	pr/	SI 10		#166
A0203	n17	KKQ	KIRI PROCK	#105	B7/42/81	DT			#221
A3 A2	p17			#2, #3	B7/42/81 B7/42/81	Vif	KIQ	KPKKIKDDI	#221
A3	p17	DIV10		#2	D7/42/81	DT	TL 1 1		#422
A3	рт/			#3	D7/42/01		CIO		#164
A3		AIVI9		#170	B7/42/01	n17	GL9		#100
A3				#1/8	DO	p17	EV9		#11
A3	KI Vif			#213	DO	pz4			#30
A5	VII == 120		KIKPPLPSVKK	#422	Bo	DT			#08
A3	gp120	TK10	DUDDUUUAAD	#293, #294	B8	KI	GL9	GPKVKQWPL	#168
A3	gp41	KKII	KLRDLILIAAK	#391	B8	gp41	YL8	YLKDQQLL	#366
A3	RI	KLK9	KLAGRWPVK	#254	B8	P15	EL8	EPKDREPL	#64
A11	KI 	IN8	IYQEPFKN	#212	B8	RI m24	VI8		#2/4, #2/5
AZ3/24	p17	HW9	HYMLKHLVW	#4	B14	p24	DA9	DRFFKTLRA	#41
A23/24	Net	RW8	RYPLIFGW	#84	B14	p15	510	CRAPRKKGC	#55
A23/24	RI	IL9	IYQEPFKNL	#211, #212	B14	gp41	EL9	ERYLKDQQL	#366
A23/24	gp120	VW8	VYYGVPVW	#293, #294	B1503	lat	FY10	FQTKGLGISY	#115
A23/24	gp120	LY10	LFCASDAKAY	#295	B1503	RI	FY10	FKRKGGIGGY	#265
A23/24	gp41	RL9	RYLKDQQLL	#366	B1503	p24	VF9	VKVIEEKAF	#21
A23/24	gp120	NL10	NYINIIYRLL	#3/3	B1503	RI	149	IQQEFGIPY	#258, #259
A26	p24	EL9	EVIPMEIAL	#23	B1503	RI	RY9	RKAKIIKDY	#275
A29	Net	YY8	YFPDWQNY	#82, #83	B1503	RT	GL9	GKKAIGTVL	#162
A29	p17	RY11	RSLYNTVATLY	#11, #12	B1510	p17	RL9	RFALNPGLL	#6, #7
A29	gp160	SY9	SFDPIPIHY	#316	B1510	p24	VL10	VHQAISPRTL	#20
A29	gp120	SY10	SFNCRGEFFY	#338	B1510	p24	GL9	GHQAAMQML	#26, #27
A29	gp120	FY9	FNCRGEFFY	#338	B1510	Vit	WI9	WHLGHGVSI	#411
A29	p17	LY9	LYNTVATLY	#11	B1510	p17	GI9	GKVSQNYPI	#18
A30	Nef	YY8	YFPDWQNY	#82, #83	B1510	Rev	IL9	IHSISERIL	#100
A3002	p17	RLY10	RLRPGGKKHY	#3	B1510	RT	TIL9	THLEGKIIL	#249
A3002	p17	RY11	RSLYNTVATLY	#11, #12	B1510	Rev	GL11	GRPAEPVPLQL	#102
A3002	RT	AY11	AQNPEIVIYQY	#190	B1510	p17	KL8	KHYMLKHL	#4
A3002	RI	KLY9	KLNWASQIY	#201, #202	B18	Net	YF9	YPLIFGWCF	#84, #85
A3002	Int an 41	KIY9 DVO	RIQINERVIT	#269, #270	B18		LY IU		#415
A3002	gp41	RY9	RIGPGQTFY	#330	B18	KI	NY10	NETPGIRIQI	#184
A3002	p17	SVV11		#1	D10	DT	VL9 NVO		#240
A3002	n24	KV10	KNWMTDTHV	#43	B18	RT	SY11	SEVNIVTDSOV	#230
A3002	n17	AF8	ASRELERE	#6	B18	Rev	DI10	DEALLOAVRI	#95
A3002	BT	RY10	RAONPEIVIY	#190	B18	Vif	IY8	IFWRI RRY	#413
A66	RT	ER11	ETFYVDGAANR	#224	B18	Nef	QY9	QEILDLWVY	#81
A6801	p24	DA8	DTINEEAA	#28	B18	VPR	NL10	NEWTELLEEL	#279
A6801	VIF	ER10	EVHIPLGEAR	#408	B18	VPR	GW10	GPQREPYNEW	#279
A6802	Int	EL9	ETAYFILKL	#253	B35	Nef	VF8	VPLRPMTF	#76, #77
A6802	Int	EA10	ETAYFILKLA	#253	B35	RT	VY10	VPLDEDFRKY	#182
A6802	RT	EA9	ETFYVDGAA	#223, #224	B35	RT	NQY9	NPEIVIYQY	#190
Table 3.2. continued

HLA	Protein	Epitope code	Clade-C Sequence	Corresponding OLP	HLA	Protein	Epitope code	Clade-C Sequence	Corresponding OLP
B35	gp120	DL9	DPNPQEMVL	#299	B57	RT	AF10	QATWIPEWEF	#220
B35	Tat	EW10	EPVDPNLEPW	#111	B57	RT	FF9	FSVPLDEDF	#181
B35	Nef	YF9	YPLTFGWCF	#84, #85	B57	RT	EY9	ETKIGKAGY	#226
B39	RT	IL9	IVTDSQYAL	#231	B57	RT	KI13	KAGYVTDRGRQK	I #226
B44	Vif	SL9	SEGATPQDL	#24	B57	Pol	VI9	VTDRGRQKI	#226
B44	p24	RL11	RDYVDRFFKTL	#40	Cw0202	RT	IY10	ILKEPVHGVY	#207
B44	p24	AW11	AEQATQDVKNW	#42	Cw0202	Pol	EY11	EILKEPVHGVY	#207
B44	Nef	GV11	GEVGFPVRPQV	#75	Cw3	p24	YL9	YVDRFFKTL	#40
B45	RT	AA9	AETFYVDGA	#223, #224	Cw4	p24	QW9	QATQDVKNW	#42
B45	p24	II10	IEEKAFSPEVI	#22	Cw4	Nef	YY8	YFPDWQNY	#82, #83
B44	RT	SY11	SEVNIVTDSQY	#230	Cw4	gp41	EW11	EIWDNMTWMQ	v#371
B44	RT	IW11	IEELREHLLKW	#194	Cw4	RT	TF10	TVLDVDAYF	#180
B44	Int	QW11	QEEHEKYHSNW	#242	Cw6	gp120	II13	IRSENLTNNAKTI	#325
B53	p17	WF9	WASRELERF	#5	CW6	gp120	LL12	LTNNAKTIIVHL	#325
B53	p24	QW9	QATQDVKNW	#42	Cw06	gp120	AL8	AKTIIVHL	#325
B53	Nef	YF9	YPLTFGWCF	#84, #85	CW0602	Pol	KR9	KTGKYAKMR	#213
B53	RT	EW10	EPVDPNLEPW	#111	Cw7	Nef	KY11	KRQEILDLWVY	#81
B53	RT	QW11	QPIQLPEKDSW	#199	Cw8	p24	TL9	TPQDLNTML	#25
B57	p17	WF9	WASRELERF	#5	Cw8	Rev	PL9	PAEPVPLQL	#102, #103
B57	p24	ISW9	ISPRTLNAW	#20	Cw8	RT	IL9	IVTDSQYAL	#231
B57	p24	KF11	KAFSPEVIPMF	#22	Cw12	RT	IL9	IVTDSQYAL	#231
B57	p24	TW10	TSTLQEQIAW	#33, #34	Cw1701	Rev	RL10	RPAEPVPLQL	#102
B57	p24	QW9	QATQDVKNW	#42	Cw18	p24	FFF9	FRDYVDRFF	#40
B57	Nef	HW9	HTQGYFPDW	#82	Cw18	p24	VI9	VRMYSPVSI	#37
B57	RT	IAW9	IAMESIVIW	#216	Cw1801	RT	VL8	VRDQAEHL	#262
B57	Vif	VF9	VSRRANGWF	#405					

Table 3.3. T-cell responses to OLPs that are not known to contain defined CD8+ T-cell epitopes.

PID	OLP #	Region	Sequence	No. of time-points where response was detected	No. of SFC/10 ⁶ PBMC
AS2-1037	#9	p17	EGCKQIMKQLQPALQTGT	1	260
AS3-0017	#16	p24	NKSQQKTQQKAAADKGKV	4	1020; 420; 580
AS5-0643	#52	p15	QRSNFKGPKRIVKCF	1	200
AS1-0703	#117	Tat	GRKKRRQRRSAPPSSEDH	2	4000; 520
AS3-0458	#125	Vpu	LIVALIIAIVVWTIAYIEY	1	240
AS2-0110	#229	RT	VSLTETTNQKTELQAIQL	2	360
AS2-0050	#229	RT	QKTELQAIQLALQDSGSEV	5	4000; 1500
AS3-0458	#252	INT	GYIEAEVIPAETGQETAY	1	180
AS3-0268	#287	Vpr	HFRIGCQHSRIGILRQRR	1	280



Figure 3.4. Association of the breadth of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses and viral load set point. (A) The breadth of Nef-specific T-cell responses; (B, C and D) The breadth of Gag-specific T-cell responses. Each symbol represents the total number of epitopes targeted per participant. Spearman correlations between the breadth of responses and viral load set point at 8, 26, and 56 weeks post infection.

4.2. Fate of the early T-cell IFN-γ ELISPOT responses

As illustrated in Figure 3.3 over the first year of infection, CD8+ T-cell responses are highly variable following acute infection, with an ultimate overall decline of anti-Nef and Pol responses and a gradual increase of Gag-specific T-cell responses. It is noteworthy that even at an epitope-specific level within each viral protein, immune responses fluctuated with some persisting throughout, some no longer detectable at later time points while others were undetectable at some time points and later re-emerged (Radebe et al., 2011). Few studies have examined the relationship between early loss and gain in CD8+ T-cell responses and viral load (Turnbull et al., 2009, Mlotshwa et al., 2010, Goonetilleke et al., 2009) and this led us to investigate the fate of these early T-cell responses and their impact on viral load set point over the one year follow up period. We focused our analysis on two distinct recognition profiles, persistent and lost responses. Persistent responses were defined as responses that were detected as early as 6 weeks and persisted up to 52 weeks. Lost responses were defined as responses which appeared at any time during the follow up period but had decreased by more than 80% and/or had fallen below the threshold of 100 SFC/10⁶ PBMC when the last evaluation was performed at 52 weeks post infection.

Analysis of persistent HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses revealed that although 92 responses were measured at 6 weeks, only 45% (41) of these responses were still detectable at 52 weeks. Of the 16 Gag-specific responses measured at 6 weeks, at least 12 (75%) persisted and were still detectable at 52 weeks. Table 3.4 shows the epitopes that were persistently targeted by all the subjects in the cohort and the HLA class I alleles restricting these responses. All eighteen subjects had persisting T-cell responses against either optimal epitopes (36 in total) and/or OLPs (5 in total), ranging from 1 to 5 responses per subject.

Table 3.4. Confirmed persistent HLA class I-restricted CD8+ T-cell epitopes and OLPs targeted between 4-52 weeks post infection.

Participant	Epitopes and OLPs targeted: between 6-52 weeks post infection			Locations of the targeted epitopes:						Viral load set		
ID	Defined HLA class I restricted epitopes	OLPs	Gag	Pol	Nef	Vif	Vpr	Vpu	Env	Rev	Tat	(Log ₁₀ copies/ml)
AS1-0703	none detected		1	1								4,89
AS1-0876	B1503-VF9(p24)		1									3,61
AS1-0919	A29-YY8(Nef)	#202(RT)		1	1							4,44
AS2-0016	A3002-KIY9(Int), B42- FL9(Vpr), B42-YL9(RT), B42- RM9(Nef)	#275(Int)		3	1		1					4,70
AS2-1037	B1510-IL9(Rev)									1		5,54
AS2-0174	A3002-AY11(RT), A3002-KIY9 (Int), Cw3-YL9(p24)		1	2								3,20
AS2-0184	A23-RW8(Nef)				1							5,16
AS2-0341	None detected	#81(Nef), #408(Vif)			1	1						5,18
AS2-0358	A23-HW9(p17), A23- RW8(Nef), B42-RL10(Rev), B53-EW10(RT)		1	1	1					1		4,79
AS2-0483	B42-TL9(p24)		1									5,20
AS2-0802	A3002-RY11(p17)		1									4,40
AS2-0945	B57-TW10(p24), B1510-IL9(Rev)		1							1		3,61
AS3-0268	A29-SY9(gp160)								1			5,57
AS3-0369	A66-ER11(RT), Cw3-YL9(p24)		1	1								3,78
AS3-0458	A29-SY9(gp160), B44- AW11(p24), B57-FF9(RT), B57- KI13(RT), Cw4-EW11(gp120)		1	2					2			3,97
AS3-0740	B44-AW11(p24), B44- IW11(RT)	#78(Nef)	1	1	1							3,38
AS5-0643	A2-SL9(p17), A2-AL9(Vpr), B42- YL9(RT), Cw0202-EY11(RT)		1	2			1					4,67
AS5-0953	A3-RLY10(p17)		1									3,62

Responses to Pol made up 34% of all the HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses that were classified as persistent, followed by Gag (29%), and Nef (15%). When Tcell responses were analysed irrespective of viral protein or region targeted, there was no significant negative association between the breadth of these responses and viral load set point (P=0.37; r=-0.22) (Figure 3.5A). Even though Pol-specific responses made up 35% of all persistent responses, there was no correlation between the breadth of these responses and viral load set point (P=0.77; r=-0.073) (Figure 3.5B). In contrast, a significant association was observed between persistent responses targeting Gag and viral set point (P=0.010; r=-0.59) (Figure 3.5C). These data suggest that persistent Gag-specific CD8+ T-cell responses may be advantageous in providing a sustained reduction in viremia.

Whilst some of the early HIV-1-specific IFN- γ ELISPOT CD8+ T-cell responses were shown to persist, 55% of these T-cell responses waned and were below the threshold of detection at 52 weeks. In order to determine the fate of some of these T-cell responses which were no longer detectable in circulation, we used the cultured IFN- γ ELISPOT assay which assesses the proliferation of low frequency T-cells which may be missed by the *ex vivo* ELISPOT assay (Calarota et al., 2008, Pala et al., 2013, Ndhlovu et al., 2012). Due to sample availability limitations, not all subjects could be evaluated for immune responses using the cultured IFN- γ ELISPOT assay. In the 8 subjects evaluated, a total of 96 (median=11) *ex vivo* IFN- γ ELISPOT responses were measured between the 4 and 26 weeks post infection (Table 3.5). With the duration of infection, these

responses fluctuated over time and only 30% of these T-cell responses were still detectable by the ex vivo ELISPOT assay at 52 weeks. At least 40% of T-cell responses (27 of the 67 individual epitope-specific T-cell responses), which had disappeared and were presumed lost, could be detected with the cultured ELISPOT assay. These T-cell responses were directed against epitopes in all HIV-1 regions (magnitude of response ranging from 200-4,000 SFC/10⁶ PBMC), and 30% of these responses targeted epitopes in Gag. There was no significant correlation between the presence of cultured ELISPOT responses targeting all HIV-1 regions and viral set point (P=0.24; r=0.47 and data not shown). However, a significant negative correlation between cultured ELISPOT Gag-specific responses and viral set point (P=0.017; r=-0.85) (Figure 3.5D) was observed. Our data show that the cultured ELISPOT could amplify and enhance the detection of at least 40% of low frequency T-cell responses which had become undetectable when measured by the ex vivo ELISPOT. It is also plausible that these effector Tcell responses that were below the limit of detection by ex vivo ELISPOT had converted to a memory phenotype, which is not detectable by standard ELISPOT (Godkin et al., 2002, Reece et al., 2004, Todryk et al., 2008, Ndhlovu et al., 2012).



Figure 3.5. The impact of persistent T-cell responses measured between 4 weeks and 52 weeks post infection on viral load set point. (A) A lack of association between persistent responses targeting epitopes within all proteins and viral load set point; (B) A lack of association between persistent responses targeting epitopes within Pol and viral load set point; (C) A significant negative association between the breadth of Gag-specific persistent T-cell responses and viral load set point; (D) A significant negative association between the breadth of Gag-specific cultured ELISPOT T-cell responses and viral load set point.

	Pre-cu	ılture	Post-culture				
Participant ID	Responses detected from 4 to 26 weeks	Responses detected at 52 weeks	All responses detected at 52 weeks	Gag specific responses at 52 weeks			
AS1-0703	10	3	4	0			
AS1-0876	9	4	3	2			
AS1-0919	16	4	9	0			
AS2-0341	6	0	4	0			
AS2-0358	20	5	0	0			
AS2-0945	13	7	2	1			
AS3-0740	12	3	3	3			
AS5-0953	10	3	2	2			
TOTAL	96	29	27	8			

Table 3.5. HIV-1-specific T-cell responses determined by the ex vivo ELISPOT assay during the entire follow up period and responses measured using cultured ELISPOT assay at 52 weeks.

4.3. Gag immune responses and viral evolution

To investigate the relationship between the dynamics of Gag-specific T-cell responses and sequence evolution within targeted Gag epitopes, we sequenced HIV-1 Gag from plasma samples obtained at 2-6 weeks and 52 weeks post infection. We evaluated a cumulative total of 210 epitopes restricted by the HLA class I alleles expressed by subjects in the cohort. Of the epitope sequences we assessed at 2-6 weeks, in spite of expression of the restricting HLA class I allele and the presence of the cognate viral sequence, T-cell responses were only mounted against 14% (11 of 78) of the wild type epitopes known to be presented in the context of HLA alleles expressed by the subject. Interestingly, 7% (9 of 135) of epitopes with variant sequences either in the putative epitope or in the flanking region also induced a detectable T-cell response. Analysis at 52 weeks showed that a significantly higher number of both wild type (24 of 75, 32%) (P=0.006) and variant epitopes (21 of 135, 15%) (P=0.01) respectively induced a

detectable CD8+ T-cell immune response at this time. Although a total of 11 Gag-specific T-cell responses against wild type epitopes were measured at 2-6 weeks, at one year post infection mutations had occurred in only two of these epitopes, the HLA-B*57 restricted TW10 and B*81-TL9; yet these epitopes were still able to induce a detectable response at 52 weeks (Figure 3.6A). In contrast, initial CD8+ T-cell responses against HLA-B*8 restricted EV9 and HLA-B*15:10-VL10 were lost after 6 weeks and these wild type epitope sequences failed to induce a detectable response even up to 52 weeks post infection. Responses targeting 6 of the epitopes with variant sequences at 2-6 weeks declined over time yet this loss of response did not coincide with further sequence changes within the epitopes or their flanking regions (Figure 3.6B). Further analysis showed that there was no significant difference in viral set point between participants who made early T-cell responses to wild type epitopes and retained these responses even when variant sequences arose (median= 4 log copies/ml) and participants who made early T-cell responses against variant epitope sequences and retained these responses (median= 5 log copies RNA copies/ml) (p=0.416). However, the former had a significantly lower viral load set point values (median=4 log copies/ml) in comparison to participants who made responses to epitopes with variant sequences but subsequently lost these responses (median=5.2 log copies/ml) (p=0.003).



Figure 3.6. Recognition patterns associated with wild type and variant Gag sequences at 2-4 weeks and 52 weeks post infection. (A) T-cell recognition in relation to wild type Gag sequences shown as the magnitudes of IFN- γ ELISPOT responses at 2-4 weeks and 52 weeks post infection. (B) T-cell recognition in relation to sequence variations in Gag at 2-4 weeks and 52 weeks post infection. Each line represents the specific epitope targeted. The sequences of the targeted epitopes at 2-4 weeks and 52 weeks post infection are shown underneath the graphs. The underlined areas indicate the putative targeted epitope.

5. Discussion:

Data accumulated over the past years have established that early immune events determine the rate of disease progression and thus a detailed understanding of the patterns, fate, functions and phenotypes of early CD8+ T-cell subsets which best correlate with control of viremia is needed to inform vaccine and therapeutic strategies that aim to contain the AIDS pandemic (McDermott and Koup, 2012, Freel et al., 2011, McMichael et al., 2010). In the current study we have analysed the evolution and fate of HIV-specific T-cell responses during the first year of infection, investigated their association with viral load set point and their ability to induce viral escape or persist in the presence of escape. We report that a diverse pattern of T-cell recognition across the HIV-1 proteome was evident during primary infection. Despite significant heterogeneity among participants in the timing of appearance and dominance of virus specific T-cell responses, Nef and responses were dominant during earliest phase of HIV-1 infection, however, the breadth of Gag-specific responses increased over time and by one year Gag responses were dominant and contributed over 40% to the total magnitude of response. We cannot rule out that the true magnitude and breadth of T-cell responses may have been underestimated through the use of consensus virus sequences (Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Altfeld et al., 2003).

A significant finding in the current study is the inverse association between the breadth of Gag responses measured during primary infection (26 weeks and later) but not at the acute phase of infection (within the first 12 weeks post infection). Our findings provide a clear demonstration of the broadening of Gag–

specific T-cell responses over the course of one year following HIV-1 infection, with this increased immunogenicity associated with better control of viremia and lower viral load set point. Our findings are in line with reports from other studies, which have shown that the presence of a high proportion of Gag-specific CD8+ T-cell responses correlates with delayed disease progression (Turk et al., 2013, Perez et al., 2013, Zuniga et al., 2006, Geldmacher et al., 2007, Kiepiela et al., 2007, Masemola et al., 2004a, Streeck et al., 2009b, Mudd et al., 2012). Possible mechanisms by which Gag-specific responses in reducing viral replication include Gag fitness constrains to escape immune pressure (Wright et al., 2010, Miura et al., 2010, Henn et al., 2012) and the efficacious antiviral activity of Gag-specific CD8+ T-cells (Sacha et al., 2007, Payne et al., 2010, Julg et al., 2010, Turk et al., 2013). However, because responses were measured in the peripheral blood we cannot rule out that Gag responses were already present in mucosal and lymphoid tissues in higher levels in comparison to the responses in the blood as has been observed (Altfeld et al., 2002).

We also show that individuals with controlled viremia had significantly higher levels of Gag-specific T-cell responses, which persisted from the first 6 weeks up to 52 weeks post infection. These findings confirm that fluctuations in levels of T-cell responses and viral load are related even in early HIV-1 infection. The paucity of Gag-specific responses during the acute stages of HIV-1 infection when dramatic declines in viremia are recorded suggest that Gag-specific T-cell responses may be more important in maintaining the viral load at the set point than for controlling early viremia (Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Turnbull et al., 2009, Wang et al., 2009). Importantly, and relevant for vaccine design, our results imply that relatively limited Gag immunogenicity during acute HIV-1 infection may lead to suboptimal viral control. Thus, a vaccine designed to induce greater breadth of CD8+ T-cell responses recognizing Gag epitopes, may tip the balance towards control during the earliest phases of infection and result in viremic or elite controller phenotype more efficiently than would be expected in natural infection.

The fluctuation of the recognition patterns of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses during primary infection led us to investigate the impact of these changes on disease progression. We used the peptide-based cultured IFN-y ELISPOT assay, (Godkin et al., 2002, Keating et al., 2005, Calarota et al., 2008) to determine the fate the HIV-1 specific T-cell responses which had decreased and had fallen below the threshold of 100 SFC/10⁶ PBMC at one year. Previous studies indicate that some antigen-specific CD8+ T-cell responses, undetectable by the ex vivo 18h ELISPOT assay, may be maintained as low frequency central memory precursors (Calarota et al., 2008, Ndhlovu et al., 2012), suggesting that these are the responses detected using the cultured ELISPOT assay in our study. However, because we did not phenotypically characterize the T-cells detected in the cultured ELISPOT assay, we cannot rule out the possibility that these may represent low frequency HIV-1–specific CD8+T-cells functionally and phenotypically indistinguishable from those detected by the regular ELISPOT assay (Lichterfeld et al., 2004a).

Although we observed a significant negative correlation between the presence of cultured ELISPOT Gag-specific T-cell responses and viral set point,

the small sample size limits our ability to draw conclusions from this data. Our findings however, are in line with data which show that preservation of memory T-cells is essential for better outcome and survival in HIV-1 (Burgers et al., 2009, Champagne et al., 2001, Northfield et al., 2007, Addo et al., 2007, Calarota et al., 2008) as the memory subset of Gag-specific CD8+ T-cells have viral inhibition properties in HIV-1 infected individuals (Ndhlovu et al., 2012).

We sequenced HIV-1 Gag from plasma samples obtained during acute HIV-1 infection and at one year post infection. In agreement with our earlier findings, we report that despite the expression of the restricting HLA class I alleles and the presence of the wild type epitopes, T-cell responses were only mounted against a few of the wild type epitopes and analysis at 1 year revealed that a significantly higher but still relatively low number of both wild type and variant epitopes were targeted. Because of limited immunogenicity observed during acute HIV-1 infection we are unable to draw definitive conclusions about the overall impact of acute T-cell responses on viral evolution. However, our data show that the initial lack of induction of Gag-specific T-cell responses is not primarily the result of sequence mismatch within the targeted epitopes. Given that our analysis of CD8+ T-cell-mediated viral escape was restricted to the Gag protein, it is possible that CD8+ T-cells induced escape in other proteins (Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Liu et al., 2013). A variant was considered full escape only when it was no longer recognized by CD8+ T-cells, thus not all variants constituted escape. Although mutations had occurred in some of the initially targeted wild type epitopes by one year, these epitopes still induced a detectable T-cell response, suggesting

that whilst selection pressure mediated by early T-cell responses led to viral escape, HIV-1-specific T-cell responses persisted, resulting in the relative control of viral replication (Haas et al., 1996, Turnbull et al., 2006). Since 66% of T-cell responses targeting epitopes with variant sequences at the earliest time point subsequently declined, this may suggest that there was immune selection pressure already being applied to these epitopes during AHI and the virus successfully escaped recognition, as indicated by the declining T-cell responses and higher viral loads. Interestingly, the participants with persisting detectable T-cell responses against invariant epitopes, had significantly lower viral load set point values when compared to participants with responses to epitopes containing variant sequences during acute HIV-1 infection but subsequently lost these responses. These data suggest that persisting Gag-specific T-cell responses, which may be the result of continual invariant viral epitope presentation or the generation of *de novo* responses to arising variant epitopes, bear the greatest burden on control of early HIV-1 replication and disease progression (Wang et al., 2009, Mlotshwa et al., 2010, Perez et al., 2013). Thus although the quality (in terms of breadth and capacity to respond upon stimulation) of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses during acute infection is generally poor, it is not entirely ineffective. Thus, indicating the need to better understand what distinguishes ineffective from ineffective CD8+ T-cells and raising the intriguing possibility that there is room for improvement of vaccineinduced CD8+ T-cells to achieve better immune control than that achieved by natural infection induced CD8+ T-cells.

Conclusions

The data indicate that induction and preservation of Gag-specific effector and central memory type CD8+ T-cell responses is required for the maintenance of low viral load levels in primary infection. Acute and primary infection phase CD8+ T-cells in this study mostly failed to induce immune escape over the first year of infection, highlighting the need to better understand the characteristics of effective HIV-specific CD8+ T-cells. Our study suggests that an early and broadly directed Gag-specific CD8+ T-cell response in acute infection may augment early control, and provide a rational goal for both prophylactic and therapeutic vaccination.

Chapter 4 : The prognostic value of plasma and Tcell markers of immune activation in predicting viral load set point and CD4+ T-cell loss in HIV infection

1. Abstract

Background: Few studies have investigated the coupled effect of acute phase Tcell activation and cytokine expression on disease progression. We sought to determine the prognostic value of combinations of these immunologic parameters in predicting viral load set point and CD4+ T-cell loss during acute HIV-1 infection.

Methods: The study included 33 subjects that were followed longitudinally from acute HIV-1 infection, up to 1-year post infection. Plasma concentrations of 11 cytokines and T-cell markers of immune activation were assessed. Associations between acute phase markers of immune activation and T-cell responses and markers of disease progression (viral load and CD+ T-cell counts) were assessed.

Results: Analyses were performed using general linear models. Acute CD8+ Tcell responses were inversely associated with MIP-1 β plasma concentrations (p=0.001). Expression of IL-12p70 was associated with lower viral load set point (P=0.026), whereas IP-10 and IL-10 were associated with higher viral load set point (P=0.024 and P=0.015, respectively). PD-1 expression on CD8+ T-cells during acute infection was associated with preservation of CD4+ T-cells (p=0.029), whereas IL-10 and TNF- α were associated with more rapid CD4+ loss (p=0.016 and p=0.0057, respectively).

Conclusion: Our study identifies immune signatures that are stronger predictors of long-term HIV disease progression than CD8+ T-cell responses measured during acute HIV-1 infection. In combination with canonical parameters, these early biomarkers may inform approaches for evaluating the ability of therapeutic HIV-1 vaccines to control HIV infection.

2. Introduction

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1) infection is characterized by CD4+ T-cell depletion, CD8+ T-cell expansion and chronic immune activation resulting in immune dysfunction demonstrated by increased T-cell proliferation and high Tcells death rates (Hellerstein et al., 2003, Grossman and Paul, 2000). This HIV-1induced expansion and increased turnover of T-cells ultimately results in the exhaustion of the regenerative capacity of the immune system (Alter et al., 2004, Brenchley et al., 2006b, Douek et al., 2003, Hellerstein et al., 2003, Deeks et al., 2004). Chronic immune activation is therefore a hallmark of pathogenic HIV infection and the level of immune activation has been shown to be the best predictor of progression to AIDS and death independent of HIV viral load (Fahey et al., 1990, Liu et al., 1998, Hazenberg et al., 2003, Giorgi et al., 1999, Zangerle et al., 1998, Deeks et al., 2004). The mechanisms of HIV-associated immune activation are not completely understood, however, studies have suggested that HIV-1 infection induces chronic immune activation through activation of the innate and the adaptive immune system, via single-stranded (ss) RNA or through intracellular viral DNA which activate plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) via endosomal Toll-like receptors 7 and 8 (Grossman and Paul, 2000, Hazenberg et al., 2000). Translocation of bacterial products from the gut is thought to also contribute to the systemic immune activation associated with HIV infection through the stimulation of innate immune cells via the Toll-like receptors 2, 4 and 5 pathways (Brenchley et al., 2004b, Li et al., 2005, Brenchley et al., 2006b). The activation of innate and adaptive immune systems enhances expression of cell surface molecules such as programmed death-1 (PD-1), CD95, CD38, HLA-DR,

CD69 and CD57; and high expression of these markers is often predictive of an adverse prognosis (Giorgi et al., 1993, Hazenberg et al., 2003, Deeks et al., 2004, Lederman et al., 2000, Kaufmann et al., 2007, Day et al., 2006, Brenchley et al., 2003, Kestens et al., 1992, Krowka et al., 1996, Westendorp et al., 1995). Cytokines have been shown to play a key role in numerous infectious diseases, by shaping the immune response mounted against pathogens and also contributing to disease pathogenesis (Murdoch and Finn, 2000, Dinarello, 1992, Kedzierska and Crowe, 2001). HIV-associated immune activation contributes to the induction of a potent inflammatory response marked by elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and this inflammatory response induces a potent and sustained immunoregulatory response marked by production of antiinflammatory cytokines (Stacey et al., 2009, Roberts et al., 2010, Nilsson et al., 2007, Boasso and Shearer, 2008). Some reports have established that plasma cytokine levels measured during acute HIV infection may predict subsequent disease progression and a marked increase in pro-inflammatory cytokine levels can be used as a surrogate marker for HIV-disease progression (Godfried et al., 1993, Fahey et al., 1990, Miedema et al., 2013, Stacey et al., 2009, Roberts et al., 2010, Ausiello et al., 1996).

Our earlier findings revealed that acute HIV-1 subtype C CD8+ T-cell responses were very narrow in breadth and that early Nef responses were associated with higher viral loads. In light of these findings, we aimed to determine whether an association exists between acute plasma and T-cell immune activation levels and the magnitude and breadth of CD8+ T-cell responses during acute HIV-1 infection. In addition, we aimed to identify acute phase plasma and T-cell immune activation signatures associated with rapid disease progression. Although studies have reported that a number of plasma and T-cell markers of immune activation predict disease progression, no single study has assessed the combined predictive value of these parameters during acute HIV-1 infection. The predictive value of immune activation biomarkers has largely been investigated during chronic HIV infection, but the benefits of being able to predict, and perhaps modify, disease course during early HIV infection would be beneficial. In addition to shedding light on the narrowness and general ineffectiveness of the early immune response, determining which biomarkers are dysregulated during acute and primary HIV-1 infection may provide direction in understanding mechanisms of pathogenesis.

Using a cohort of acutely infected, antiretroviral therapy-naive individuals, we sought to establish the impact of cytokine expression patterns on the quality of the CD8+ T-cell responses during acute HIV-1 infection and determine the prognostic value of coupled estimates of T-cell activation and plasma cytokine levels in predicting viral load set point and CD4+ T-cell decline during acute HIV-1 infection.

3. Materials and methods

3.1. Study cohort

The study population for this analysis consisted of 33 participants from the previously described cohort (Chapter 2 and 3). The median age at baseline was 27 years (IQR, 25-34 years) and seventeen of the subjects (58%) were female. A median of seven CD4+ T-cell counts per individual was performed over The rate of CD4+ T-cell decline (median of -4 the first year of infection. cells/mm³ per month; IQR, -8 to 0.3 cells/mm³ per month) was calculated by linear regression over a median treatment-free follow up period of 234 days (IQR, 58 to 362 days). Viral load set point was calculated as the average viral load from 3 to 12 months post-infection (median of 4.5 log10 copies/ml; IQR, 4 to 5 log10 copies/ml). Sequential plasma samples collected at 4 weeks, 16 weeks and 52 weeks post infection were assayed for cytokine levels. T-cell expression markers of immune activation and dysfunction were measured on PBMC samples collected at 4 weeks post infection. Of the 33 participants in the study, IFN- γ ELISPOT CD8+ T-cell responses to the entire proteome were measured in 25 subjects as explained in chapters 2 and 3, plasma samples for cytokine analysis were available for 21 subjects, and only 19 PBMC samples were available for the evaluation of cell expression markers of immune activation and dysfunction (Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1. Summary of the distribution of the data sets used for analyses and general linear models.

3.2. Viral load determination, CD4+ T-cell counts and HLA typing

Plasma viral loads were measured using either the Roche Amplicor Monitor Assay detection limit of 400 HIV-1 RNA copies/ml plasma,) or the Roche Ultrasensitive assay detection limit of 50 RNA copies/ml plasma), according to the manufacturer's instructions. CD4 counts were determined from fresh whole blood using Tru-Count technology and analyzed on a four-color flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson) according to the manufacturer's instructions. High-resolution HLA class I typing was performed as previously described (Radebe et al., 2011).

3.3. Measurement of plasma cytokines

Eleven cytokines were measured in plasma from the cohort using the MILLIPLEX[™] MAP high sensitivity human cytokine/chemokine kits (Millipore, Melbourne, Australia) according to the manufacturer's instructions for plasma samples. The following cytokines were assessed (minimal detection limits are shown in brackets in pg/ml): interleukin (IL)-1beta (0.06), IL-2 (0.16), IL-8 (0.11), IL-10 (0.15), IL-12p70 (0.11), granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (0.46), interferon (IFN)-gamma (0.10), IFN-gamma-induced protein (IP-10) (1.20), macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 alpha (4.50), MIP-1 beta (3.50) and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha (0.40). Samples were studied undiluted in triplicates and the average value computed for each individual analyte. Data were collected and read on a Bio-Plex 200 reader (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Concentration values below the lower limits of detection were

reported as the midpoint between the lowest concentration for each cytokine measured and zero (Roberts et al., 2010, Bebell et al., 2008).

3.4. Assessment of T-cell activation by multicolor flow cytometry

Ex vivo measurement of T-cells for the expression of markers of activation (CD38, HLA-DR, CD69) (Kestens et al., 1992, Krowka et al., 1996), exhaustion (PD-1) (Day et al., 2006), senescence (CD57) (Brenchley et al., 2003) and apoptosis (CD95) (Westendorp et al., 1995) were performed. Briefly, thawed cryopreserved PBMCs were resuspended to 1-2 x 10⁶ cells/ml in R10 media (RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FCS), 100 U/ml penicillin, 1.7mM sodium glutamate, 5.5ml HEPES buffer) and rested overnight at 37°C; 5% CO₂. Cells were then adjusted to 1x10⁶ cells/ml, washed with PBS (2% PBS/FCS), stained for intracellular amine groups to differentiate between live/dead using the violet viability dye (Invitrogen) and incubated for 30 min at 4^oC. Following incubation, cells were washed and stained with the following surface antibodies: CD3-phycoerithrincarbocyanin (PE-Cy5.5), CD8 phycoerithrincarbocyanin (PE-Cy7) and CD4 quantum dot (Qdot 605), in addition to: CD38 phytoerythrin (PE), CD57 allophycocyanin (APC), CD69 allophycocyanin carbocyanin, CD95 fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC), HLA-DR- peridin chlorophyll protein (PerCP) and PD-1 pacific blue (Pac Blue) all from BD PharMingen (BD BioSciences, San Jose, CA, USA). Cells were again washed and fixed in 1% paraformaldehyde (Fix Perm A, Caltag) for 20 min in the dark at room temperature. Following incubation, cells were washed twice with PBS and resuspended in 200µl of PBS.

Samples were acquired on the LSR II flow cytometer, using FACSDiva software (BD Biosciences), and analyzed with FlowJo software (Tree Star, San Carlo, CA). Fluorescence voltages were determined using matched unstained cells. Fluorescence-minus-one (FMO) was used for gating strategy (Figure 4.2) (Roederer, 2001). For each sample a minimum of 300,000 events we acquired.

3.5. Statistical analysis

Univariate analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 5 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California, USA). Spearman rank tests were used to test for correlations. P values less than 0.05 were considered significant. General linear models were performed using Stata (Stata Corp., College Station, Texas, USA). A general linear model was used to determine the cytokines and T-cell markers that best correlated with magnitude or breadth of acute CD8+ T-cell responses, viral load set points and the rate of CD4+ T-cell decline. Log transformed viral loads and cytokine concentrations were used. Using a univariate regression as a starting point, variables that were significantly associated with (1) breadth and magnitude of CD8+ T-cell responses or (2) viral load set point or (3) CD4+ T-cell loss, while controlling for each of the markers already included, were added to the model in a stepwise manner.



Figure 4.2. Gating strategy for identification of CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell subsets. Representative flow cytometry plots from the PBMCs of one subject within the cohort to demonstrate the gating strategy. Gating Strategy on (A) lymphocyte population, (B) singlet, (C) CD3+ cells (D) CD4+ and CD8+ cells and (E) CD8+ T-cells expressing CD57, (F) CD8+ T-cells expressing CD69 (G) CD8+ T-cells expressing CD95, (H) CD8+ T-cells expressing HLA-DR and CD38 (I) CD8+ T-cells expressing PD-1.

4. Results

4.1. Exponential viral load expansion in plasma donors with acute HIV infection Sequential samples collected during acute HIV infection present a rare opportunity to analyze kinetic changes in cytokine levels during the earliest stages of infection. Plasma panels from 33 participants enrolled into the study during acute HIV-1 infection were studied. At the time when the first samples were taken, subjects were Fiebig stages III or IV (Fiebig et al., 2003) and the median plasma viral load was elevated at 6 log₁₀copies/ml (IQR 4.7 to 6.1 log₁₀ copies/ml), thus indicative of acute HIV infection. The level of viremia decreased over time, to a median of 4 log₁₀ copies/ml (IQR 3.5 to 4.6 log₁₀ copies/ml) at 1 year post infection. CD4+ T-cell kinetics over time were less pronounced, with a decrease from 420 T-cells/mm³ (IQR 383 to 586 cells/mm³) to 419 cells/mm³ (IQR 316-466 cells/mm³) at one year. The relationship between viremia and CD4+ Tcell counts at baseline was examined using data from all 33 subjects. There was a negative correlation between plasma HIV RNA levels and CD4+T-cell counts at study baseline (Figure 4.3A) (Spearman rho =-0.40, P =0.04, n = 33). We performed a linear regression analysis to estimate the independent associations between CD4+ T-cell counts and contemporaneous viral load during acute HIV-1 infection. A linear regression analysis showed that on average, there was a 0.2log10 drop in viral load per 100 cells/mm³ increase in CD4+ T-cell count. There was no correlation observed between the CD4+ T-cell count measured at baseline and viral load set point, however a marginal trend toward significance

was observed for higher CD4+ T-cell counts and lower viral load set point (P=0.08, r=-0.32 (Figure 4.3B).



Figure 4.3. The relationship between CD4+ T-cell counts and (A) concurrent plasma HIV RNA levels and (B) viral load set point (both log₁₀ transformed) during acute and early HIV-1 infection. A smooth line was generated by linear regression with quadratic equations.

4.2. Plasma levels of cytokines and chemokines in primary HIV-1 infection.

At 4 weeks post infection, a total of 11 plasma cytokines and chemokines were quantified in the plasma of 21 subjects. Figures 4.4 shows examples of the changes occurring in all analytes in each of the 21 subjects. Baseline expression levels were measured at 4 weeks post infection, and analyte levels measured at 16 and 52 weeks were deemed elevated if there was a >2 fold increase from baseline. Between 4 and 16 weeks post infection we observed an increase (>2) in the levels of IL-12p70, GM-CSF and IL-1 beta, the increase in these factors was sustained up to 52 weeks post infection (Figure 4.4 and 4.5). There was also a notable increase in the expression of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10

between 16 weeks and 52 weeks post infection. However, although modest changes in the levels of a handful of cytokines and chemokines were observed, no significant changes in the kinetics of many of the cytokines and chemokines known to be produced very early on in acute and primary HIV-1 infection were detected (Stacey et al., 2009, Gay et al., 2011). The modest changes in the levels of cytokines may be explained by the fact that the time points analyzed corresponded to Fiebig stages III and IV instead of the earliest (eclipse and Fiebig stages I or II) stages of HIV-1 infection.



Figure 4.4. The mean fold changes of analytes from baseline (4 weeks) up to 52 weeks post infection. The graph is a composite of the results for all 11 analytes.



Weeks post infection



Weeks post infection

Figure 4.5. Changes of plasma analyte levels relative to baseline during primary HIV-1 infection. Plasma levels of 11 cytokines (IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-8, IFN- γ and IL-10, MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , IL-12p70) collected at 3 sequential time points from 21 HIV-infected subjects are shown (colored lines), the mean values for each analyte are also given (black dotted lines).

4.3. Cytokine expression is associated with CD8+ T-cell magnitude and breadth

Univariate regression analysis was used to determine the relationship between plasma and T-cell markers of immune activation and the breadth of CD8+ T-cell responses during acute HIV-1 infection. Interestingly, MIP-1 β , a cytokine that is produced by HIV-specific CD8+ T-cells was the only marker significantly associated with the breadth CD8+ T-cell responses in the unadjusted analysis, and this was an inverse relationship such that with every one log increase in MIP-1 β , breadth decreased by 1.36 units (p=0.0240) (Table 4.1). IL-10 showed a trend of positive association with breadth (p=0.0720). No other variables were associated with breadth. When both MIP-1 β and IL-10 were added to the general linear model, MIP-1 β remained statistically significant (p=0.0335).

A univariate regression analysis was used to determine the impact of acute phase plasma and T-cell markers of immune activation cytokines on the magnitude of CD8+ T-cell responses. A square root transformation was applied to the magnitude in order to ensure normality. As observed previously, only MIP-1 β was significantly associated with the magnitude of the earliest CD8+ Tcell response in the unadjusted analysis; with every one log increase in MIP-1 β , magnitude decreases by 32.96 square root units – or 1,086 SFU/10⁶ PBMCs. When we fitted an adjusted model with MIP-1 β and IL-10, MIP-1 β remained statistically significant (p=0.0015) (Table 4.1).

Indonondont		Unadjusted a	analysis	Adjusted analysis			
Variable	Variable	Effect estimate (SE)	p-value	Effect estimate (SE)	p-value		
Breadth	MIP-1β	-1.36 (0.54)	0.0240	-1.20 (0.51)	0.0335		
	IL-10	1.08 (0.56)	0.0720	0.87 (0.50)	0.1011		
Magnitude	MIP-1β	-32.96 (8.30)	0.0011	-31.01 (8.04)	0.0015		
	IL-10	16.03 (10.42)	0.1434	10.63 (7.83)	0.1948		

 Table 4.1. General linear model analysis showing associations between plasma T-cell

 markers of immune activation and the acute phase CD8+ T-cell response.

4.4. Early cytokine expression patterns predict viral load set point

A general linear model was used to determine the relationship between plasma cytokine concentrations at 4 weeks post infection and viral load set point. Using univariate regression as a starting point, cytokines that were significantly associated with viral load set point were added to the model in a stepwise manner. Only a handful of the 11 variables were significantly associated with changes in viral load set point (Figure 4.6 B, F, G and K). Higher plasma levels of IL-10, IL-12p70 and IP-10 were significantly associated with an increase in viral load set point (p=0.0003, p=0.0398 and p=0.0529, respectively) whilst high TNF- α expression was associated with a significant decrease in viral load set point (p=0.0001) (Table 4.2). When we adjusted for other cytokines, TNF- α came up as negatively associated with viral set point (p=0.0136), while the effect of IL-10 remained but was less dramatic (p=0.0193).







Figure 4.5. The relationship between viral load set point and cytokines measured at 4 weeks post infection in 21 individuals. A smooth line was generated by linear regression with quadratic equations.
4.5. T-cell markers of immune activation and viral load set point

In order to assess the impact of T-cell markers of activation measured at 4 weeks post infection on viral load, we fitted a general linear model to viral set point using data from 19 subjects. Using a univariate regression as a starting point, Tcell markers that were significantly associated with viral load set point were added to the model in a stepwise manner. We observed no associations between the expression of the various markers on CD4+ T-cells and viral load set point. However, there was a positive correlation between viral load set point and CD8+T-cell activation levels as measured by CD38+HLA-DR- expression (p=0.0240) (Figure 4.7 C) (Table 4.2). Elevated CD38 expression may be used as a marker of CD8+ T-cell activation and appears to be a better correlate of HIV-1 disease progression than when combined with HLA-DR expression (Liu et al., 1997). There was also a positive correlation between viral load set point and CD8+ T-cell expression of CD95+ (p=0.0267), PD1+ (p=0.0312) (Figure 4.7G and I). However, when we adjusted the model for other T-cell markers, none of the Tcell markers came up as significantly associated with viral set point (Table 4.2).





Figure 4.6. The relationship between CD8+ and CD4+ T-cell activation (A-F), exhaustion (G-H), apoptosis (I-J) and senescence (K-L) and viral load set point (log₁₀transformed) in 19 individuals during acute HIV infection. A smooth line was generated by linear regression with quadratic equations.

	Unadjusted analysis		Adjusted analysis Plasma + T-cell markers	
Variable			(n=12)	
	Effect estimate (SE)	p-value	Effect estimate (SE)	p-value
PD-1	0.02 (0.01)	0,0312	-0.005 (0.007)	0,5515
CD95	0.02 (0.007)	0,0267	0.02 (0.007)	0,1029
CD38	0.01 (0.006)	0,024	-0.006 (0.005)	0,3414
IL12p70	0.33 (0.15)	0,0398	-0.62 (0.15)	0,0259
TNF-α	-0.83 (0.18)	0,0001	0.15 (0.16)	0,4199
IP-10	0.55 (0.26)	0,0529	0.80 (0.19)	0,0242
IL-10	0.82 (0.19)	0,0003	2.65 (0.54)	0,0158

 Table 4.2. General linear model analysis for the evaluation of associations between acute phase plasma and T-cell markers of immune activation and viral load set point.

Table 4.3. General linear model analysis for the evaluation of associations betweenacute phase plasma and T-cell markers of immune activation and CD4+ T-cell loss.

Variable	Unadjusted analysis		Adjusted analysis Plasma + T-cell markers (n=12)	
	Effect estimate (SE)	p-value	Effect estimate (SE)	p-value
PD-1	0.14 (0.10)	0,1827	0.23 (0.06)	0,029
CD95	0.02 (0.07)	0,7693	-0.05 (0.06)	0,4208
IL12p70	2.19 (3.22)	0,5041	2.69 (1.27)	0,1236
TNF-α	-2.35 (4.85)	0,6337	-9.70 (1.36)	0,0057
IP-10	4.04 (5.55)	0,4761	-4.07 (1.60)	0,0839
IL-10	3.28 (4.95)	0,5159	-21.79 (4.50)	0,0168

4.6. Plasma cytokine concentrations alone predict viral load set point

To assess the coupled impact of cellular expression markers and cytokines measured during acute HIV-1 infection on viral load, a general linear model was fitted to viral set point and the model was adjusted for both variables. Only 12 individuals could be included in this analysis (i.e., had both cytokine and T-cell surface expression data). Four cytokines (IL-12p70, TNF- α , IL-10 and IP-10) and cellular expression markers (CD38, PD-1 and CD95) were incorporated into this model, each of which was significantly associated with viral load set point in the unadjusted models. Higher levels of IL-12p70 were significantly associated with a lower viral load set point – with every one log increase in IL-12p70, viral set point decreased by 0.62 log copies/ml (p=0.0259) (Table 4.2). High expression levels of IP-10 and IL-10 were significantly associated with an increase in viral set point (p=0.0242 and p=0.0158, respectively). After adjusting the model, none of the cellular expression markers came up as significantly associated with viral set point, however the small sample size may have been a limitation in this analysis.

4.7. Variables predicting the rate of CD4+ T-cell decline

A general linear model was used to determine the effect of plasma and T-cell markers of immune activation measured during acute HIV-1 infection and on the rate CD4+ T-cell decline (Table 4.3). When the model was adjusted for plasma and T-cell markers of immune activation associated with viral load set point in the univariate analysis, PD-1 expression on CD8+ T-cells was significantly associated with CD4+ T-cell preservation (p=0.029). Plasma concentrations of IL-

10 and TNF- α were significantly associated with a decline in CD4+ T-cell counts (p=0.0057 and p=0.0168, respectively), a notable but not significant trend for IP-10 expression and lower CD4+ T-cell counts was also observed (p=0.083). We observed no associations between the expression of the various markers on CD4+ T-cells and the rate of CD4+ decline.

5. Discussion:

Immune activation during HIV infection has been shown to be a major contributor to HIV disease progression and is the product of inflammatory responses to HIV-1 antigens, microbial translocation, HIV-encoded Toll-like receptor ligands, and the homeostatic response to CD4+T-cell depletion (Deeks et al., 2004, Brenchley et al., 2006b, Meier et al., 2007). Although the contribution of immune activation in HIV disease pathogenesis has been extensively evaluated in chronic HIV infection, its role in primary infection remains poorly defined. Moreover, the impact of cytokine and chemokine expression patterns on the quality of the CD8+ T-cell responses during acute HIV-1 infection is not well understood. One of the main findings of this study is that the breadth and magnitude of the acute CD8+ T-cell response was inversely correlated with plasma MIP-1 β . It is noteworthy to mention that the acute CD8+ T-cell response was dominated by Nef-specific responses and although we cannot ascertain the type of cells which where responsible for the secretion of this chemokine, these findings are in line with a recent report from Turk et al. (2013) showing that Nef-specific cells inversely correlated with plasma MIP-1β. These data are of importance, since MIP-1 β is produced by CD8+ T-cells upon stimulation and the percentage of cells expressing MIP-1 β alone or in combination with other functions have been previously associated with virus control and inhibition (Ferrari et al., 2011, Betts et al., 2006, Freel et al., 2010, Saunders et al., 2011). Previous studies have also demonstrated that MIP-1βproducing CD8+ T-cells exert considerable immune pressure over viral replication

(Ferrari et al., 2011, Almeida et al., 2009). It is intriguing that there exists an inverse association between this important soluble antiviral mediator and the acute CD8+ T-cell responses. Given that MIP-1 β has been identified as a key determinant of protective immunity, our current findings are in line with earlier reports (Chapters 2 and 3), which indicate that early Nef CD8+ T-cell may be ineffective and are related to higher viral loads. These data provide some rationale for the association between early Nef responses and viremia. It could also be that the MIP-1 β measured in plasma is not necessarily expressed by HIVspecific CD8+ T-cells but rather a product of bystander activated cells. Thus, MIP-1 β in plasma may not reflect the potency of the HIV-specific immune response but just generalized immune activation. Further investigations will be needed to determine the nature of the relationship between acute Nef-specific responses and MIP-1 β -production, the lack of expression of this key chemokine may be related to the generation of an ineffective antiviral immune response leading to faster disease progression.

We show that plasma pro-inflammatory TNF-α levels were directly associated with rapid CD4+ T-cell loss and higher IP-10 levels were significantly associated with higher HIV viral loads and rapid CD4+ T-cell loss. Recently, IP-10 was shown to be the only cytokine among the 26 cytokines tested that was always positively correlated with disease progression during Fiebig stages III-V in HIV-1 infection (Liovat et al., 2012, Jiao et al., 2012). The strong predictive capacity of IP-10 was confirmed in an independent group of 88 HIV-1 infected individuals where plasma IP-10 levels were an earlier marker with strong predictive value for

disease progression (Liovat et al., 2012). Widespread acute-phase CD4+ T-cell destruction is a hallmark of pathogenic immunodeficiency virus infections in humans and primates, and cytokines induced in acute HIV infection may contribute to the high levels of CD4+ T-cell loss that occurs at this time (Klein et al., 1996, Gasper-Smith et al., 2008). Although the apoptosis of HIV-infected CD4+ T-cells may restrict viral spread, cytokines may also drive the destruction of bystander uninfected CD4+ T-cells (Gasper-Smith et al., 2008). The upregulation of TNF- α in acute/early HIV-1 infection is thought to drive apoptosis through binding to cellular TNF receptors (Klein et al., 1996, Gasper-Smith et al., 2008). This is supported by the observation that peak plasma levels of apoptotic microparticles, TNFR2, and Fas ligand were observed at the time of maximal TNF- α when viremia was also at its peak (Gasper-Smith et al., 2008).

Previous studies have demonstrated that HIV-infected patients have significantly higher circulating IL-10 levels than healthy controls, with the highest levels in patients with a high viral load and a more rapid disease progression (Stylianou et al., 1999, Brockman et al., 2009, Srikanth et al., 2000, Roberts et al., 2010). Similarly, we report that high plasma immunoregulatory IL-10 levels were significantly associated with higher HIV viral load and rapid CD4+ T-cell loss. Data from HIV-1 and SIVmac infections have demonstrated that IL-10 is induced after the first burst of pro-inflammatory cytokines, possibly to dampen the acute "cytokine storm" (Kornfeld et al., 2005, Katsikis et al., 2011, Stacey et al., 2009). Production of this anti-inflammatory cytokine might participate in disease progression by inhibiting HIV-1-specific T-cell responses during acute infection

and thus contribute to viral persistence (Couper et al., 2008, Estes et al., 2006, Brooks et al., 2008, Brooks et al., 2006). However, the role of IL-10 in HIV-1 infection is complex as other studies have also shown that polymorphisms associated with decreased IL-10 production are associated with an increased likelihood of HIV-1 acquisition and an accelerated rate of CD4⁺ T cell decline, particularly in late-stage disease, suggesting that high IL-10 expression may reduce susceptibility to HIV-1 infection and protect against disease progression (Erikstrup et al., 2007, Naicker et al., 2009, Shin et al., 2000). Based on our findings, we hypothesize that high CD4+ T-cell loss rates and viral loads observed in individuals with higher levels of IL-10 may be the result of a stunted adaptive immune immunosuppression allows response or that viruses to persist unchecked by the immune system.

We found that higher concentrations of IL-12p70 associated with lower viral set point. Our findings corroborate prior work describing the role of IL-12p70 in delaying HIV-1 disease progression (Roberts et al., 2010). In the macaque model of SIV infection, IL-12p70 treatment during acute infection was associated with decreased viral loads, preservation of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cells and survival (Ansari et al., 2002) and data from *in vitro* studies also suggest that IL-12 can restore HIV-specific cell-mediated immunity in HIV-infected individuals (Clerici et al., 1993).

Expression of the inhibitory marker PD-1 is known to play an important role in resolving immune activation and T-cell proliferation (Sharpe et al., 2007, Keir et al., 2007, Estes et al., 2008, Freeman et al., 2000, Day et al., 2006). We show in

this study that early elevation of PD-1 expression correlated directly with preservation of CD4+ T-cells. Our results are in line with a report from an SIV study, which demonstrated that the early upregulation of PD-1 is associated with the resolution of immune activation and slower disease progression (Estes et al., 2008). The study suggested that decreased immune activation mediated by early PD-1 expression in sooty Mangabeys may represent an important cause for the lower viral set point levels compared with rhesus macaques (Estes et al., 2008). In this study, we hypothesize that early activation of PD-1 expression may lower immune activation during acute infection and therefore attenuate the immunopathogenic effects driven by persistent immune activation such as CD4+ T-cell loss. The delayed induction of PD-1 possibly fails to diminish T-cell activation after the acute window of infection, resulting in sustained activation and dysfunction seen in chronic HIV-1 infection (Estes et al., 2008, Zhang et al., 2007, Day et al., 2006, Trautmann et al., 2006). Our findings suggest that early control of immune activation by host immunoregulatory mechanisms may be a determinant of disease outcomes. Although progression of HIV-1 infection in terms of CD4+ T-cell decline, has been correlated to PD-1 T-cell subsets in chronic infection (Liovat et al., 2012, Palmer et al., 2013), to our knowledge, this is the first time this association has been described in primary HIV-1 infection.

6. Conclusion

In summary, the impact of acute phase immune activation and plasma cytokine levels were characterized and an association of these factors with the magnitude and breadth of CD8+ T-cell responses was studied. We showed that acute phase expression of MIB-1 β was inversely associated with the magnitude and breadth of acute CD8+ T-cell responses. We also demonstrate the potential to use plasma cytokine concentrations and estimates of T-cell dysfunction during acute HIV-1 infection to predict subsequent disease progression. Early IL-10, IP-10 and IL-12p70 levels were more predictive of viral load set point than either CD38 and PD-1 expression or CD4+ T-cell counts and IL-10, IP-10 and PD-1 expression levels also correlated with CD4+T-cell loss. The role of these markers as an early independent predictor of rapid disease progression was detected here despite the relatively small number of subjects evaluated, supporting their predictive strength. These data suggest that high levels of antigenaemia in early HIV-1 infection are associated with immune regulatory signals mediated through and/or by these biomarkers and thus limit or impair the ability of HIV-specific cellular immune responses to effectively control viraemia to a low set point. In addition to or in combination with canonical parameters, novel early biomarkers, which are indicative of early immune dysfunction and are also predictive of subsequent HIV disease prognosis, may inform approaches for evaluating the ability of therapeutic HIV vaccines to control HIV infection.

Chapter 5 : General Discussion and Future

Directions

1. Discussion and Future Directions

Three decades since research of the development of a vaccine to prevent or control HIV-1 infection began and despite strong optimism from some, definitive evidence that a robustly protective vaccine can be made is still lacking (Schiffner et al., 2013). HIV is currently the most studied and most understood virus that has affected humankind and we have seen many advances in the field of HIV-1 immunology and virology. Recent advances in the understanding of the kinetics and quality of early immune responses to HIV-1 have emphasized the importance of events in early infection as determinants of the subsequent disease course (McMichael et al., 2010). The acute phase, which includes the eclipse phase before viremia is detected and the viremic phase before viral load set-point is reached, is crucial for target T-cell availability, seeding of latent reservoirs, and the initiation and expansion of antiviral immune responses by the host (Katsikis et al., 2011). The appreciation of the role of acute-phase immune events in HIV pathogenesis highlights the need for vaccine-associated immune responses to intervene during the earliest stages of infection in order to modulate these critical events.

The key role of CD8+ T-cells in the initial control of HIV-1 replication is a concept that has stood the test of time and multiple lines of evidence support the importance of virus-specific CD8+ T-cells in control of HIV replication. The induction of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses in primary infection is temporally associated with containment of the acute viremia and the depletion of CD8+ Tcells from simian SIV-infected macaques impairs control of viremia. In addition, strong HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell responses are sustained in elite controllers and the emergence of viral variants able to escape recognition by epitope-specific CD8+ T-cell responses in both HIV-1 and SIV illustrates the selective pressure exerted by CD8+ T-cells on viral replication *in vivo* (Walker and McMichael, 2012, McMichael et al., 2010). However, the correlates of immune protection against HIV-1 infection remain incompletely understood mainly because induction of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses in natural infection does not result in protective immunity or complete control but results in a lifelong infection, which in the absence of antiretroviral therapy, may lead to AIDS and death (Garber and Feinberg, 2006). The development of an efficacious vaccine will be facilitated by knowing the type of immune responses that will be protective against infection and/or disease progression (Plotkin, 2013). Indeed, knowledge on the precise functional profile of CD8+ T-cells that might lead to permanent control of HIV-1, or prevention of disseminated infection is still lacking.

We aimed to characterize CD8+ T-cell responses measured during acute and primary HIV-1 infection and assess their role in the control of HIV-1 infection in subtype C infected, antiretroviral naive subjects from 4 weeks up to 52 weeks post infection. The impact of acute phase cytokine expression and immune activation on disease progression was also assessed. Our findings are summarized below and depicted in Figure 5.1, a number of recommendations for future research are also given.





Figure 5.1 Schematic diagram summarising the main findings of the current study. (A) The proposed model of control of viral replication or slow disease progression is associated with the acute phase expression of IL-12p70 and high early expression of PD-1 on CD8+ T cells that subsequently resolves; the preservation of CD4+ T-cells and induction of broad and persistent Gag-specific effector and central memory CD8+ T-cell responses; (B) Lack of control of viral replication or rapid disease progression is associated with the acute phase expression of IL-10, IP-10, TNF- α and the rapid loss of CD4+ T-cells; the majority of the epitopes targeted in primary infection are within Nef, Gag-specific CD8+ T-cell responses are narrow and do not persist, and PD-1 expression kinetics on CD8+ T cells are slow and fail to resolve following acute viremia.

2. The acute CD8+ T-cell response and HIV-1 dynamics

Earlier studies have demonstrated the presence of HIV-1 specific CD8+ T-cells with limited breadth during acute HIV-1 infection and our study confirms this. Our data corroborate findings from a clade C cohort demonstrating that the magnitude and breadth of IFN- γ ELISPOT assay responses measured within 3 months post-infection are unrelated to the course of disease in the first year of infection and have low predictive power for the viral set point (Gray et al., 2009). Also consistent with previous reports, during the first weeks of infection Nef protein was most frequently recognized by CD8+ T-cells and was the target for the earliest response (Frahm et al., 2004, Lichterfeld et al., 2004b). The initial HIV-1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses which are narrowly directed against a few epitopes have been shown to suppress HIV-1 as viral load is declining from its peak (Goonetilleke et al., 2009). In contrast, acute Nef-specific responses were not associated with control of viremia from its acute phase peak suggesting that CD8+ T-cells targeting Nef during acute HIV-1 infection are ineffective. In fact, we observed that an increase in the magnitude and breadth of Nef-specific CD8+ T-cell responses was associated with higher viral loads during acute and primary infection. We also found no correlation between the presence of acute phase Tcell responses targeting all other regions of the HIV-1 proteome and the concurrent decline in viremia. In addition, CD8+ T-cell responses measured within the first 18 weeks of HIV-1 infection and their immunodominance patterns did not have a significant demonstrable impact on viral load set point.

3. Acute Nef-specific CD8+ T-cell responses: the good and the bad

Our findings that Nef-specific CD8+ T-cell responses were dominant but did not suppress viral replication during and after acute infection are similar to findings from other studies (Turk et al., 2013, De La Cruz et al., 2014, Novitsky et al., 2003), but are also in contrast with recent data from Riou et al. (2014) and Adland et al. (2013) which show a correlation between Nef-specific CD8+ T-cells and a lower levels of viral replication (Riou et al., 2014, Adland et al., 2013). Similarly, SIV studies have also yielded conflicting results as shown by a recent study which revealed that vaccine-induced Nef-specific T-cells failed to control viremia and easily escaped during acute infection (Iwamoto et al., 2014), whilst results from a recent SIV-macaque vaccine study suggest that Nef-specific CD8+ T-cell responses have an important contribution in the control of viremia (Takahashi et al., 2013). Nef has been shown to exhibit a variety of *in vitro* functions that may modulate pathogenesis, including HLA class I down-regulation (Schwartz et al., 1996), CD4+ T-cell down-regulation (Garcia and Miller, 1991), enhancement of virion infectivity (Munch et al., 2007) and stimulation of viral replication in PBMC (Miller et al., 1994). Although the Nef protein is variable overall, its central region is as conserved as that of Gag (Fischer et al., 2006) and the conflicting reports on the role of Nef in HIV-1 infection may be attributed to the different targets of CD8+ T-cell responses within the Nef region, where CD8+ T-cell responses implicated in reducing early viremia are directed against more conserved functional domains that promote viral persistence in vivo, such those for MHC class I downregulation (Adland et al., 2013, Mothe et al., 2011, De La Cruz et al., 2014, Mwimanzi et al., 2013).

There is enough data from acute HIV-1 and nonhuman primate vaccine studies that clearly suggest that Nef-specific CD8+ T-cell responses have the potential to significantly control viral replication. Although limited by the number of subjects in our cohort, our data suggest that even though epitopes in Nef are highly immunogenic as well as immunodominant during acute HIV-1 infection, using the whole Nef protein as a vaccine immunogen may likely lead to targeting of T-cell responses that are rapidly lost or escape with little effect on the course of disease progression. Thus further studies should aim to characterize CD8+ T-cell epitopes within conserved regions of Nef. likely representing important functional domains. Epitopes within these conserved regions may eventually be used as immunogens in future vaccines.

4. Viral load kinetics mirror evolving Gag CD8+ T-cell responses

Consistent with previous studies, there was a broadening of the T-cell immune response within the follow up period. Similar to reports from elite controller SIV and HIV-1 studies, the broadening and preservation of Gag–specific T-cell responses during the follow up period was associated with better control of viremia and lower viral load set point (Turk et al., 2013, Perez et al., 2013, Zuniga et al., 2006, Geldmacher et al., 2007, Kiepiela et al., 2007, Masemola et al., 2004a, Streeck et al., 2009b, Schieffer et al., 2014, Rolland et al., 2008, Honeyborne et al., 2007, Borghans et al., 2007). Interestingly, insights have recently emerged from the STEP trial showing that vaccine recipients with T-cell responses targeting three or more Gag epitopes pre-infection showed

significantly lower plasma viremia compared to subjects without Gag responses following infection, thus further confirming the role of Gag responses in controlling viremia (Janes et al., 2013).

During the 52 week follow up period we also observed that although many of the acute/early HIV-1-specific IFN-γ ELISPOT CD8+ T-cell responses targeting Gag and Pol persisted, the majority of acute and early T-cell responses targeting Env, Nef and other regulatory proteins waxed and waned over time and could not be detected at the last time point evaluated. Indeed, although the earliest T-cell responses against epitopes in Gag and Pol were subdominant in relation to Nef (fewer than the epitopes targeted in Nef), many of these responses were maintained during the first year of infection. Our findings are in line with reports from studies showing that targeting of dominant epitopes within highly variable regions of the HIV-1 proteome often result in rapid escape and limited fitness cost to the virus, although we could not directly confirm this in this study because Nef was not sequenced. However, in T-cells targeting more conserved and fitness constrained HIV-1 regions escape is slow and although these conserved epitopes are targeted in acute infection, responses are often subdominant (Liu et al., 2009b, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Mlotshwa et al., 2010, Martinez-Picado et al., 2006, Schneidewind et al., 2007, Liu et al., 2013). Although many of the persistent responses targeted epitopes in Pol, these responses did not have a significant impact on viral load set point. However, the preservation of an acute CD8+ T-cell response against even a single epitope in Gag had a demonstrable impact on viral load set point.

Interestingly, some of the early T-cell responses which where no longer detectable when using overnight ELISPOT assay were detectable when PBMCs were stimulated with corresponding peptides and cultured for 10 days before measuring IFN-γ secretion via the ELISPOT assay. The presence of these cultured ELISPOT central memory type T-cell responses targeting epitopes in Pol, Env, Nef, Regulatory and Accessory proteins were not significantly associated with viral set point. However, cultured ELISPOT Gag-specific responses correlated with low plasma viremia, thus further providing evidence on the favourable role of Gag-specific T-cell responses in the control of viral replication. This is in line with earlier studies conducted in human and non-human models demonstrating that central memory cells are critical determinants of cytotoxicity in HIV and other infectious diseases (Migueles et al., 2008, Calarota et al., 2008, Ndhlovu et al., 2012).

When we sequenced Gag in order to assess the impact of T-cell responses on the viral landscape, our results revealed that the majority of epitopes that stimulated T-cell responses remained invariant over the first year after infection, consistent with data from previous studies (Liu et al., 2013, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Mlotshwa et al., 2010). Although the contribution of T-cells specific for epitopes that did not mutate over the first year of infection is hard to assess, the significant negative association between the breadth of responses against these invariant epitopes and viral load set point suggests that these responses are important. Moreover, these data are consistent with the observation that invariant epitopes occurring in conserved regions of HIV-1 (mainly Gag) are rare

during the first year of infection since escape mutations might have too great a fitness cost for the virus.

In order to decrease the incidence of HIV acquisition after sexual exposure and/or to contain virus replication at an initial site of infection, an effective AIDS vaccine will most likely need to elicit high levels of fully functional T-cell precursors that migrate to relevant mucosal tissues and are also competent to respond to HIV infection and expand into effector cells more rapidly than occurs in natural HIV infection (Garber and Feinberg, 2006, Blankson et al., 2002, Reynolds et al., 2005). Our data suggest that in order to combat viral replication more rapidly than occurs in natural infection, HIV vaccines would need to induce greater breadth of CD8+ T-cell responses which can recognize numerous Gag epitopes resulting in lower levels of viremia and a slower disease progression. In a recent study, monkeys were vaccinated with replicating RhCMV vectors before challenge with SIV and the breadth of responses to Gag epitopes were strongly associated with the striking control of SIV observed in 50% of the challenged monkeys, an effect attributed to the robust CD8+T-cell responses that was induced by the vaccine since SIV specific antibody responses were weak with no neutralization activity (Hansen et al., 2013). It is noteworthy to point out that this RhCMV vaccine did not include Env as an immunogen and thus, the protection could not have been mediated by anti-Env antibodies. However, one of the hurdles limiting the success of CD8+ T-cell responses is the tendency for HIV to evade these responses through sequence evolution (Price et al., 1997, Goulder et al., 1997a, Reece et al., 2013, Mudd et al., 2012). Studies have illustrated that vaccinations can alter immune targets patterns (Vogel et al., 2002, Rodriguez et al., 2002, Hansen et al., 2013), thus vaccine approaches that can re-direct CD8+ T-cell responses to focus on particular conserved epitopes with high fitness costs following escape should be considered. Although effector T-cell responses may be necessary to circumvent the rapid spread and the establishment of viral reservoirs during acute infection, our data also suggest that generation and maintenance of a substantial Gag-specific central memory pool is still desirable for viral control. The pivotal role of central memory responses in the control of viral replication have been validated in an SIV vaccine study which demonstrated that vaccine-induced virus-specific CD8+ central memory T-cell responses, not the CD8+ effector T-cell response inversely correlated with the level of SIVmac251 replication, (Vaccari et al., 2005). Thus in conjunction with the induction of Gag-specific effector T-cell responses, vaccination regimens should also be focused on programming and maintaining Gag-specific central memory CD8+ T-cells able to expand adequately upon virus encounter.

Robust Gag-specific CD8+ T-cell responses have been shown to control viral replication and reduce or abort disease in non-human primate models, however, it is still unclear whether CD8+ T-cells can actually eliminate an established infection completely in the HIV-1 model (Liu et al., 2009a, Buchbinder et al., 2008, Hansen et al., 2009, Hansen et al., 2011, Hansen et al., 2013). Nonetheless, a non-sterilizing vaccine may be beneficial as reductions in set point viral loads will provide benefit to an infected individual by slowing down the rate of disease progression while simultaneously reducing the probability of

transmitting the infection to others, and thus provide the additional benefit of reducing infection at the population level (Mellors et al., 1995, Gray et al., 2001).

5. Impact of acute immune activation on HIV-1 disease progression

We show that three cytokines IL-10, IP-10 and IL-12 were associated with changes in viral load set point and/or CD4+ T-cell dynamics during the first year of HIV-1 infection. Both human and non-human primate studies suggest that cytokine profiles during acute infection impact viral set point and disease progression (Ansari et al., 2002, Mueller et al., 2008, Campillo-Gimenez et al., 2010, Roberts et al., 2010, Stacey et al., 2009). The notion that disease progression can be influenced by cytokines during acute HIV-1 infection is intriguing and raises the question of whether cytokines expressed during acute HIV infection can be targeted through vaccination or immunotherapeutics to alter viral set point or to preserve CD4+ T-cells. The rationale for HIV-1-specific therapeutic vaccines stems from the observation that the severe immune deficiency caused by HIV-1 infection is related to the levels of immune dysfunction or immune activation seen in HIV-1 infection (Autran et al., 2004). These immunotherapeutic vaccines thus aim to augment a host's immune response to HIV-1 so that viral proliferation and immune damage is slowed or blocked (Ha et al., 2008, MacGregor et al., 1998, Autran et al., 2004). There is also the anticipation that any immune response to a therapeutic vaccine strong enough to control established infection would also be effective in preventing initial infection in HIV-naive subjects (Autran et al., 2004). It has been proposed

that one of the reasons that current therapeutic vaccination strategies fail to sustain or resurrect T-cell responses is because they do not improve the immunosuppressive environment which may be the result of increased levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 (Brooks et al., 2008).

Cytokines provide one of the most targeted factors used to investigate alterations of viral kinetics, the recruitment of viral targets, and the development of anti-viral immunity (Katsikis et al., 2011). Blocking key suppressive factors such as IL-10 could allow immune-mediated control of persistent viral infection and thus render ineffective vaccines more efficient at improving T-cell immunity (Brooks et al., 2008). Indeed, interventional studies to block IL-10/IL-10R α have been proposed as a potential adjuvant to vaccination regimens or as a strategy to enhance underlying immunity in chronic viral infections, such as HIV (Blackburn and Wherry, 2007, Brooks et al., 2008). Similarly, IL-12 administration in rhesus macagues acutely infected with SIV lowered viral set point by 100fold and also slowed disease progression (Ansari et al., 2002) and in vitro and in vivo responses to IL-12 are usually maintained during late SIV infection (Villinger et al., 2000, Watanabe et al., 1998). Based on the current findings, we hypothesize that the use of cytokine adjuvants for therapeutic vaccines during acute HIV infection may boost HIV-specific immune responses or imprint an immune response, which would alter viral load set point in the host whilst preserving CD4+ T-cells.

HIV-1 infection is associated with chronic immune activation ultimately resulting in the functional exhaustion of T-cells and this defect in responding T-cells is linked to the inability of the host to eliminate the persisting pathogen (Wherry et al., 2003). Exhausted virus-specific CD8+T-cells up-regulate PD-1 expression during chronic HIV-1 infection and this expression correlates with viral load in blood plasma of HIV-infected patients. However, we show that the activation of this PD-1 inhibitory pathway in acute HIV-1 infection is associated with a slower disease progression and this may due to the inhibitory impact of PD-1 on the detrimental effects of immune activation (Estes et al., 2008). Ha et al. (2008) have suggested the use of therapeutic vaccination strategies, in combination with blockade of the PD-1 pathway as treatment for chronic HIV-1 infection. Although we are limited by the small sample size, our data suggest that using this immunotherapeutic two-pronged approach during acute HIV-1 infection would require activation of the PD-1 inhibitory pathway in order to dampen early immune activation. This may possibly lead to the containment of the spread of virus thus limiting its pathogenic effect on CD4+ T-cells resulting in enhanced viral clearance and a less rapid disease progression.

6. Future directions

Despite the hurdles that HIV presents to vaccine development, the historic success of vaccines for other pathogens argue that HIV vaccine research must be continued and accelerated (Plotkin, 2009). T-cell vaccine approaches to HIV have dominated much of the vaccine research agenda over the last decade mainly because there is an abundance of data from HIV-infected individuals indicating that CD8+ T-cells are key in viral control and also because of the inability to stimulate broad neutralizing antibodies through vaccination. However, evidence from many other vaccine-preventable infectious diseases demonstrates that although antibody titers correlate with protection from infection, CD8+ T-cell-mediated immune responses are essential for protection against disease suggesting that a dual approach is still warranted in HIV-1 vaccine development (Plotkin, 2013, Plotkin, 2010, Schiffner et al., 2013).

Despite the extensive characterization of CD8+ T-cell responses induced during acute and chronic HIV infection, there still remains a general lack of consensus regarding the association of these responses with effective control of virus replication and in fact a clear "correlate of immunity" based on any existing CD8+ T-cell measurements is still lacking (Ogg et al., 1998, Addo et al., 2003, Betts et al., 2001, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Gray et al., 2009). Although the reasons for this have been deemed as multifaceted, others attribute this to limitations of the most commonly employed ex-vivo cytokine-production assays mainly the ELISPOT (used in the current study) (Wilson et al., 2000, Gray et al., 2009). Currently, interferon-y ELISPOT assays rank among the most validated assays for HIV-1 vaccine trials because of ease of reproducibility, high sensitivity and quantitative precision in mapping the targeting and magnitude of CD8+ T-cell responses particularly in samples with low-frequency responses (Dubey et al., 2007, Fu et al., 2007, Valentine and Watkins, 2008, Saade et al., 2012). The major limitation of ELISPOT is that it does not provide information on the phenotype of the responding T-cell or its antiviral function and properties (Yang, 2003, Valentine et al., 2008, Ogg et al., 1998, Addo et al., 2003, Betts et al., 2001, Goonetilleke et al., 2009, Gray et al., 2009). Future studies should pay greater attention on qualitative features of CD8+ T-cell responses and the qualitative features most closely associated with immunologic control of HIV, such as the ability of HIV-specific CD8+ T-cells to increase their contents of proteins known to mediate cytotoxicity appears to be a critical means by which HIV-specific cytotoxic capacity is regulated (Wherry et al., 2005, Migueles et al., 2002, Migueles et al., 2008).

One of the findings in this study is that the immune response is narrowly directed during acute HIV infection. An effective vaccine would need to stimulate a broad CD8+ T-cell response to multiple epitopes that are highly conserved and to common variants of the founder virus epitope sequence as this would limit escape options (McMichael et al., 2010). Thus future studies should also aim to establish mechanisms responsible for the narrow CD8+ T-cell immune response during acute HIV-1 infection. The relevance of immune activation pathways and acute phase cytokines in directing or influencing T-cell signalling pathways and responsiveness should also be investigated. Answers to these questions may enable better vaccine design and immune measurement assays, which could significantly advance the field.

The initial analysis of the STEP trial showed that neither protection against infection nor control of initial viraemia despite the presence of vaccine-induced T-cell responses (Buchbinder et al., 2008, McElrath et al., 2008). However, more recent reports show that individuals with 3 or more Gag-specific responses have lower viral loads (Janes et al., 2013). These data provide much-needed momentum for the development of new approaches and for rigorous reevaluation of current approaches. Based on our findings and reports from others, what appears to be the logical direction that vaccine research should follow is the application of modalities designed to stimulate effector memory and central memory CD8+ T-cells, which differ in quality, quantity, phenotype, breadth, from the vaccines tested previously, for which multiple approaches are available. In order to identify the precise immunological correlates of protection an immunological portfolio comprised of a multi-faceted evaluation, rather than relying on the measurement of IFN-y secretion should be generated for the evaluation of vaccine efficacy.

Future studies should also focus on elucidating the complex interactions between HIV-1 and cytokines expressed in the host during acute HIV-1 infection in order to more accurately predict the effect of the cytokine interventions as vaccine adjuvants. Moreover, the cell types and tissues expressing these cytokines and antigens responsible for triggering these cytokines will have to be identified. In-depth understanding of immune activation and exhaustion

pathways during acute HIV-1 infection is also much needed as this may help uncover additional pathways critical for control of viral replication. Finally, understanding kinetics of cytokines such as IL-10 or the underlying mechanisms of PD-1 expression and regulation, and how these biomarkers affect the quality and quantity of T-cell responses, may not only provide fundamental insight into the poorly understood mechanisms that control viral replication but may also inform the development of novel immunotherapeutics or vaccine adjuvants against HIV.

- ADDO, M. M., DRAENERT, R., RATHOD, A., VERRILL, C. L., DAVIS, B. T., GANDHI, R. T., ROBBINS, G. K., BASGOZ, N. O., STONE, D. R., COHEN, D. E., JOHNSTON, M. N., FLYNN, T., WURCEL, A. G., ROSENBERG, E. S., ALTFELD, M. & WALKER, B. D. 2007. Fully differentiated HIV-1 specific CD8+ T effector cells are more frequently detectable in controlled than in progressive HIV-1 infection. *PLoS One*, 2, e321.
- ADDO, M. M., YU, X. G., RATHOD, A., COHEN, D., ELDRIDGE, R. L., STRICK, D., JOHNSTON, M. N., CORCORAN, C., WURCEL, A. G., FITZPATRICK, C. A., FEENEY, M. E., RODRIGUEZ, W. R., BASGOZ, N., DRAENERT, R., STONE, D. R., BRANDER, C., GOULDER, P. J., ROSENBERG, E. S., ALTFELD, M. & WALKER, B. D. 2003. Comprehensive epitope analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific T-cell responses directed against the entire expressed HIV-1 genome demonstrate broadly directed responses, but no correlation to viral load. J Virol, 77, 2081-92.
- 3. ADLAND, E., CARLSON, J. M., PAIONI, P., KLØVERPRIS, H., SHAPIRO, R., OGWU, A., RIDDELL, L., LUZZI, G., CHEN, F. & BALACHANDRAN, T. 2013. Nef-specific CD8+ T cell responses contribute to HIV-1 immune control. *PloS one*, *8*, e73117.
- ALAM, S. M., SCEARCE, R. M., PARKS, R. J., PLONK, K., PLONK, S. G., SUTHERLAND, L. L., GORNY, M. K., ZOLLA-PAZNER, S., VANLEEUWEN, S., MOODY, M. A., XIA, S. M., MONTEFIORI, D. C., TOMARAS, G. D., WEINHOLD, K. J., KARIM, S. A., HICKS, C. B., LIAO, H. X., ROBINSON, J., SHAW, G. M. & HAYNES, B. F. 2008. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 antibodies that mask membrane proximal region epitopes: antibody binding kinetics, induction, and potential for regulation in acute infection. J Virol, 82, 115-25.
- ALLEN, T. M., ALTFELD, M., GEER, S. C., KALIFE, E. T., MOORE, C., O'SULLIVAN K, M., DESOUZA, I., FEENEY, M. E., ELDRIDGE, R. L., MAIER, E. L., KAUFMANN, D. E., LAHAIE, M. P., REYOR, L., TANZI, G., JOHNSTON, M. N., BRANDER, C., DRAENERT, R., ROCKSTROH, J. K., JESSEN, H., ROSENBERG, E. S., MALLAL, S. A. & WALKER, B. D. 2005. Selective escape from CD8+ Tcell responses represents a major driving force of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) sequence diversity and reveals constraints on HIV-1 evolution. J Virol, 79, 13239-49.
- ALLEN, T. M., O'CONNOR, D. H., JING, P., DZURIS, J. L., MOTHE, B. R., VOGEL, T. U., DUNPHY, E., LIEBL, M. E., EMERSON, C., WILSON, N., KUNSTMAN, K. J., WANG, X., ALLISON, D. B., HUGHES, A. L., DESROSIERS, R. C., ALTMAN, J. D., WOLINSKY, S. M., SETTE, A. & WATKINS, D. I. 2000. Tat-

specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes select for SIV escape variants during resolution of primary viraemia. *Nature*, 407, 386-90.

- ALMEIDA, J. R., SAUCE, D., PRICE, D. A., PAPAGNO, L., SHIN, S. Y., MORIS, A., LARSEN, M., PANCINO, G., DOUEK, D. C., AUTRAN, B., SAEZ-CIRION, A. & APPAY, V. 2009. Antigen sensitivity is a major determinant of CD8+ T-cell polyfunctionality and HIV-suppressive activity. *Blood*, 113, 6351-60.
- 8. ALTER, G., MALENFANT, J. M., DELABRE, R. M., BURGETT, N. C., YU, X. G., LICHTERFELD, M., ZAUNDERS, J. & ALTFELD, M. 2004. Increased natural killer cell activity in viremic HIV-1 infection. *J Immunol*, 173, 5305-11.
- ALTER, G., MERCHANT, A., TSOUKAS, C. M., ROULEAU, D., LEBLANC, R. P., COTE, P., BARIL, J. G., THOMAS, R., NGUYEN, V. K., SEKALY, R. P., ROUTY, J. P. & BERNARD, N. F. 2002. Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-specific effector CD8 T cell activity in patients with primary HIV infection. J Infect Dis, 185, 755-65.
- ALTER, G., TEIGEN, N., AHERN, R., STREECK, H., MEIER, A., ROSENBERG, E. S. & ALTFELD, M. 2007. Evolution of innate and adaptive effector cell functions during acute HIV-1 infection. *J Infect Dis*, 195, 1452-60.
- ALTER, G., TEIGEN, N., DAVIS, B. T., ADDO, M. M., SUSCOVICH, T. J., WARING, M. T., STREECK, H., JOHNSTON, M. N., STALLER, K. D., ZAMAN, M. T., YU, X. G., LICHTERFELD, M., BASGOZ, N., ROSENBERG, E. S. & ALTFELD, M. 2005. Sequential deregulation of NK cell subset distribution and function starting in acute HIV-1 infection. *Blood*, 106, 3366-9.
- ALTFELD, M., ADDO, M. M., SHANKARAPPA, R., LEE, P. K., ALLEN, T. M., YU, X. G., RATHOD, A., HARLOW, J., O'SULLIVAN, K., JOHNSTON, M. N., GOULDER, P. J., MULLINS, J. I., ROSENBERG, E. S., BRANDER, C., KORBER, B. & WALKER, B. D. 2003. Enhanced detection of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific T-cell responses to highly variable regions by using peptides based on autologous virus sequences. *J Virol*, 77, 7330-40.
- ALTFELD, M., KALIFE, E. T., QI, Y., STREECK, H., LICHTERFELD, M., JOHNSTON, M. N., BURGETT, N., SWARTZ, M. E., YANG, A., ALTER, G., YU, X. G., MEIER, A., ROCKSTROH, J. K., ALLEN, T. M., JESSEN, H., ROSENBERG, E. S., CARRINGTON, M. & WALKER, B. D. 2006. HLA Alleles Associated with Delayed Progression to AIDS Contribute Strongly to the Initial CD8(+) T Cell Response against HIV-1. *PLoS Med*, 3, e403.
- ALTFELD, M., ROSENBERG, E. S., SHANKARAPPA, R., MUKHERJEE, J. S., HECHT, F. M., ELDRIDGE, R. L., ADDO, M. M., POON, S. H., PHILLIPS, M. N., ROBBINS, G. K., SAX, P. E., BOSWELL, S., KAHN, J. O., BRANDER, C., GOULDER, P. J., LEVY, J. A., MULLINS, J. I. & WALKER, B. D. 2001. Cellular immune responses and viral diversity in individuals treated during acute and early HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med, 193, 169-80.

- ALTFELD, M., VAN LUNZEN, J., FRAHM, N., YU, X. G., SCHNEIDER, C., ELDRIDGE, R. L., FEENEY, M. E., MEYER-OLSON, D., STELLBRINK, H. J. & WALKER, B. D. 2002. Expansion of pre-existing, lymph node-localized CD8+ T cells during supervised treatment interruptions in chronic HIV-1 infection. *J Clin Invest*, 109, 837-43.
- AMARA, R. R., VILLINGER, F., ALTMAN, J. D., LYDY, S. L., O'NEIL, S. P., STAPRANS, S. I., MONTEFIORI, D. C., XU, Y., HERNDON, J. G., WYATT, L. S., CANDIDO, M. A., KOZYR, N. L., EARL, P. L., SMITH, J. M., MA, H. L., GRIMM, B. D., HULSEY, M. L., MILLER, J., MCCLURE, H. M., MCNICHOLL, J. M., MOSS, B. & ROBINSON, H. L. 2001. Control of a mucosal challenge and prevention of AIDS by a multiprotein DNA/MVA vaccine. *Science*, 292, 69-74.
- 17. ANDERSON, J. L. & HOPE, T. J. 2008. APOBEC3G restricts early HIV-1 replication in the cytoplasm of target cells. *Virology*, 375, 1-12.
- 18. ANDREWS, C. A. & KOUP, R. A. 1996. The immunopathology of HIV infection. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 37 Suppl B, 13-25.
- ANSARI, A. A., MAYNE, A. E., SUNDSTROM, J. B., BOSTIK, P., GRIMM, B., ALTMAN, J. D. & VILLINGER, F. 2002. Administration of recombinant rhesus interleukin-12 during acute simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection leads to decreased viral loads associated with prolonged survival in SIVmac251-infected rhesus macaques. J Virol, 76, 1731-43.
- AUSIELLO, C. M., LA SALA, A., RAMONI, C., URBANI, F., FUNARO, A. & MALAVASI, F. 1996. Secretion of IFN-gamma, IL-6, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and IL-10 cytokines after activation of human purified T lymphocytes upon CD38 ligation. *Cellular Immunology*, 173, 192-7.
- 21. AUTRAN, B., CARCELAIN, G., COMBADIERE, B. & DEBRE, P. 2004. Therapeutic vaccines for chronic infections. *Science*, 305, 205-8.
- 22. BANCHEREAU, J., BRIERE, F., CAUX, C., DAVOUST, J., LEBECQUE, S., LIU, Y. J., PULENDRAN, B. & PALUCKA, K. 2000. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 18, 767-811.
- BAROUCH, D. H., LIU, J., LI, H., MAXFIELD, L. F., ABBINK, P., LYNCH, D. M., IAMPIETRO, M. J., SANMIGUEL, A., SEAMAN, M. S., FERRARI, G., FORTHAL, D. N., OURMANOV, I., HIRSCH, V. M., CARVILLE, A., MANSFIELD, K. G., STABLEIN, D., PAU, M. G., SCHUITEMAKER, H., SADOFF, J. C., BILLINGS, E. A., RAO, M., ROBB, M. L., KIM, J. H., MAROVICH, M. A., GOUDSMIT, J. & MICHAEL, N. L. 2012. Vaccine protection against acquisition of neutralization-resistant SIV challenges in rhesus monkeys. *Nature*, 482, 89-93.
- 24. BAROUCH, D. H., O'BRIEN, K. L., SIMMONS, N. L., KING, S. L., ABBINK, P., MAXFIELD, L. F., SUN, Y. H., LA PORTE, A., RIGGS, A. M., LYNCH, D. M.,

CLARK, S. L., BACKUS, K., PERRY, J. R., SEAMAN, M. S., CARVILLE, A., MANSFIELD, K. G., SZINGER, J. J., FISCHER, W., MULDOON, M. & KORBER, B. 2010. Mosaic HIV-1 vaccines expand the breadth and depth of cellular immune responses in rhesus monkeys. *Nat Med*, 16, 319-23.

- BAROUCH, D. H., SANTRA, S., KURODA, M. J., SCHMITZ, J. E., PLISHKA, R., BUCKLER-WHITE, A., GAITAN, A. E., ZIN, R., NAM, J. H., WYATT, L. S., LIFTON, M. A., NICKERSON, C. E., MOSS, B., MONTEFIORI, D. C., HIRSCH, V. M. & LETVIN, N. L. 2001. Reduction of simian-human immunodeficiency virus 89.6P viremia in rhesus monkeys by recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara vaccination. J Virol, 75, 5151-8.
- BAROUCH, D. H., SANTRA, S., SCHMITZ, J. E., KURODA, M. J., FU, T. M., WAGNER, W., BILSKA, M., CRAIU, A., ZHENG, X. X., KRIVULKA, G. R., BEAUDRY, K., LIFTON, M. A., NICKERSON, C. E., TRIGONA, W. L., PUNT, K., FREED, D. C., GUAN, L., DUBEY, S., CASIMIRO, D., SIMON, A., DAVIES, M. E., CHASTAIN, M., STROM, T. B., GELMAN, R. S., MONTEFIORI, D. C., LEWIS, M. G., EMINI, E. A., SHIVER, J. W. & LETVIN, N. L. 2000. Control of viremia and prevention of clinical AIDS in rhesus monkeys by cytokine-augmented DNA vaccination. *Science*, 290, 486-92.
- BAROUCH, D. H., STEPHENSON, K. E., BORDUCCHI, E. N., SMITH, K., STANLEY, K., MCNALLY, A. G., LIU, J., ABBINK, P., MAXFIELD, L. F., SEAMAN, M. S., DUGAST, A. S., ALTER, G., FERGUSON, M., LI, W., EARL, P. L., MOSS, B., GIORGI, E. E., SZINGER, J. J., ELLER, L. A., BILLINGS, E. A., RAO, M., TOVANABUTRA, S., SANDERS-BUELL, E., WEIJTENS, M., PAU, M. G., SCHUITEMAKER, H., ROBB, M. L., KIM, J. H., KORBER, B. T. & MICHAEL, N. L. 2013. Protective Efficacy of a Global HIV-1 Mosaic Vaccine against Heterologous SHIV Challenges in Rhesus Monkeys. *Cell*, 155, 531-9.
- BASSETT, I. V., CHETTY, S., GIDDY, J., REDDY, S., BISHOP, K., LU, Z., LOSINA, E., FREEDBERG, K. A. & WALENSKY, R. P. 2011. Screening for acute HIV infection in South Africa: finding acute and chronic disease. *HIV Med*, 12, 46-53.
- BEBELL, L. M., PASSMORE, J. A., WILLIAMSON, C., MLISANA, K., IRIOGBE, I., VAN LOGGERENBERG, F., KARIM, Q. A. & KARIM, S. A. 2008. Relationship between levels of inflammatory cytokines in the genital tract and CD4+ cell counts in women with acute HIV-1 infection. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 198, 710-4.
- BELLO, G., VELASCO-DE-CASTRO, C. A., BONGERTZ, V., RODRIGUES, C. A., GIACOIA-GRIPP, C. B., PILOTTO, J. H., GRINSZTEJN, B., VELOSO, V. G. & MORGADO, M. G. 2009. Immune activation and antibody responses in nonprogressing elite controller individuals infected with HIV-1. J Med Virol, 81, 1681-90.

- BERNARDIN, F., KONG, D., PEDDADA, L., BAXTER-LOWE, L. A. & DELWART, E. 2005. Human immunodeficiency virus mutations during the first month of infection are preferentially found in known cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitopes. J Virol, 79, 11523-8.
- BETTS, M. R., AMBROZAK, D. R., DOUEK, D. C., BONHOEFFER, S., BRENCHLEY, J. M., CASAZZA, J. P., KOUP, R. A. & PICKER, L. J. 2001. Analysis of total human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-specific CD4(+) and CD8(+) Tcell responses: relationship to viral load in untreated HIV infection. J Virol, 75, 11983-91.
- BETTS, M. R., NASON, M. C., WEST, S. M., DE ROSA, S. C., MIGUELES, S. A., ABRAHAM, J., LEDERMAN, M. M., BENITO, J. M., GOEPFERT, P. A., CONNORS, M., ROEDERER, M. & KOUP, R. A. 2006. HIV nonprogressors preferentially maintain highly functional HIV-specific CD8+ T cells. *Blood*, 107, 4781-9.
- 34. BIMBER, B. N., CHUGH, P., GIORGI, E. E., KIM, B., ALMUDEVAR, A. L., DEWHURST, S., O'CONNOR, D. H. & LEE, H. Y. 2009. Nef gene evolution from a single transmitted strain in acute SIV infection. *Retrovirology*, *6*, 57.
- 35. BIRON, C. A., NGUYEN, K. B., PIEN, G. C., COUSENS, L. P. & SALAZAR-MATHER, T. P. 1999. Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines. *Annu Rev Immunol*, **17**, 189-220.
- 36. BLAAK, H., BROUWER, M., RAN, L. J., DE WOLF, F. & SCHUITEMAKER, H. 1998. In vitro replication kinetics of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) variants in relation to virus load in long-term survivors of HIV-1 infection. *J Infect Dis*, 177, 600-10.
- 37. BLACKBURN, S. D. & WHERRY, E. J. 2007. IL-10, T cell exhaustion and viral persistence. *Trends Microbiol*, 15, 143-6.
- 38. BLANKSON, J. N. 2009. Effector mechanisms in HIV-1 infected elite controllers: Highly active immune responses? *Antiviral Res*.
- BLANKSON, J. N., BAILEY, J. R., THAYIL, S., YANG, H. C., LASSEN, K., LAI, J., GANDHI, S. K., SILICIANO, J. D., WILLIAMS, T. M. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2007. Isolation and characterization of replication-competent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 from a subset of elite suppressors. J Virol, 81, 2508-18.
- 40. BLANKSON, J. N., PERSAUD, D. & SILICIANO, R. F. 2002. The challenge of viral reservoirs in HIV-1 infection. *Annu Rev Med*, 53, 557-93.
- 41. BOASSO, A. & SHEARER, G. M. 2008. Chronic innate immune activation as a cause of HIV-1 immunopathogenesis. *Clinical Immunology*, 126, 235-42.

- 42. BORGHANS, J. A., MOLGAARD, A., DE BOER, R. J. & KESMIR, C. 2007. HLA alleles associated with slow progression to AIDS truly prefer to present HIV-1 p24. *PLoS One*, 2, e920.
- 43. BORROW, P. & BHARDWAJ, N. 2008. Innate immune responses in primary HIV-1 infection. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 3, 36-44.
- 44. BORROW, P., LEWICKI, H., HAHN, B. H., SHAW, G. M. & OLDSTONE, M. B. 1994. Virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J Virol*, 68, 6103-10.
- BORROW, P., LEWICKI, H., WEI, X., HORWITZ, M. S., PEFFER, N., MEYERS, H., NELSON, J. A., GAIRIN, J. E., HAHN, B. H., OLDSTONE, M. B. & SHAW, G. M. 1997. Antiviral pressure exerted by HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) during primary infection demonstrated by rapid selection of CTL escape virus. *Nat Med*, 3, 205-11.
- 46. BORROW, P., SHATTOCK, R. J., VYAKARNAM, A. & GROUP, E. W. 2010. Innate immunity against HIV: a priority target for HIV prevention research. *Retrovirology*, **7**, 84.
- BOUTWELL, C. L., ROLLAND, M. M., HERBECK, J. T., MULLINS, J. I. & ALLEN, T. M. 2010. Viral evolution and escape during acute HIV-1 infection. *J Infect Dis*, 202 Suppl 2, S309-14.
- 48. BOUTWELL, C. L., ROWLEY, C. F. & ESSEX, M. 2009. Reduced viral replication capacity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C caused by cytotoxic-T-lymphocyte escape mutations in HLA-B57 epitopes of capsid protein. *J Virol*, 83, 2460-8.
- BRANDER, C. & GOULDER, P. 2000. The evolving field of HIV CRL epitope mapping: new approaches for the identification of novel epitopes. HIV Molecular Database. *In:* KORBER, B. T. M., BRANDER, C., WALKER, B. D., KOUP, R. A., MOORE, J., B. HAYNES, B. & MEYER, G. (eds.). Los Alamos, New Mexico: Los Alamos National Laboratory.
- BRENCHLEY, J. M., KARANDIKAR, N. J., BETTS, M. R., AMBROZAK, D. R., HILL, B. J., CROTTY, L. E., CASAZZA, J. P., KURUPPU, J., MIGUELES, S. A., CONNORS, M., ROEDERER, M., DOUEK, D. C. & KOUP, R. A. 2003. Expression of CD57 defines replicative senescence and antigen-induced apoptotic death of CD8+ T cells. *Blood*, 101, 2711-20.
- 51. BRENCHLEY, J. M., PRICE, D. A. & DOUEK, D. C. 2006a. HIV disease: fallout from a mucosal catastrophe? *Nat Immunol*, **7**, 235-9.
- 52. BRENCHLEY, J. M., PRICE, D. A., SCHACKER, T. W., ASHER, T. E., SILVESTRI, G., RAO, S., KAZZAZ, Z., BORNSTEIN, E., LAMBOTTE, O., ALTMANN, D., BLAZAR, B. R., RODRIGUEZ, B., TEIXEIRA-JOHNSON, L., LANDAY, A.,
MARTIN, J. N., HECHT, F. M., PICKER, L. J., LEDERMAN, M. M., DEEKS, S. G. & DOUEK, D. C. 2006b. Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. *Nat Med*, 12, 1365-71.

- BRENCHLEY, J. M., SCHACKER, T. W., RUFF, L. E., PRICE, D. A., TAYLOR, J. H., BEILMAN, G. J., NGUYEN, P. L., KHORUTS, A., LARSON, M., HAASE, A. T. & DOUEK, D. C. 2004a. CD4+ T cell depletion during all stages of HIV disease occurs predominantly in the gastrointestinal tract. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 200, 749-59.
- BRENCHLEY, J. M., SCHACKER, T. W., RUFF, L. E., PRICE, D. A., TAYLOR, J. H., BEILMAN, G. J., NGUYEN, P. L., KHORUTS, A., LARSON, M., HAASE, A. T. & DOUEK, D. C. 2004b. CD4+ T cell depletion during all stages of HIV disease occurs predominantly in the gastrointestinal tract. J Exp Med, 200, 749-59.
- 55. BROCKMAN, M. A., BRUMME, Z. L., BRUMME, C. J., MIURA, T., SELA, J., ROSATO, P. C., KADIE, C. M., CARLSON, J. M., MARKLE, T. J., STREECK, H., KELLEHER, A. D., MARKOWITZ, M., JESSEN, H., ROSENBERG, E., ALTFELD, M., HARRIGAN, P. R., HECKERMAN, D., WALKER, B. D. & ALLEN, T. M. 2010. Early selection in Gag by protective HLA alleles contributes to reduced HIV-1 replication capacity that may be largely compensated for in chronic infection. J Virol, 84, 11937-49.
- BROCKMAN, M. A., KWON, D. S., TIGHE, D. P., PAVLIK, D. F., ROSATO, P. C., SELA, J., PORICHIS, F., LE GALL, S., WARING, M. T., MOSS, K., JESSEN, H., PEREYRA, F., KAVANAGH, D. G., WALKER, B. D. & KAUFMANN, D. E. 2009. IL-10 is up-regulated in multiple cell types during viremic HIV infection and reversibly inhibits virus-specific T cells. *Blood*, 114, 346-56.
- 57. BROCKMAN, M. A., SCHNEIDEWIND, A., LAHAIE, M., SCHMIDT, A., MIURA, T., DESOUZA, I., RYVKIN, F., DERDEYN, C. A., ALLEN, S., HUNTER, E., MULENGA, J., GOEPFERT, P. A., WALKER, B. D. & ALLEN, T. M. 2007. Escape and compensation from early HLA-B57-mediated cytotoxic T-lymphocyte pressure on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag alter capsid interactions with cyclophilin A. J Virol, 81, 12608-18.
- BROOKS, D. G., LEE, A. M., ELSAESSER, H., MCGAVERN, D. B. & OLDSTONE, M. B. 2008. IL-10 blockade facilitates DNA vaccine-induced T cell responses and enhances clearance of persistent virus infection. *J Exp Med*, 205, 533-41.
- BROOKS, D. G., TRIFILO, M. J., EDELMANN, K. H., TEYTON, L., MCGAVERN, D. B. & OLDSTONE, M. B. 2006. Interleukin-10 determines viral clearance or persistence in vivo. *Nat Med*, 12, 1301-9.
- BRUMME, Z. L., BRUMME, C. J., CARLSON, J., STREECK, H., JOHN, M., EICHBAUM, Q., BLOCK, B. L., BAKER, B., KADIE, C., MARKOWITZ, M., JESSEN, H., KELLEHER, A. D., ROSENBERG, E., KALDOR, J., YUKI, Y., CARRINGTON, M., ALLEN, T. M., MALLAL, S., ALTFELD, M., HECKERMAN, D.

& WALKER, B. D. 2008. Marked epitope- and allele-specific differences in rates of mutation in human immunodeficiency type 1 (HIV-1) Gag, Pol, and Nef cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitopes in acute/early HIV-1 infection. *J Virol*, 82, 9216-27.

- BRUMME, Z. L., BRUMME, C. J., HECKERMAN, D., KORBER, B. T., DANIELS, M., CARLSON, J., KADIE, C., BHATTACHARYA, T., CHUI, C., SZINGER, J., MO, T., HOGG, R. S., MONTANER, J. S., FRAHM, N., BRANDER, C., WALKER, B. D. & HARRIGAN, P. R. 2007. Evidence of differential HLA class I-mediated viral evolution in functional and accessory/regulatory genes of HIV-1. *PLoS Pathog*, 3, e94.
- BRUMME, Z. L., JOHN, M., CARLSON, J. M., BRUMME, C. J., CHAN, D., BROCKMAN, M. A., SWENSON, L. C., TAO, I., SZETO, S., ROSATO, P., SELA, J., KADIE, C. M., FRAHM, N., BRANDER, C., HAAS, D. W., RIDDLER, S. A., HAUBRICH, R., WALKER, B. D., HARRIGAN, P. R., HECKERMAN, D. & MALLAL, S. 2009. HLA-associated immune escape pathways in HIV-1 subtype B Gag, Pol and Nef proteins. *PLoS One*, 4, e6687.
- BUCHBINDER, S. P., MEHROTRA, D. V., DUERR, A., FITZGERALD, D. W., MOGG, R., LI, D., GILBERT, P. B., LAMA, J. R., MARMOR, M., DEL RIO, C., MCELRATH, M. J., CASIMIRO, D. R., GOTTESDIENER, K. M., CHODAKEWITZ, J. A., COREY, L. & ROBERTSON, M. N. 2008. Efficacy assessment of a cellmediated immunity HIV-1 vaccine (the Step Study): a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, test-of-concept trial. *The Lancet*, 372, 1881-1893.
- BURGERS, W. A., RIOU, C., MLOTSHWA, M., MAENETJE, P., DE ASSIS ROSA, D., BRENCHLEY, J., MLISANA, K., DOUEK, D. C., KOUP, R., ROEDERER, M., DE BRUYN, G., KARIM, S. A., WILLIAMSON, C. & GRAY, C. M. 2009. Association of HIV-specific and total CD8+ T memory phenotypes in subtype C HIV-1 infection with viral set point. *J Immunol*, 182, 4751-61.
- 65. BURTON, D. R. 1997. A vaccine for HIV type 1: the antibody perspective. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 10018-23.
- BURTON, D. R., DESROSIERS, R. C., DOMS, R. W., FEINBERG, M. B., GALLO, R. C., HAHN, B., HOXIE, J. A., HUNTER, E., KORBER, B., LANDAY, A., LEDERMAN, M. M., LIEBERMAN, J., MCCUNE, J. M., MOORE, J. P., NATHANSON, N., PICKER, L., RICHMAN, D., RINALDO, C., STEVENSON, M., WATKINS, D. I., WOLINSKY, S. M. & ZACK, J. A. 2004. Public health. A sound rationale needed for phase III HIV-1 vaccine trials. *Science*, 303, 316.
- 67. BUSCH, M. 1994. HIV and blood transfusions: focus on seroconversion. *Vox sanguinis,* 67, 13-18.
- CALARESE, D. A., SCANLAN, C. N., ZWICK, M. B., DEECHONGKIT, S., MIMURA, Y., KUNERT, R., ZHU, P., WORMALD, M. R., STANFIELD, R. L., ROUX, K. H., KELLY, J. W., RUDD, P. M., DWEK, R. A., KATINGER, H.,

BURTON, D. R. & WILSON, I. A. 2003. Antibody domain exchange is an immunological solution to carbohydrate cluster recognition. *Science*, 300, 2065-71.

- 69. CALAROTA, S. A., FOLI, A., MASERATI, R., BALDANTI, F., PAOLUCCI, S., YOUNG, M. A., TSOUKAS, C. M., LISZIEWICZ, J. & LORI, F. 2008. HIV-1-specific T cell precursors with high proliferative capacity correlate with low viremia and high CD4 counts in untreated individuals. *J Immunol*, 180, 5907-15.
- CAMPILLO-GIMENEZ, L., CUMONT, M. C., FAY, M., KARED, H., MONCEAUX, V., DIOP, O., MULLER-TRUTWIN, M., HURTREL, B., LEVY, Y., ZAUNDERS, J., DY, M., LEITE-DE-MORAES, M. C., ELBIM, C. & ESTAQUIER, J. 2010. AIDS progression is associated with the emergence of IL-17-producing cells early after simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Immunol*, 184, 984-92.
- CAO, J., MCNEVIN, J., HOLTE, S., FINK, L., COREY, L. & MCELRATH, M. J. 2003a. Comprehensive Analysis of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 (HIV-1)-Specific Gamma Interferon-Secreting CD8+ T Cells in Primary HIV-1 Infection. J. Virol., 77, 6867-6878.
- 72. CAO, J., MCNEVIN, J., MALHOTRA, U. & MCELRATH, M. J. 2003b. Evolution of CD8+ T Cell Immunity and Viral Escape Following Acute HIV-1 Infection. *J Immunol*, 171, 3837-3846.
- CARRINGTON, M., NELSON, G. W., MARTIN, M. P., KISSNER, T., VLAHOV, D., GOEDERT, J. J., KASLOW, R., BUCHBINDER, S., HOOTS, K. & O'BRIEN, S. J. 1999. HLA and HIV-1: heterozygote advantage and B*35-Cw*04 disadvantage. *Science*, 283, 1748-52.
- CATALFAMO, M., DI MASCIO, M., HU, Z., SRINIVASULA, S., THAKER, V., ADELSBERGER, J., RUPERT, A., BASELER, M., TAGAYA, Y., ROBY, G., REHM, C., FOLLMANN, D. & LANE, H. C. 2008. HIV infection-associated immune activation occurs by two distinct pathways that differentially affect CD4 and CD8 T cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105, 19851-6.
- 75. CELUM, C., WALD, A., LINGAPPA, J. R., MAGARET, A. S., WANG, R. S., MUGO, N., MUJUGIRA, A., BAETEN, J. M., MULLINS, J. I., HUGHES, J. P., BUKUSI, E. A., COHEN, C. R., KATABIRA, E., RONALD, A., KIARIE, J., FARQUHAR, C., STEWART, G. J., MAKHEMA, J., ESSEX, M., WERE, E., FIFE, K. H., DE BRUYN, G., GRAY, G. E., MCINTYRE, J. A., MANONGI, R., KAPIGA, S., COETZEE, D., ALLEN, S., INAMBAO, M., KAYITENKORE, K., KARITA, E., KANWEKA, W., DELANY, S., REES, H., VWALIKA, B., STEVENS, W., CAMPBELL, M. S., THOMAS, K. K., COOMBS, R. W., MORROW, R., WHITTINGTON, W. L. H., MCELRATH, M. J., BARNES, L., RIDZON, R., COREY, L. & THE PARTNERS IN PREVENTION HSV/HIV TRANSMISSION STUDY TEAM

2010. Acyclovir and Transmission of HIV-1 from Persons Infected with HIV-1 and HSV-2. *N Engl J Med*, 362, 427-439.

- 76. CENTERS FOR DISEASE, C. 1985. Provisional Public Health Service interagency recommendations for screening donated blood and plasma for antibody to the virus causing acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*, 34, 1-5.
- CHAMPAGNE, P., OGG, G. S., KING, A. S., KNABENHANS, C., ELLEFSEN, K., NOBILE, M., APPAY, V., RIZZARDI, G. P., FLEURY, S., LIPP, M., FORSTER, R., ROWLAND-JONES, S., SEKALY, R. P., MCMICHAEL, A. J. & PANTALEO, G. 2001. Skewed maturation of memory HIV-specific CD8 T lymphocytes. *Nature*, 410, 106-11.
- CHEN, H., PIECHOCKA-TROCHA, A., MIURA, T., BROCKMAN, M. A., JULG, B. D., BAKER, B. M., ROTHCHILD, A. C., BLOCK, B. L., SCHNEIDEWIND, A., KOIBUCHI, T., PEREYRA, F., ALLEN, T. M. & WALKER, B. D. 2009. Differential neutralization of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) replication in autologous CD4 T cells by HIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Virol*, 83, 3138-49.
- CHESSMAN, D., KOSTENKO, L., LETHBORG, T., PURCELL, A. W., WILLIAMSON, N. A., CHEN, Z., KJER-NIELSEN, L., MIFSUD, N. A., TAIT, B. D., HOLDSWORTH, R., ALMEIDA, C. A., NOLAN, D., MACDONALD, W. A., ARCHBOLD, J. K., KELLERHER, A. D., MARRIOTT, D., MALLAL, S., BHARADWAJ, M., ROSSJOHN, J. & MCCLUSKEY, J. 2008. Human Leukocyte Antigen Class I-Restricted Activation of CD8+ T Cells Provides the Immunogenetic Basis of a Systemic Drug Hypersensitivity. *Immunity*, 28, 822-832.
- CHOPERA, D. R., WOODMAN, Z., MLISANA, K., MLOTSHWA, M., MARTIN, D. P., SEOIGHE, C., TREURNICHT, F., DE ROSA, D. A., HIDE, W., KARIM, S. A., GRAY, C. M. & WILLIAMSON, C. 2008. Transmission of HIV-1 CTL escape variants provides HLA-mismatched recipients with a survival advantage. *PLoS Pathog*, 4, e1000033.
- CLAVEL, F., GUETARD, D., BRUN-VEZINET, F., CHAMARET, S., REY, M. A., SANTOS-FERREIRA, M. O., LAURENT, A. G., DAUGUET, C., KATLAMA, C., ROUZIOUX, C. & ET AL. 1986. Isolation of a new human retrovirus from West African patients with AIDS. *Science*, 233, 343-6.
- CLERICI, M., LUCEY, D. R., BERZOFSKY, J. A., PINTO, L. A., WYNN, T. A., BLATT, S. P., DOLAN, M. J., HENDRIX, C. W., WOLF, S. F. & SHEARER, G. M. 1993. Restoration of HIV-specific cell-mediated immune responses by interleukin-12 in vitro. *Science*, 262, 1721-4.
- COHEN, M. S., HOFFMAN, I. F., ROYCE, R. A., KAZEMBE, P., DYER, J. R., DALY, C. C., ZIMBA, D., VERNAZZA, P. L., MAIDA, M., FISCUS, S. A. & ERON, J. J., JR. 1997. Reduction of concentration of HIV-1 in semen after

treatment of urethritis: implications for prevention of sexual transmission of HIV-1. AIDSCAP Malawi Research Group. *Lancet*, 349, 1868-73.

- 84. COLEMAN, C. M., GELAIS, C. S. & WU, L. 2013. Cellular and viral mechanisms of HIV-1 transmission mediated by dendritic cells. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 762, 109-30.
- COLLETON, B. A., HUANG, X. L., MELHEM, N. M., FAN, Z., BOROWSKI, L., RAPPOCCIOLO, G. & RINALDO, C. R. 2009. Primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses induced by myeloid dendritic cells. *J Virol*, 83, 6288-99.
- 86. CONTICELLO, S. G. 2008. The AID/APOBEC family of nucleic acid mutators. *Genome Biol*, 9, 229.
- 87. COUPER, K. N., BLOUNT, D. G. & RILEY, E. M. 2008. IL-10: the master regulator of immunity to infection. *J Immunol*, 180, 5771-7.
- 88. DALGLEISH, A. G., BEVERLEY, P. C., CLAPHAM, P. R., CRAWFORD, D. H., GREAVES, M. F. & WEISS, R. A. 1984. The CD4 (T4) antigen is an essential component of the receptor for the AIDS retrovirus. *Nature*, 312, 763-7.
- DAY, C. L., KAUFMANN, D. E., KIEPIELA, P., BROWN, J. A., MOODLEY, E. S., REDDY, S., MACKEY, E. W., MILLER, J. D., LESLIE, A. J., DEPIERRES, C., MNCUBE, Z., DURAISWAMY, J., ZHU, B., EICHBAUM, Q., ALTFELD, M., WHERRY, E. J., COOVADIA, H. M., GOULDER, P. J., KLENERMAN, P., AHMED, R., FREEMAN, G. J. & WALKER, B. D. 2006. PD-1 expression on HIV-specific T cells is associated with T-cell exhaustion and disease progression. *Nature*, 443, 350-4.
- 90. DAY, T. A. & KUBLIN, J. G. 2013. Lessons learned from HIV vaccine clinical efficacy trials. *Curr HIV Res*, 11, 441-9.
- DE LA CRUZ, J., VOLLBRECHT, T., FROHNEN, P., NG, H. L., DAAR, E. S., YANG, O. O. & LEWIS, M. J. 2014. Ineffectual Targeting of HIV-1 Nef by Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes in Acute Infection Results in No Functional Impairment or Viremia Reduction. *Journal of virology*, JVI. 00482-14.
- 92. DE LEYS, R., VANDERBORGHT, B., VANDEN HAESEVELDE, M., HEYNDRICKX, L., VAN GEEL, A., WAUTERS, C., BERNAERTS, R., SAMAN, E., NIJS, P., WILLEMS, B. & ET AL. 1990. Isolation and partial characterization of an unusual human immunodeficiency retrovirus from two persons of westcentral African origin. J Virol, 64, 1207-16.
- DEEKS, S. G., KITCHEN, C. M., LIU, L., GUO, H., GASCON, R., NARVAEZ, A. B., HUNT, P., MARTIN, J. N., KAHN, J. O., LEVY, J., MCGRATH, M. S. & HECHT, F. M. 2004. Immune activation set point during early HIV infection predicts subsequent CD4+ T-cell changes independent of viral load. *Blood*, 104, 942-7.

- 94. DESROSIERS, R. C., LIFSON, J. D., GIBBS, J. S., CZAJAK, S. C., HOWE, A. Y., ARTHUR, L. O. & JOHNSON, R. P. 1998. Identification of highly attenuated mutants of simian immunodeficiency virus. *J Virol*, **72**, 1431-7.
- 95. DINARELLO, C. A. 1992. Role of Interleukin-I in Infectious Diseases. *Immunological reviews*, 127, 119-146.
- 96. DORIA-ROSE, N. A., SCHRAMM, C. A., GORMAN, J., MOORE, P. L., BHIMAN, J. N., DEKOSKY, B. J., ERNANDES, M. J., GEORGIEV, I. S., KIM, H. J., PANCERA, M., STAUPE, R. P., ALTAE-TRAN, H. R., BAILER, R. T., CROOKS, E. T., CUPO, A., DRUZ, A., GARRETT, N. J., HOI, K. H., KONG, R., LOUDER, M. K., LONGO, N. S., MCKEE, K., NONYANE, M., O'DELL, S., ROARK, R. S., RUDICELL, R. S., SCHMIDT, S. D., SHEWARD, D. J., SOTO, C., WIBMER, C. K., YANG, Y., ZHANG, Z., NISC COMPARATIVE, S., MULLIKIN, J. C., BINLEY, J. M., SANDERS, R. W., WILSON, I. A., MOORE, J. P., WARD, A. B., GEORGIOU, G., WILLIAMSON, C., ABDOOL KARIM, S. S., MORRIS, L., KWONG, P. D., SHAPIRO, L. & MASCOLA, J. R. 2014. Developmental pathway for potent V1V2-directed HIV-neutralizing antibodies. *Nature*.
- 97. DOUEK, D. C., PICKER, L. J. & KOUP, R. A. 2003. T cell dynamics in HIV-1 infection. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 21, 265-304.
- DOUGLAS, J. L., VISWANATHAN, K., MCCARROLL, M. N., GUSTIN, J. K., FRUH, K. & MOSES, A. V. 2009. Vpu directs the degradation of the human immunodeficiency virus restriction factor BST-2/Tetherin via a {beta}TrCPdependent mechanism. J Virol, 83, 7931-47.
- 99. DRAENERT, R., VERRILL, C. L., TANG, Y., ALLEN, T. M., WURCEL, A. G., BOCZANOWSKI, M., LECHNER, A., KIM, A. Y., SUSCOVICH, T., BROWN, N. V., ADDO, M. M. & WALKER, B. D. 2004. Persistent recognition of autologous virus by high-avidity CD8 T cells in chronic, progressive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol, 78, 630-41.
- 100. DUBEY, S., CLAIR, J., FU, T. M., GUAN, L., LONG, R., MOGG, R., ANDERSON, K., COLLINS, K. B., GAUNT, C., FERNANDEZ, V. R., ZHU, L., KIERSTEAD, L., THALER, S., GUPTA, S. B., STRAUS, W., MEHROTRA, D., TOBERY, T. W., CASIMIRO, D. R. & SHIVER, J. W. 2007. Detection of HIV vaccine-induced cell-mediated immunity in HIV-seronegative clinical trial participants using an optimized and validated enzyme-linked immunospot assay. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 45, 20-7.
- ECKSTEIN, D. A., SHERMAN, M. P., PENN, M. L., CHIN, P. S., DE NORONHA, C. M., GREENE, W. C. & GOLDSMITH, M. A. 2001. HIV-1 Vpr enhances viral burden by facilitating infection of tissue macrophages but not nondividing CD4+ T cells. J Exp Med, 194, 1407-19.
- 102. ELSAESSER, H., SAUER, K. & BROOKS, D. G. 2009. IL-21 Is Required to Control Chronic Viral Infection. *Science*, 324, 1569-1572.

- 103. EMERMAN, M. & MALIM, M. H. 1998. HIV-1 regulatory/accessory genes: keys to unraveling viral and host cell biology. *Science*, 280, 1880-4.
- EQUILS, O., FAURE, E., THOMAS, L., BULUT, Y., TRUSHIN, S. & ARDITI, M.
 2001. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide activates HIV long terminal repeat through Toll-like receptor 4. *Journal of Immunology*, 166, 2342-7.
- 105. ERIKSTRUP, C., KALLESTRUP, P., ZINYAMA-GUTSIRE, R. B., GOMO, E., BUTTERWORTH, A. E., PEDERSEN, B. K., OSTROWSKI, S. R., GERSTOFT, J. & ULLUM, H. 2007. Reduced mortality and CD4 cell loss among carriers of the interleukin-10 -1082G allele in a Zimbabwean cohort of HIV-1-infected adults. *AIDS*, 21, 2283-91.
- 106. ESTES, J. D., GORDON, S. N., ZENG, M., CHAHROUDI, A. M., DUNHAM, R. M., STAPRANS, S. I., REILLY, C. S., SILVESTRI, G. & HAASE, A. T. 2008. Early resolution of acute immune activation and induction of PD-1 in SIV-infected sooty mangabeys distinguishes nonpathogenic from pathogenic infection in rhesus macaques. *J Immunol*, 180, 6798-807.
- ESTES, J. D., LI, Q., REYNOLDS, M. R., WIETGREFE, S., DUAN, L., SCHACKER, T., PICKER, L. J., WATKINS, D. I., LIFSON, J. D., REILLY, C., CARLIS, J. & HAASE, A. T. 2006. Premature induction of an immunosuppressive regulatory T cell response during acute simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *J Infect Dis*, 193, 703-12.
- 108. FAHEY, J. L., TAYLOR, J. M., DETELS, R., HOFMANN, B., MELMED, R., NISHANIAN, P. & GIORGI, J. V. 1990. The prognostic value of cellular and serologic markers in infection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *N Engl J Med*, 322, 166-72.
- 109. FANALES-BELASIO, E., RAIMONDO, M., SULIGOI, B. & BUTTO, S. 2010. HIV virology and pathogenetic mechanisms of infection: a brief overview. *Annali dell Istituto Superiore di Sanita*, 46, 5-14.
- 110. FAUCI, A. S. 1993. Multifactorial nature of human immunodeficiency virus disease: implications for therapy. *Science*, 262, 1011-8.
- 111. FAURE, E., EQUILS, O., SIELING, P. A., THOMAS, L., ZHANG, F. X., KIRSCHNING, C. J., POLENTARUTTI, N., MUZIO, M. & ARDITI, M. 2000. Bacterial lipopolysaccharide activates NF-kappaB through toll-like receptor 4 (TLR-4) in cultured human dermal endothelial cells. Differential expression of TLR-4 and TLR-2 in endothelial cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275, 11058-63.
- 112. FELZIEN, L. K., WOFFENDIN, C., HOTTIGER, M. O., SUBBRAMANIAN, R. A., COHEN, E. A. & NABEL, G. J. 1998. HIV transcriptional activation by the accessory protein, VPR, is mediated by the p300 co-activator. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 5281-6.

- FERRARI, G., KORBER, B., GOONETILLEKE, N., LIU, M. K., TURNBULL, E. L., SALAZAR-GONZALEZ, J. F., HAWKINS, N., SELF, S., WATSON, S., BETTS, M. R., GAY, C., MCGHEE, K., PELLEGRINO, P., WILLIAMS, I., TOMARAS, G. D., HAYNES, B. F., GRAY, C. M., BORROW, P., ROEDERER, M., MCMICHAEL, A. J. & WEINHOLD, K. J. 2011. Relationship between functional profile of HIV-1 specific CD8 T cells and epitope variability with the selection of escape mutants in acute HIV-1 infection. *PLoS Pathog*, 7, e1001273.
- FIEBIG, E. W., WRIGHT, D. J., RAWAL, B. D., GARRETT, P. E., SCHUMACHER, R. T., PEDDADA, L., HELDEBRANT, C., SMITH, R., CONRAD, A., KLEINMAN, S. H. & BUSCH, M. P. 2003. Dynamics of HIV viremia and antibody seroconversion in plasma donors: implications for diagnosis and staging of primary HIV infection. *Aids*, 17, 1871-9.
- 115. FISCHER, W., GANUSOV, V. V., GIORGI, E. E., HRABER, P. T., KEELE, B. F., LEITNER, T., HAN, C. S., GLEASNER, C. D., GREEN, L., LO, C. C., NAG, A., WALLSTROM, T. C., WANG, S., MCMICHAEL, A. J., HAYNES, B. F., HAHN, B. H., PERELSON, A. S., BORROW, P., SHAW, G. M., BHATTACHARYA, T. & KORBER, B. T. 2010. Transmission of single HIV-1 genomes and dynamics of early immune escape revealed by ultra-deep sequencing. *PLoS One*, 5, e12303.
- 116. FISCHER, W., PERKINS, S., THEILER, J., BHATTACHARYA, T., YUSIM, K., FUNKHOUSER, R., KUIKEN, C., HAYNES, B., LETVIN, N. L. & WALKER, B. D. 2006. Polyvalent vaccines for optimal coverage of potential T-cell epitopes in global HIV-1 variants. *Nature medicine*, 13, 100-106.
- FLETCHER, T. M., 3RD, BRICHACEK, B., SHAROVA, N., NEWMAN, M. A., STIVAHTIS, G., SHARP, P. M., EMERMAN, M., HAHN, B. H. & STEVENSON, M. 1996. Nuclear import and cell cycle arrest functions of the HIV-1 Vpr protein are encoded by two separate genes in HIV-2/SIV(SM). *EMBO J*, 15, 6155-65.
- 118. FOSTER, J. L. & GARCIA, J. V. 2007. Role of Nef in HIV-1 replication and pathogenesis. *Adv Pharmacol*, 55, 389-409.
- 119. FOSTER, J. L. & GARCIA, J. V. 2008. HIV-1 Nef: at the crossroads. *Retrovirology*, 5, 84.
- 120. FOX, C. H., TENNER-RACZ, K., RACZ, P., FIRPO, A., PIZZO, P. A. & FAUCI, A. S. 1991. Lymphoid germinal centers are reservoirs of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA. *J Infect Dis,* 164, 1051-7.
- 121. FRAHM, N., KORBER, B. T., ADAMS, C. M., SZINGER, J. J., DRAENERT, R., ADDO, M. M., FEENEY, M. E., YUSIM, K., SANGO, K., BROWN, N. V., SENGUPTA, D., PIECHOCKA-TROCHA, A., SIMONIS, T., MARINCOLA, F. M., WURCEL, A. G., STONE, D. R., RUSSELL, C. J., ADOLF, P., COHEN, D., ROACH, T., STJOHN, A., KHATRI, A., DAVIS, K., MULLINS, J., GOULDER, P. J., WALKER, B. D. & BRANDER, C. 2004. Consistent cytotoxic-T-lymphocyte targeting of

immunodominant regions in human immunodeficiency virus across multiple ethnicities. *J Virol*, 78, 2187-200.

- 122. FREEL, S. A., LAMOREAUX, L., CHATTOPADHYAY, P. K., SAUNDERS, K., ZARKOWSKY, D., OVERMAN, R. G., OCHSENBAUER, C., EDMONDS, T. G., KAPPES, J. C. & CUNNINGHAM, C. K. 2010. Phenotypic and functional profile of HIV-inhibitory CD8 T cells elicited by natural infection and heterologous prime/boost vaccination. *Journal of virology*, 84, 4998-5006.
- 123. FREEL, S. A., SAUNDERS, K. O. & TOMARAS, G. D. 2011. CD8(+)T-cellmediated control of HIV-1 and SIV infection. *Immunol Res*, 49, 135-46.
- 124. FREEMAN, G. J., LONG, A. J., IWAI, Y., BOURQUE, K., CHERNOVA, T., NISHIMURA, H., FITZ, L. J., MALENKOVICH, N., OKAZAKI, T., BYRNE, M. C., HORTON, H. F., FOUSER, L., CARTER, L., LING, V., BOWMAN, M. R., CARRENO, B. M., COLLINS, M., WOOD, C. R. & HONJO, T. 2000. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. J Exp Med, 192, 1027-34.
- 125. FU, T. M., DUBEY, S. A., MEHROTRA, D. V., FREED, D. C., TRIGONA, W. L., ADAMS-MUHLER, L., CLAIR, J. H., EVANS, T. G., STEIGBIGEL, R., JACOBSON, J. M., GOEPFERT, P. A., MULLIGAN, M. J., KALAMS, S. A., RINALDO, C., ZHU, L., COX, K. S., GUAN, L., LONG, R., PERSAUD, N., CAULFIELD, M. J., SADOFF, J. C., EMINI, E. A., THALER, S. & SHIVER, J. W. 2007. Evaluation of cellular immune responses in subjects chronically infected with HIV type 1. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses*, 23, 67-76.
- 126. FURUTA, R. A., WILD, C. T., WENG, Y. & WEISS, C. D. 1998. Capture of an early fusion-active conformation of HIV-1 gp41. *Nat Struct Biol*, 5, 276-9.
- 127. GANUSOV, V. V., GOONETILLEKE, N., LIU, M. K., FERRARI, G., SHAW, G. M., MCMICHAEL, A. J., BORROW, P., KORBER, B. T. & PERELSON, A. S. 2011. Fitness costs and diversity of the cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) response determine the rate of CTL escape during acute and chronic phases of HIV infection. J Virol, 85, 10518-28.
- 128. GAO, F., BAILES, E., ROBERTSON, D. L., CHEN, Y., RODENBURG, C. M., MICHAEL, S. F., CUMMINS, L. B., ARTHUR, L. O., PEETERS, M., SHAW, G. M., SHARP, P. M. & HAHN, B. H. 1999. Origin of HIV-1 in the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes troglodytes. *Nature*, 397, 436-41.
- 129. GARBER, D. A. & FEINBERG, M. B. 2006. Probing the possibilities for T-cellbased AIDS vaccines. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 1, 314-22.
- 130. GARCIA, J. V. & MILLER, A. D. 1991. Serine phosphorylation-independent downregulation of cell-surface CD4 by nef. *Nature*, 350, 508-11.
- 131. GASPER-SMITH, N., CROSSMAN, D. M., WHITESIDES, J. F., MENSALI, N., OTTINGER, J. S., PLONK, S. G., MOODY, M. A., FERRARI, G., WEINHOLD, K.

J., MILLER, S. E., REICH, C. F., 3RD, QIN, L., SELF, S. G., SHAW, G. M., DENNY, T. N., JONES, L. E., PISETSKY, D. S. & HAYNES, B. F. 2008. Induction of plasma (TRAIL), TNFR-2, Fas ligand, and plasma microparticles after human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) transmission: implications for HIV-1 vaccine design. *J Virol*, 82, 7700-10.

- 132. GAY, C., DIBBEN, O., ANDERSON, J. A., STACEY, A., MAYO, A. J., NORRIS, P. J., KURUC, J. D., SALAZAR-GONZALEZ, J. F., LI, H., KEELE, B. F., HICKS, C., MARGOLIS, D., FERRARI, G., HAYNES, B., SWANSTROM, R., SHAW, G. M., HAHN, B. H., ERON, J. J., BORROW, P. & COHEN, M. S. 2011. Cross-sectional detection of acute HIV infection: timing of transmission, inflammation and antiretroviral therapy. *PLoS One*, 6, e19617.
- 133. GELDMACHER, C., CURRIER, J. R., HERRMANN, E., HAULE, A., KUTA, E., MCCUTCHAN, F., NJOVU, L., GEIS, S., HOFFMANN, O., MABOKO, L., WILLIAMSON, C., BIRX, D., MEYERHANS, A., COX, J. & HOELSCHER, M. 2007. CD8 T-cell recognition of multiple epitopes within specific Gag regions is associated with maintenance of a low steady-state viremia in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-seropositive patients. J Virol, 81, 2440-8.
- 134. GIORGI, J. V., HULTIN, L. E., MCKEATING, J. A., JOHNSON, T. D., OWENS, B., JACOBSON, L. P., SHIH, R., LEWIS, J., WILEY, D. J., PHAIR, J. P., WOLINSKY, S. M. & DETELS, R. 1999. Shorter survival in advanced human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection is more closely associated with T lymphocyte activation than with plasma virus burden or virus chemokine coreceptor usage. *J Infect Dis*, 179, 859-70.
- 135. GIORGI, J. V., LIU, Z., HULTIN, L. E., CUMBERLAND, W. G., HENNESSEY, K. & DETELS, R. 1993. Elevated levels of CD38+ CD8+ T cells in HIV infection add to the prognostic value of low CD4+ T cell levels: results of 6 years of follow-up. The Los Angeles Center, Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 6, 904-12.
- 136. GODFRIED, M. H., VAN DER POLL, T., JANSEN, J., ROMIJIN, J. A., SCHATTENKERK, J. K., ENDERT, E., VAN DEVENTER, S. J. & SAUERWEIN, H. P. 1993. Soluble receptors for tumour necrosis factor: a putative marker of disease progression in HIV infection. *Aids*, 7, 33-6.
- 137. GODKIN, A. J., THOMAS, H. C. & OPENSHAW, P. J. 2002. Evolution of epitope-specific memory CD4(+) T cells after clearance of hepatitis C virus. *J Immunol*, 169, 2210-4.
- 138. GOEPFERT, P. A., LUMM, W., FARMER, P., MATTHEWS, P., PRENDERGAST, A., CARLSON, J. M., DERDEYN, C. A., TANG, J., KASLOW, R. A., BANSAL, A., YUSIM, K., HECKERMAN, D., MULENGA, J., ALLEN, S., GOULDER, P. J. & HUNTER, E. 2008. Transmission of HIV-1 Gag immune escape mutations is associated with reduced viral load in linked recipients. J Exp Med, 205, 1009-17.

- 139. GONCALVES, J. & SANTA-MARTA, M. 2004. HIV-1 Vif and APOBEC3G: multiple roads to one goal. *Retrovirology*, **1**, **2**8.
- 140. GOONETILLEKE, N., LIU, M. K. P., SALAZAR-GONZALEZ, J. F., FERRARI, G., GIORGI, E., GANUSOV, V. V., KEELE, B. F., LEARN, G. H., TURNBULL, E. L., SALAZAR, M. G., WEINHOLD, K. J., MOORE, S., LETVIN, N., HAYNES, B. F., COHEN, M. S., HRABER, P., BHATTACHARYA, T., BORROW, P., PERELSON, A. S., HAHN, B. H., SHAW, G. M., KORBER, B. T. & MCMICHAEL, A. J. 2009. The first T cell response to transmitted/founder virus contributes to the control of acute viremia in HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med, 206, 1253-1272.
- 141. GOULDER, P. J., PHILLIPS, R. E., COLBERT, R. A., MCADAM, S., OGG, G., NOWAK, M. A., GIANGRANDE, P., LUZZI, G., MORGAN, B., EDWARDS, A., MCMICHAEL, A. J. & ROWLAND-JONES, S. 1997a. Late escape from an immunodominant cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response associated with progression to AIDS. *Nat Med*, 3, 212-7.
- 142. GOULDER, P. J., SEWELL, A. K., LALLOO, D. G., PRICE, D. A., WHELAN, J. A., EVANS, J., TAYLOR, G. P., LUZZI, G., GIANGRANDE, P., PHILLIPS, R. E. & MCMICHAEL, A. J. 1997b. Patterns of immunodominance in HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses in two human histocompatibility leukocyte antigens (HLA)-identical siblings with HLA-A*0201 are influenced by epitope mutation. J Exp Med, 185, 1423-33.
- 143. GRAY, C. M., MLOTSHWA, M., RIOU, C., MATHEBULA, T., DE ASSIS ROSA, D., MASHISHI, T., SEOIGHE, C., NGANDU, N., VAN LOGGERENBERG, F., MORRIS, L., MLISANA, K., WILLIAMSON, C., KARIM, S. A. & ON BEHALF OF THE CAPRISA 002 ACUTE INFECTION STUDY TEAM 2009. Human Immunodeficiency Virus-Specific Gamma Interferon Enzyme-Linked Immunospot Assay Responses Targeting Specific Regions of the Proteome during Primary Subtype C Infection Are Poor Predictors of the Course of Viremia and Set Point. J. Virol., 83, 470-478.
- 144. GRAY, E. S., MOORE, P. L., CHOGE, I. A., DECKER, J. M., BIBOLLET-RUCHE, F., LI, H., LESEKA, N., TREURNICHT, F., MLISANA, K., SHAW, G. M., KARIM, S. S., WILLIAMSON, C. & MORRIS, L. 2007. Neutralizing antibody responses in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. *J Virol*, 81, 6187-96.
- 145. GRAY, R. H., WAWER, M. J., BROOKMEYER, R., SEWANKAMBO, N. K., SERWADDA, D., WABWIRE-MANGEN, F., LUTALO, T., LI, X., VANCOTT, T., QUINN, T. C. & RAKAI PROJECT, T. 2001. Probability of HIV-1 transmission per coital act in monogamous, heterosexual, HIV-1-discordant couples in Rakai, Uganda. *Lancet*, 357, 1149-53.
- 146. GREENBERG, M. E., IAFRATE, A. J. & SKOWRONSKI, J. 1998. The SH3 domain-binding surface and an acidic motif in HIV-1 Nef regulate trafficking of class I MHC complexes. *EMBO J*, 17, 2777-89.

- 147. GROSSMAN, Z. & PAUL, W. E. 2000. The impact of HIV on naive T-cell homeostasis. *Nature Medicine*, 6, 976-7.
- 148. GROUX, H., TORPIER, G., MONTE, D., MOUTON, Y., CAPRON, A. & AMEISEN, J. C. 1992. Activation-induced death by apoptosis in CD4+ T cells from human immunodeficiency virus-infected asymptomatic individuals. J Exp Med, 175, 331-40.
- 149. GUPTA, K. K. 1993. Acute immunosuppression with HIV seroconversion. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 328, 288-9.
- 150. HA, S. J., MUELLER, S. N., WHERRY, E. J., BARBER, D. L., AUBERT, R. D., SHARPE, A. H., FREEMAN, G. J. & AHMED, R. 2008. Enhancing therapeutic vaccination by blocking PD-1-mediated inhibitory signals during chronic infection. J Exp Med, 205, 543-55.
- 151. HAAS, G., PLIKAT, U., DEBRE, P., LUCCHIARI, M., KATLAMA, C., DUDOIT, Y., BONDUELLE, O., BAUER, M., IHLENFELDT, H. G., JUNG, G., MAIER, B., MEYERHANS, A. & AUTRAN, B. 1996. Dynamics of viral variants in HIV-1 Nef and specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in vivo. *J Immunol*, 157, 4212-21.
- 152. HAASE, A. T. 2005. Perils at mucosal front lines for HIV and SIV and their hosts. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 5, 783-92.
- 153. HAASE, A. T. 2010. Targeting early infection to prevent HIV-1 mucosal transmission. *Nature*, 464, 217-23.
- HANSEN, S. G., FORD, J. C., LEWIS, M. S., VENTURA, A. B., HUGHES, C. M., COYNE-JOHNSON, L., WHIZIN, N., OSWALD, K., SHOEMAKER, R., SWANSON, T., LEGASSE, A. W., CHIUCHIOLO, M. J., PARKS, C. L., AXTHELM, M. K., NELSON, J. A., JARVIS, M. A., PIATAK, M., JR., LIFSON, J. D. & PICKER, L. J. 2011. Profound early control of highly pathogenic SIV by an effector memory T-cell vaccine. *Nature*, 473, 523-7.
- 155. HANSEN, S. G., SACHA, J. B., HUGHES, C. M., FORD, J. C., BURWITZ, B. J., SCHOLZ, I., GILBRIDE, R. M., LEWIS, M. S., GILLIAM, A. N., VENTURA, A. B., MALOULI, D., XU, G., RICHARDS, R., WHIZIN, N., REED, J. S., HAMMOND, K. B., FISCHER, M., TURNER, J. M., LEGASSE, A. W., AXTHELM, M. K., EDLEFSEN, P. T., NELSON, J. A., LIFSON, J. D., FRUH, K. & PICKER, L. J. 2013. Cytomegalovirus vectors violate CD8+ T cell epitope recognition paradigms. *Science*, 340, 1237874.
- 156. HANSEN, S. G., VIEVILLE, C., WHIZIN, N., COYNE-JOHNSON, L., SIESS, D. C., DRUMMOND, D. D., LEGASSE, A. W., AXTHELM, M. K., OSWALD, K., TRUBEY, C. M., PIATAK, M., JR., LIFSON, J. D., NELSON, J. A., JARVIS, M. A. & PICKER, L. J. 2009. Effector memory T cell responses are associated with protection of rhesus monkeys from mucosal simian immunodeficiency virus challenge. *Nat Med*, 15, 293-9.

- 157. HARARI, A., OOMS, M., MULDER, L. C. & SIMON, V. 2009. Polymorphisms and splice variants influence the antiretroviral activity of human APOBEC3H. *J Virol*, 83, 295-303.
- 158. HAYNES, B. F., GILBERT, P. B., MCELRATH, M. J., ZOLLA-PAZNER, S., TOMARAS, G. D., ALAM, S. M., EVANS, D. T., MONTEFIORI, D. C., KARNASUTA, C., SUTTHENT, R., LIAO, H. X., DEVICO, A. L., LEWIS, G. K., WILLIAMS, C., PINTER, A., FONG, Y., JANES, H., DECAMP, A., HUANG, Y., RAO, M., BILLINGS, E., KARASAVVAS, N., ROBB, M. L., NGAUY, V., DE SOUZA, M. S., PARIS, R., FERRARI, G., BAILER, R. T., SODERBERG, K. A., ANDREWS, C., BERMAN, P. W., FRAHM, N., DE ROSA, S. C., ALPERT, M. D., YATES, N. L., SHEN, X., KOUP, R. A., PITISUTTITHUM, P., KAEWKUNGWAL, J., NITAYAPHAN, S., RERKS-NGARM, S., MICHAEL, N. L. & KIM, J. H. 2012. Immune-correlates analysis of an HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trial. *N Engl J Med*, 366, 1275-86.
- 159. HAZENBERG, M. D., OTTO, S. A., VAN BENTHEM, B. H., ROOS, M. T., COUTINHO, R. A., LANGE, J. M., HAMANN, D., PRINS, M. & MIEDEMA, F. 2003. Persistent immune activation in HIV-1 infection is associated with progression to AIDS. *Aids*, 17, 1881-8.
- 160. HAZENBERG, M. D., STUART, J. W., OTTO, S. A., BORLEFFS, J. C., BOUCHER, C. A., DE BOER, R. J., MIEDEMA, F. & HAMANN, D. 2000. T-cell division in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-1 infection is mainly due to immune activation: a longitudinal analysis in patients before and during highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART). *Blood*, 95, 249-55.
- 161. HEL, Z., MCGHEE, J. R. & MESTECKY, J. 2006. HIV infection: first battle decides the war. *Trends Immunol*, 27, 274-81.
- HELLERSTEIN, M. K., HOH, R. A., HANLEY, M. B., CESAR, D., LEE, D., NEESE, R. A. & MCCUNE, J. M. 2003. Subpopulations of long-lived and short-lived T cells in advanced HIV-1 infection. *J Clin Invest*, 112, 956-66.
- 163. HENN, M. R., BOUTWELL, C. L., CHARLEBOIS, P., LENNON, N. J., POWER, K. A., MACALALAD, A. R., BERLIN, A. M., MALBOEUF, C. M., RYAN, E. M., GNERRE, S., ZODY, M. C., ERLICH, R. L., GREEN, L. M., BERICAL, A., WANG, Y., CASALI, M., STREECK, H., BLOOM, A. K., DUDEK, T., TULLY, D., NEWMAN, R., AXTEN, K. L., GLADDEN, A. D., BATTIS, L., KEMPER, M., ZENG, Q., SHEA, T. P., GUJJA, S., ZEDLACK, C., GASSER, O., BRANDER, C., HESS, C., GUNTHARD, H. F., BRUMME, Z. L., BRUMME, C. J., BAZNER, S., RYCHERT, J., TINSLEY, J. P., MAYER, K. H., ROSENBERG, E., PEREYRA, F., LEVIN, J. Z., YOUNG, S. K., JESSEN, H., ALTFELD, M., BIRREN, B. W., WALKER, B. D. & ALLEN, T. M. 2012. Whole genome deep sequencing of HIV-1 reveals the impact of early minor variants upon immune recognition during acute infection. *PLoS Pathog*, 8, e1002529.

- 164. HLADIK, F. & HOPE, T. J. 2009. HIV infection of the genital mucosa in women. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep*, 6, 20-8.
- 165. HONEYBORNE, I., PRENDERGAST, A., PEREYRA, F., LESLIE, A., CRAWFORD, H., PAYNE, R., REDDY, S., BISHOP, K., MOODLEY, E., NAIR, K., VAN DER STOK, M., MCCARTHY, N., ROUSSEAU, C. M., ADDO, M., MULLINS, J. I., BRANDER, C., KIEPIELA, P., WALKER, B. D. & GOULDER, P. J. 2007. Control of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 is associated with HLA-B*13 and targeting of multiple gag-specific CD8+ T-cell epitopes. J Virol, 81, 3667-72.
- 166. HUANG, Y., PAXTON, W. A., WOLINSKY, S. M., NEUMANN, A. U., ZHANG, L., HE, T., KANG, S., CERADINI, D., JIN, Z., YAZDANBAKHSH, K., KUNSTMAN, K., ERICKSON, D., DRAGON, E., LANDAU, N. R., PHAIR, J., HO, D. D. & KOUP, R. A. 1996. The role of a mutant CCR5 allele in HIV-1 transmission and disease progression. *Nat Med*, 2, 1240-3.
- 167. HUBER, M. & TRKOLA, A. 2007. Humoral immunity to HIV-1: neutralization and beyond. *J Intern Med*, 262, 5-25.
- 168. HUBNER, W., MCNERNEY, G. P., CHEN, P., DALE, B. M., GORDON, R. E., CHUANG, F. Y., LI, X. D., ASMUTH, D. M., HUSER, T. & CHEN, B. K. 2009. Quantitative 3D video microscopy of HIV transfer across T cell virological synapses. *Science*, 323, 1743-7.
- 169. IRVINE, K. & BENNINK, J. 2006. Factors influencing immunodominance hierarchies in TCD8+ -mediated antiviral responses. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol*, 2, 135-47.
- 170. IWAMOTO, N., TAKAHASHI, N., SEKI, S., NOMURA, T., YAMAMOTO, H., INOUE, M., SHU, T., NARUSE, T. K., KIMURA, A. & MATANO, T. 2014. Control of simian immunodeficiency virus replication by vaccine-induced Gag-and Vif-specific CD8+ T cells. *Journal of virology*, 88, 425-433.
- IYASERE, C., TILTON, J. C., JOHNSON, A. J., YOUNES, S., YASSINE-DIAB, B., SEKALY, R. P., KWOK, W. W., MIGUELES, S. A., LABORICO, A. C., SHUPERT, W. L., HALLAHAN, C. W., DAVEY, R. T., JR., DYBUL, M., VOGEL, S., METCALF, J. & CONNORS, M. 2003. Diminished proliferation of human immunodeficiency virus-specific CD4+ T cells is associated with diminished interleukin-2 (IL-2) production and is recovered by exogenous IL-2. J Virol, 77, 10900-9.
- 172. JANES, H., FRIEDRICH, D. P., KRAMBRINK, A., SMITH, R. J., KALLAS, E. G., HORTON, H., CASIMIRO, D. R., CARRINGTON, M., GERAGHTY, D. E., GILBERT, P. B., MCELRATH, M. J. & FRAHM, N. 2013. Vaccine-induced gagspecific T cells are associated with reduced viremia after HIV-1 infection. *J Infect Dis*, 208, 1231-9.
- 173. JAVANBAKHT, H., AN, P., GOLD, B., PETERSEN, D. C., O'HUIGIN, C., NELSON, G. W., O'BRIEN, S. J., KIRK, G. D., DETELS, R., BUCHBINDER, S., DONFIELD, S.,

SHULENIN, S., SONG, B., PERRON, M. J., STREMLAU, M., SODROSKI, J., DEAN, M. & WINKLER, C. 2006. Effects of human TRIM5alpha polymorphisms on antiretroviral function and susceptibility to human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Virology*, 354, 15-27.

- 174. JIAO, Y., ZHANG, T., WANG, R., ZHANG, H., HUANG, X., YIN, J., ZHANG, L., XU, X. & WU, H. 2012. Plasma IP-10 is associated with rapid disease progression in early HIV-1 infection. *Viral Immunol*, 25, 333-7.
- 175. JIN, X., BAUER, D. E., TUTTLETON, S. E., LEWIN, S., GETTIE, A., BLANCHARD, J., IRWIN, C. E., SAFRIT, J. T., MITTLER, J., WEINBERGER, L., KOSTRIKIS, L. G., ZHANG, L., PERELSON, A. S. & HO, D. D. 1999. Dramatic rise in plasma viremia after CD8(+) T cell depletion in simian immunodeficiency virusinfected macaques. J Exp Med, 189, 991-8.
- 176. JONES, N. A., WEI, X., FLOWER, D. R., WONG, M., MICHOR, F., SAAG, M. S., HAHN, B. H., NOWAK, M. A., SHAW, G. M. & BORROW, P. 2004. Determinants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 escape from the primary CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocyte response. J Exp Med, 200, 1243-56.
- 177. JULG, B., WILLIAMS, K. L., REDDY, S., BISHOP, K., QI, Y., CARRINGTON, M., GOULDER, P. J., NDUNG'U, T. & WALKER, B. D. 2010. Enhanced anti-HIV functional activity associated with Gag-specific CD8 T-cell responses. J Virol.
- 178. KALAMS, S. A., BUCHBINDER, S. P., ROSENBERG, E. S., BILLINGSLEY, J. M., COLBERT, D. S., JONES, N. G., SHEA, A. K., TROCHA, A. K. & WALKER, B. D. 1999. Association between virus-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte and helper responses in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J Virol*, 73, 6715-20.
- 179. KASLOW, R. A., CARRINGTON, M., APPLE, R., PARK, L., MUNOZ, A., SAAH, A. J., GOEDERT, J. J., WINKLER, C., O'BRIEN, S. J., RINALDO, C., DETELS, R., BLATTNER, W., PHAIR, J., ERLICH, H. & MANN, D. L. 1996. Influence of combinations of human major histocompatibility complex genes on the course of HIV-1 infection. *Nat Med*, 2, 405-11.
- 180. KATSIKIS, P. D., MUELLER, Y. M. & VILLINGER, F. 2011. The cytokine network of acute HIV infection: a promising target for vaccines and therapy to reduce viral set-point? *PLoS Pathog*, *7*, e1002055.
- 181. KAUFMANN, D. E., KAVANAGH, D. G., PEREYRA, F., ZAUNDERS, J. J., MACKEY, E. W., MIURA, T., PALMER, S., BROCKMAN, M., RATHOD, A., PIECHOCKA-TROCHA, A., BAKER, B., ZHU, B., LE GALL, S., WARING, M. T., AHERN, R., MOSS, K., KELLEHER, A. D., COFFIN, J. M., FREEMAN, G. J., ROSENBERG, E. S. & WALKER, B. D. 2007. Upregulation of CTLA-4 by HIVspecific CD4+ T cells correlates with disease progression and defines a reversible immune dysfunction. *Nat Immunol*, 8, 1246-54.

- 182. KAUMANNS, P., HAGMANN, I. & DITTMAR, M. T. 2006. Human TRIM5alpha mediated restriction of different HIV-1 subtypes and Lv2 sensitive and insensitive HIV-2 variants. *Retrovirology*, **3**, 79.
- 183. KAWASHIMA, Y., PFAFFEROTT, K., FRATER, J., MATTHEWS, P., PAYNE, R., ADDO, M., GATANAGA, H., FUJIWARA, M., HACHIYA, A., KOIZUMI, H., KUSE, N., OKA, S., DUDA, A., PRENDERGAST, A., CRAWFORD, H., LESLIE, A., BRUMME, Z., BRUMME, C., ALLEN, T., BRANDER, C., KASLOW, R., TANG, J., HUNTER, E., ALLEN, S., MULENGA, J., BRANCH, S., ROACH, T., JOHN, M., MALLAL, S., OGWU, A., SHAPIRO, R., PRADO, J. G., FIDLER, S., WEBER, J., PYBUS, O. G., KLENERMAN, P., NDUNG'U, T., PHILLIPS, R., HECKERMAN, D., HARRIGAN, P. R., WALKER, B. D., TAKIGUCHI, M. & GOULDER, P. 2009. Adaptation of HIV-1 to human leukocyte antigen class I. *Nature*, 458, 641-5.
- 184. KEATING, S. M., BEJON, P., BERTHOUD, T., VUOLA, J. M., TODRYK, S., WEBSTER, D. P., DUNACHIE, S. J., MOORTHY, V. S., MCCONKEY, S. J., GILBERT, S. C. & HILL, A. V. 2005. Durable human memory T cells quantifiable by cultured enzyme-linked immunospot assays are induced by heterologous prime boost immunization and correlate with protection against malaria. *J Immunol*, 175, 5675-80.
- 185. KEDZIERSKA, K. & CROWE, S. M. 2001. Cytokines and HIV-1: interactions and clinical implications. *Antiviral Chemistry and Chemotherapy*, 12, 133-150.
- 186. KEELE, B. F., GIORGI, E. E., SALAZAR-GONZALEZ, J. F., DECKER, J. M., PHAM, K. T., SALAZAR, M. G., SUN, C., GRAYSON, T., WANG, S., LI, H., WEI, X., JIANG, C., KIRCHHERR, J. L., GAO, F., ANDERSON, J. A., PING, L. H., SWANSTROM, R., TOMARAS, G. D., BLATTNER, W. A., GOEPFERT, P. A., KILBY, J. M., SAAG, M. S., DELWART, E. L., BUSCH, M. P., COHEN, M. S., MONTEFIORI, D. C., HAYNES, B. F., GASCHEN, B., ATHREYA, G. S., LEE, H. Y., WOOD, N., SEOIGHE, C., PERELSON, A. S., BHATTACHARYA, T., KORBER, B. T., HAHN, B. H. & SHAW, G. M. 2008. Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 7552-7.
- 187. KEELE, B. F., LI, H., LEARN, G. H., HRABER, P., GIORGI, E. E., GRAYSON, T., SUN, C., CHEN, Y., YEH, W. W., LETVIN, N. L., MASCOLA, J. R., NABEL, G. J., HAYNES, B. F., BHATTACHARYA, T., PERELSON, A. S., KORBER, B. T., HAHN, B. H. & SHAW, G. M. 2009. Low-dose rectal inoculation of rhesus macaques by SIVsmE660 or SIVmac251 recapitulates human mucosal infection by HIV-1. J Exp Med, 206, 1117-34.
- 188. KEELE, B. F., VAN HEUVERSWYN, F., LI, Y., BAILES, E., TAKEHISA, J., SANTIAGO, M. L., BIBOLLET-RUCHE, F., CHEN, Y., WAIN, L. V., LIEGEOIS, F., LOUL, S., NGOLE, E. M., BIENVENUE, Y., DELAPORTE, E., BROOKFIELD, J. F., SHARP, P. M., SHAW, G. M., PEETERS, M. & HAHN, B. H. 2006. Chimpanzee reservoirs of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1. *Science*, 313, 523-6.

- 189. KEIR, M. E., FRANCISCO, L. M. & SHARPE, A. H. 2007. PD-1 and its ligands in T-cell immunity. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 19, 309-14.
- 190. KESTENS, L., VANHAM, G., GIGASE, P., YOUNG, G., HANNET, I., VANLANGENDONCK, F., HULSTAERT, F. & BACH, B. A. 1992. Expression of activation antigens, HLA-DR and CD38, on CD8 lymphocytes during HIV-1 infection. *AIDS*, 6, 793-7.
- KIEPIELA, P., LESLIE, A. J., HONEYBORNE, I., RAMDUTH, D., THOBAKGALE, C., CHETTY, S., RATHNAVALU, P., MOORE, C., PFAFFEROTT, K. J., HILTON, L., ZIMBWA, P., MOORE, S., ALLEN, T., BRANDER, C., ADDO, M. M., ALTFELD, M., JAMES, I., MALLAL, S., BUNCE, M., BARBER, L. D., SZINGER, J., DAY, C., KLENERMAN, P., MULLINS, J., KORBER, B., COOVADIA, H. M., WALKER, B. D. & GOULDER, P. J. 2004. Dominant influence of HLA-B in mediating the potential co-evolution of HIV and HLA. *Nature*, 432, 769-75.
- 192. KIEPIELA, P., NGUMBELA, K., THOBAKGALE, C., RAMDUTH, D., HONEYBORNE, I., MOODLEY, E., REDDY, S., DE PIERRES, C., MNCUBE, Z., MKHWANAZI, N., BISHOP, K., VAN DER STOK, M., NAIR, K., KHAN, N., CRAWFORD, H., PAYNE, R., LESLIE, A., PRADO, J., PRENDERGAST, A., FRATER, J., MCCARTHY, N., BRANDER, C., LEARN, G. H., NICKLE, D., ROUSSEAU, C., COOVADIA, H., MULLINS, J. I., HECKERMAN, D., WALKER, B. D. & GOULDER, P. 2007. CD8+ T-cell responses to different HIV proteins have discordant associations with viral load. *Nat Med*, 13, 46-53.
- 193. KLARMANN, G. J., CHEN, X., NORTH, T. W. & PRESTON, B. D. 2003. Incorporation of uracil into minus strand DNA affects the specificity of plus strand synthesis initiation during lentiviral reverse transcription. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 7902-9.
- 194. KLEIN, S. A., DOBMEYER, J. M., DOBMEYER, T. S., FALKE, D., KABELITZ, D., FRIESE, K., HELM, E. B., HOELZER, D. & ROSSOL-VOTH, R. 1996. TNF-alpha mediated apoptosis of CD4 positive T-lymphocytes. A model of T-cell depletion in HIV infected individuals. *Eur J Med Res*, **1**, 249-58.
- 195. KOIBUCHI, T., ALLEN, T. M., LICHTERFELD, M., MUI, S. K., O'SULLIVAN, K. M., TROCHA, A., KALAMS, S. A., JOHNSON, R. P. & WALKER, B. D. 2005. Limited sequence evolution within persistently targeted CD8 epitopes in chronic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J Virol*, 79, 8171-81.
- 196. KORBER, B., GASCHEN, B., YUSIM, K., THAKALLAPALLY, R., KESMIR, C. & DETOURS, V. 2001. Evolutionary and immunological implications of contemporary HIV-1 variation. *Br Med Bull*, 58, 19-42.
- 197. KORBER, B. T., LETVIN, N. L. & HAYNES, B. F. 2009. T-cell vaccine strategies for human immunodeficiency virus, the virus with a thousand faces. *J Virol*, 83, 8300-14.

- 198. KORNFELD, C., PLOQUIN, M. J., PANDREA, I., FAYE, A., ONANGA, R., APETREI, C., POATY-MAVOUNGOU, V., ROUQUET, P., ESTAQUIER, J., MORTARA, L., DESOUTTER, J. F., BUTOR, C., LE GRAND, R., ROQUES, P., SIMON, F., BARRE-SINOUSSI, F., DIOP, O. M. & MULLER-TRUTWIN, M. C. 2005. Antiinflammatory profiles during primary SIV infection in African green monkeys are associated with protection against AIDS. J Clin Invest, 115, 1082-91.
- 199. KOUP, R. A., SAFRIT, J. T., CAO, Y., ANDREWS, C. A., MCLEOD, G., BORKOWSKY, W., FARTHING, C. & HO, D. D. 1994. Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. *J Virol*, 68, 4650-5.
- 200. KOUP, R. A., SULLIVAN, J. L., LEVINE, P. H., BRETTLER, D., MAHR, A., MAZZARA, G., MCKENZIE, S. & PANICALI, D. 1989. Detection of major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted, HIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in the blood of infected hemophiliacs. *Blood*, 73, 1909-14.
- 201. KROWKA, J. F., CUEVAS, B., MARON, D. C., STEIMER, K. S., ASCHER, M. S. & SHEPPARD, H. W. 1996. Expression of CD69 after in vitro stimulation: a rapid method for quantitating impaired lymphocyte responses in HIVinfected individuals. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes and Human Retrovirology*, 11, 95-104.
- KWONG, P. D., DOYLE, M. L., CASPER, D. J., CICALA, C., LEAVITT, S. A., MAJEED, S., STEENBEKE, T. D., VENTURI, M., CHAIKEN, I., FUNG, M., KATINGER, H., PARREN, P. W., ROBINSON, J., VAN RYK, D., WANG, L., BURTON, D. R., FREIRE, E., WYATT, R., SODROSKI, J., HENDRICKSON, W. A. & ARTHOS, J. 2002. HIV-1 evades antibody-mediated neutralization through conformational masking of receptor-binding sites. *Nature*, 420, 678-82.
- LAMBOTTE, O., FERRARI, G., MOOG, C., YATES, N. L., LIAO, H. X., PARKS, R. J., HICKS, C. B., OWZAR, K., TOMARAS, G. D., MONTEFIORI, D. C., HAYNES, B. F. & DELFRAISSY, J. F. 2009. Heterogeneous neutralizing antibody and antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity responses in HIV-1 elite controllers. *AIDS*, 23, 897-906.
- 204. LASSEN, K. G., LOBRITZ, M. A., BAILEY, J. R., JOHNSTON, S., NGUYEN, S., LEE, B., CHOU, T., SILICIANO, R. F., MARKOWITZ, M. & ARTS, E. J. 2009. Elite suppressor-derived HIV-1 envelope glycoproteins exhibit reduced entry efficiency and kinetics. *PLoS Pathog*, 5, e1000377.
- LEDERMAN, M. M., KALISH, L. A., ASMUTH, D., FIEBIG, E., MILENO, M. & BUSCH, M. P. 2000. 'Modeling' relationships among HIV-1 replication, immune activation and CD4+ T-cell losses using adjusted correlative analyses. *Aids*, 14, 951-8.

- LEE, H. Y., GIORGI, E. E., KEELE, B. F., GASCHEN, B., ATHREYA, G. S., SALAZAR-GONZALEZ, J. F., PHAM, K. T., GOEPFERT, P. A., KILBY, J. M., SAAG, M. S., DELWART, E. L., BUSCH, M. P., HAHN, B. H., SHAW, G. M., KORBER, B. T., BHATTACHARYA, T. & PERELSON, A. S. 2009. Modeling sequence evolution in acute HIV-1 infection. *J Theor Biol*, 261, 341-60.
- 207. LESLIE, A. J., PFAFFEROTT, K. J., CHETTY, P., DRAENERT, R., ADDO, M. M., FEENEY, M., TANG, Y., HOLMES, E. C., ALLEN, T., PRADO, J. G., ALTFELD, M., BRANDER, C., DIXON, C., RAMDUTH, D., JEENA, P., THOMAS, S. A., ST JOHN, A., ROACH, T. A., KUPFER, B., LUZZI, G., EDWARDS, A., TAYLOR, G., LYALL, H., TUDOR-WILLIAMS, G., NOVELLI, V., MARTINEZ-PICADO, J., KIEPIELA, P., WALKER, B. D. & GOULDER, P. J. 2004. HIV evolution: CTL escape mutation and reversion after transmission. *Nat Med*, 10, 282-9.
- 208. LEVESQUE, K., ZHAO, Y. S. & COHEN, E. A. 2003. Vpu exerts a positive effect on HIV-1 infectivity by down-modulating CD4 receptor molecules at the surface of HIV-1-producing cells. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 28346-53.
- 209. LI, B., GLADDEN, A. D., ALTFELD, M., KALDOR, J. M., COOPER, D. A., KELLEHER, A. D. & ALLEN, T. M. 2007. Rapid reversion of sequence polymorphisms dominates early human immunodeficiency virus type 1 evolution. *J Virol*, 81, 193-201.
- LI, F., FINNEFROCK, A. C., DUBEY, S. A., KORBER, B. T., SZINGER, J., COLE, S., MCELRATH, M. J., SHIVER, J. W., CASIMIRO, D. R., COREY, L. & SELF, S. G. 2011. Mapping HIV-1 vaccine induced T-cell responses: bias towards lessconserved regions and potential impact on vaccine efficacy in the Step study. *PLoS One*, 6, e20479.
- 211. LI, Q., DUAN, L., ESTES, J. D., MA, Z. M., ROURKE, T., WANG, Y., REILLY, C., CARLIS, J., MILLER, C. J. & HAASE, A. T. 2005. Peak SIV replication in resting memory CD4+ T cells depletes gut lamina propria CD4+ T cells. *Nature*, 434, 1148-52.
- LIAO, H. X., BONSIGNORI, M., ALAM, S. M., MCLELLAN, J. S., TOMARAS, G. D., MOODY, M. A., KOZINK, D. M., HWANG, K. K., CHEN, X., TSAO, C. Y., LIU, P., LU, X., PARKS, R. J., MONTEFIORI, D. C., FERRARI, G., POLLARA, J., RAO, M., PEACHMAN, K. K., SANTRA, S., LETVIN, N. L., KARASAVVAS, N., YANG, Z. Y., DAI, K., PANCERA, M., GORMAN, J., WIEHE, K., NICELY, N. I., RERKS-NGARM, S., NITAYAPHAN, S., KAEWKUNGWAL, J., PITISUTTITHUM, P., TARTAGLIA, J., SINANGIL, F., KIM, J. H., MICHAEL, N. L., KEPLER, T. B., KWONG, P. D., MASCOLA, J. R., NABEL, G. J., PINTER, A., ZOLLA-PAZNER, S. & HAYNES, B. F. 2013. Vaccine induction of antibodies against a structurally heterogeneous site of immune pressure within HIV-1 envelope protein variable regions 1 and 2. *Immunity*, 38, 176-86.
- 213. LICHTERFELD, M., KAUFMANN, D. E., YU, X. G., MUI, S. K., ADDO, M. M., JOHNSTON, M. N., COHEN, D., ROBBINS, G. K., PAE, E., ALTER, G., WURCEL,

A., STONE, D., ROSENBERG, E. S., WALKER, B. D. & ALTFELD, M. 2004a. Loss of HIV-1-specific CD8+ T cell proliferation after acute HIV-1 infection and restoration by vaccine-induced HIV-1-specific CD4+ T cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 200, 701-12.

- 214. LICHTERFELD, M., YU, X. G., COHEN, D., ADDO, M. M., MALENFANT, J., PERKINS, B., PAE, E., JOHNSTON, M. N., STRICK, D., ALLEN, T. M., ROSENBERG, E. S., KORBER, B., WALKER, B. D. & ALTFELD, M. 2004b. HIV-1 Nef is preferentially recognized by CD8 T cells in primary HIV-1 infection despite a relatively high degree of genetic diversity. *Aids*, 18, 1383-92.
- 215. LICHTERFELD, M., YU, X. G., LE GALL, S. & ALTFELD, M. 2005. Immunodominance of HIV-1-specific CD8(+) T-cell responses in acute HIV-1 infection: at the crossroads of viral and host genetics. *Trends Immunol*, 26, 166-71.
- 216. LIOVAT, A. S., REY-CUILLE, M. A., LECUROUX, C., JACQUELIN, B., GIRAULT, I., PETITJEAN, G., ZITOUN, Y., VENET, A., BARRE-SINOUSSI, F., LEBON, P., MEYER, L., SINET, M. & MULLER-TRUTWIN, M. 2012. Acute plasma biomarkers of T cell activation set-point levels and of disease progression in HIV-1 infection. *PLoS One*, 7, e46143.
- 217. LIU, J., KEELE, B. F., LI, H., KEATING, S., NORRIS, P. J., CARVILLE, A., MANSFIELD, K. G., TOMARAS, G. D., HAYNES, B. F., KOLODKIN-GAL, D., LETVIN, N. L., HAHN, B. H., SHAW, G. M. & BAROUCH, D. H. 2010. Low-dose mucosal simian immunodeficiency virus infection restricts early replication kinetics and transmitted virus variants in rhesus monkeys. J Virol, 84, 10406-12.
- LIU, J., O'BRIEN, K. L., LYNCH, D. M., SIMMONS, N. L., LA PORTE, A., RIGGS, A. M., ABBINK, P., COFFEY, R. T., GRANDPRE, L. E., SEAMAN, M. S., LANDUCCI, G., FORTHAL, D. N., MONTEFIORI, D. C., CARVILLE, A., MANSFIELD, K. G., HAVENGA, M. J., PAU, M. G., GOUDSMIT, J. & BAROUCH, D. H. 2009a. Immune control of an SIV challenge by a T-cell-based vaccine in rhesus monkeys. *Nature*, 457, 87-91.
- 219. LIU, M. K., HAWKINS, N., RITCHIE, A. J., GANUSOV, V. V., WHALE, V., BRACKENRIDGE, S., LI, H., PAVLICEK, J. W., CAI, F., ROSE-ABRAHAMS, M., TREURNICHT, F., HRABER, P., RIOU, C., GRAY, C., FERRARI, G., TANNER, R., PING, L. H., ANDERSON, J. A., SWANSTROM, R., COHEN, M., KARIM, S. S., HAYNES, B., BORROW, P., PERELSON, A. S., SHAW, G. M., HAHN, B. H., WILLIAMSON, C., KORBER, B. T., GAO, F., SELF, S., MCMICHAEL, A. & GOONETILLEKE, N. 2013. Vertical T cell immunodominance and epitope entropy determine HIV-1 escape. J Clin Invest, 123, 380-93.
- 220. LIU, Y., MCNEVIN, J., ROLLAND, M., ZHAO, H., DENG, W., MAENZA, J., STEVENS, C. E., COLLIER, A. C., MCELRATH, M. J. & MULLINS, J. I. 2009b.

Conserved HIV-1 epitopes continuously elicit subdominant cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses. *J Infect Dis,* 200, 1825-33.

- 221. LIU, Z., CUMBERLAND, W. G., HULTIN, L. E., KAPLAN, A. H., DETELS, R. & GIORGI, J. V. 1998. CD8+ T-lymphocyte activation in HIV-1 disease reflects an aspect of pathogenesis distinct from viral burden and immunodeficiency. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes and Human Retrovirology*, 18, 332-40.
- 222. LIU, Z., CUMBERLAND, W. G., HULTIN, L. E., PRINCE, H. E., DETELS, R. & GIORGI, J. V. 1997. Elevated CD38 antigen expression on CD8+ T cells is a stronger marker for the risk of chronic HIV disease progression to AIDS and death in the Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study than CD4+ cell count, soluble immune activation markers, or combinations of HLA-DR and CD38 expression. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol, 16, 83-92.
- 223. LLANO, A., WILLIAMS, A., OVERA, A., SILVA-ARRIETA, S. & BRANDER, C. 2013. Best-Characterized HIV-1 CTL Epitopes: The 2013 Update. *HIV Molecular Immunology.* Los Alamos, New Mexico: Theoretical Biology and Biophysics,.
- 224. LOFFREDO, J. T., BEAN, A. T., BEAL, D. R., LEON, E. J., MAY, G. E., PIASKOWSKI, S. M., FURLOTT, J. R., REED, J., MUSANI, S. K., RAKASZ, E. G., FRIEDRICH, T. C., WILSON, N. A., ALLISON, D. B. & WATKINS, D. I. 2008. Patterns of CD8+ immunodominance may influence the ability of Mamu-B*08-positive macaques to naturally control simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239 replication. J Virol, 82, 1723-38.
- 225. LORE, K., SONNERBORG, A., BROSTROM, C., GOH, L. E., PERRIN, L., MCDADE, H., STELLBRINK, H. J., GAZZARD, B., WEBER, R., NAPOLITANO, L. A., VAN KOOYK, Y. & ANDERSSON, J. 2002. Accumulation of DC-SIGN+CD40+ dendritic cells with reduced CD80 and CD86 expression in lymphoid tissue during acute HIV-1 infection. *AIDS*, 16, 683-92.
- 226. LUBONG SABADO, R., KAVANAGH, D. G., KAUFMANN, D. E., FRU, K., BABCOCK, E., ROSENBERG, E., WALKER, B., LIFSON, J., BHARDWAJ, N. & LARSSON, M. 2009. In vitro priming recapitulates in vivo HIV-1 specific T cell responses, revealing rapid loss of virus reactive CD4 T cells in acute HIV-1 infection. *PLoS One*, 4, e4256.
- 227. MACGREGOR, R. R., BOYER, J. D., UGEN, K. E., LACY, K. E., GLUCKMAN, S. J., BAGARAZZI, M. L., CHATTERGOON, M. A., BAINE, Y., HIGGINS, T. J., CICCARELLI, R. B., CONEY, L. R., GINSBERG, R. S. & WEINER, D. B. 1998. First human trial of a DNA-based vaccine for treatment of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection: safety and host response. J Infect Dis, 178, 92-100.
- 228. MAENZA, J. & FLEXNER, C. 1998. Combination antiretroviral therapy for HIV infection. *American Family Physician*, 57, 2789-98.

- 229. MALLERET, B., MANEGLIER, B., KARLSSON, I., LEBON, P., NASCIMBENI, M., PERIE, L., BROCHARD, P., DELACHE, B., CALVO, J., ANDRIEU, T., SPREUX-VAROQUAUX, O., HOSMALIN, A., LE GRAND, R. & VASLIN, B. 2008. Primary infection with simian immunodeficiency virus: plasmacytoid dendritic cell homing to lymph nodes, type I interferon, and immune suppression. *Blood*, 112, 4598-608.
- 230. MARIN, M., ROSE, K. M., KOZAK, S. L. & KABAT, D. 2003. HIV-1 Vif protein binds the editing enzyme APOBEC3G and induces its degradation. *Nat Med*, 9, 1398-403.
- 231. MARTINEZ-PICADO, J., PRADO, J. G., FRY, E. E., PFAFFEROTT, K., LESLIE, A., CHETTY, S., THOBAKGALE, C., HONEYBORNE, I., CRAWFORD, H., MATTHEWS, P., PILLAY, T., ROUSSEAU, C., MULLINS, J. I., BRANDER, C., WALKER, B. D., STUART, D. I., KIEPIELA, P. & GOULDER, P. 2006. Fitness cost of escape mutations in p24 Gag in association with control of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol, 80, 3617-23.
- 232. MASCOLA, J. R. & MONTEFIORI, D. C. 2010. The role of antibodies in HIV vaccines. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 28, 413-44.
- 233. MASEMOLA, A., MASHISHI, T., KHOURY, G., MOHUBE, P., MOKGOTHO, P., VARDAS, E., COLVIN, M., ZIJENAH, L., KATZENSTEIN, D., MUSONDA, R., ALLEN, S., KUMWENDA, N., TAHA, T., GRAY, G., MCINTYRE, J., KARIM, S. A., SHEPPARD, H. W. & GRAY, C. M. 2004a. Hierarchical targeting of subtype C human immunodeficiency virus type 1 proteins by CD8+ T cells: correlation with viral load. J Virol, 78, 3233-43.
- 234. MASEMOLA, A. M., MASHISHI, T. N., KHOURY, G., BREDELL, H., PAXIMADIS, M., MATHEBULA, T., BARKHAN, D., PUREN, A., VARDAS, E., COLVIN, M., ZIJENAH, L., KATZENSTEIN, D., MUSONDA, R., ALLEN, S., KUMWENDA, N., TAHA, T., GRAY, G., MCINTYRE, J., KARIM, S. A., SHEPPARD, H. W. & GRAY, C. M. 2004b. Novel and promiscuous CTL epitopes in conserved regions of Gag targeted by individuals with early subtype C HIV type 1 infection from southern Africa. J Immunol, 173, 4607-17.
- MAUCLERE, P., LOUSSERT-AJAKA, I., DAMOND, F., FAGOT, P., SOUQUIERES, S., MONNY LOBE, M., MBOPI KEOU, F. X., BARRE-SINOUSSI, F., SARAGOSTI, S., BRUN-VEZINET, F. & SIMON, F. 1997. Serological and virological characterization of HIV-1 group O infection in Cameroon. *Aids*, 11, 445-53.
- 236. MBISA, J. L., BARR, R., THOMAS, J. A., VANDEGRAAFF, N., DORWEILER, I. J., SVAROVSKAIA, E. S., BROWN, W. L., MANSKY, L. M., GORELICK, R. J., HARRIS, R. S., ENGELMAN, A. & PATHAK, V. K. 2007. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 cDNAs produced in the presence of APOBEC3G exhibit defects in plus-strand DNA transfer and integration. J Virol, 81, 7099-110.

- 237. MCDERMOTT, A. B. & KOUP, R. A. 2012. CD8(+) T cells in preventing HIV infection and disease. *Aids*, 26, 1281-92.
- 238. MCELRATH, M. J., DE ROSA, S. C., MOODIE, Z., DUBEY, S., KIERSTEAD, L., JANES, H., DEFAWE, O. D., CARTER, D. K., HURAL, J., AKONDY, R., BUCHBINDER, S. P., ROBERTSON, M. N., MEHROTRA, D. V., SELF, S. G., COREY, L., SHIVER, J. W. & CASIMIRO, D. R. 2008. HIV-1 vaccine-induced immunity in the test-of-concept Step Study: a case-cohort analysis. *The Lancet*, 372, 1894-1905.
- 239. MCMICHAEL, A. J., BORROW, P., TOMARAS, G. D., GOONETILLEKE, N. & HAYNES, B. F. 2010. The immune response during acute HIV-1 infection: clues for vaccine development. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 10, 11-23.
- 240. MEIER, A., ALTER, G., FRAHM, N., SIDHU, H., LI, B., BAGCHI, A., TEIGEN, N., STREECK, H., STELLBRINK, H. J., HELLMAN, J., VAN LUNZEN, J. & ALTFELD, M. 2007. MyD88-dependent immune activation mediated by human immunodeficiency virus type 1-encoded Toll-like receptor ligands. *Journal* of Virology, 81, 8180-91.
- MELLORS, J. W., KINGSLEY, L. A., RINALDO, C. R., JR., TODD, J. A., HOO, B. S., KOKKA, R. P. & GUPTA, P. 1995. Quantitation of HIV-1 RNA in plasma predicts outcome after seroconversion. *Ann Intern Med*, 122, 573-9.
- 242. MELLORS, J. W., MUNOZ, A., GIORGI, J. V., MARGOLICK, J. B., TASSONI, C. J., GUPTA, P., KINGSLEY, L. A., TODD, J. A., SAAH, A. J. & DETELS, R. 1997. Plasma viral load and CD4+ lymphocytes as prognostic markers of HIV-1 infection. *Annals of internal medicine*, 126, 946-954.
- 243. MIEDEMA, F., HAZENBERG, M. D., TESSELAAR, K., VAN BAARLE, D., DE BOER, R. J. & BORGHANS, J. A. 2013. Immune Activation and Collateral Damage in AIDS Pathogenesis. *Front Immunol*, 4, 298.
- 244. MIGUELES, S. A., LABORICO, A. C., SHUPERT, W. L., SABBAGHIAN, M. S., RABIN, R., HALLAHAN, C. W., VAN BAARLE, D., KOSTENSE, S., MIEDEMA, F., MCLAUGHLIN, M., EHLER, L., METCALF, J., LIU, S. & CONNORS, M. 2002. HIV-specific CD8+ T cell proliferation is coupled to perforin expression and is maintained in nonprogressors. *Nat Immunol*, 3, 1061-8.
- 245. MIGUELES, S. A., OSBORNE, C. M., ROYCE, C., COMPTON, A. A., JOSHI, R. P., WEEKS, K. A., ROOD, J. E., BERKLEY, A. M., SACHA, J. B., COGLIANO-SHUTTA, N. A., LLOYD, M., ROBY, G., KWAN, R., MCLAUGHLIN, M., STALLINGS, S., REHM, C., O'SHEA, M. A., MICAN, J., PACKARD, B. Z., KOMORIYA, A., PALMER, S., WIEGAND, A. P., MALDARELLI, F., COFFIN, J. M., MELLORS, J. W., HALLAHAN, C. W., FOLLMAN, D. A. & CONNORS, M. 2008. Lytic granule loading of CD8+ T cells is required for HIV-infected cell elimination associated with immune control. *Immunity*, 29, 1009-21.

- 246. MILLER, M. D., WARMERDAM, M. T., GASTON, I., GREENE, W. C. & FEINBERG, M. B. 1994. The human immunodeficiency virus-1 nef gene product: a positive factor for viral infection and replication in primary lymphocytes and macrophages. *J Exp Med*, 179, 101-13.
- 247. MIURA, T., BROCKMAN, M. A., BRUMME, Z. L., BRUMME, C. J., PEREYRA, F., TROCHA, A., BLOCK, B. L., SCHNEIDEWIND, A., ALLEN, T. M., HECKERMAN, D. & WALKER, B. D. 2009. HLA-associated alterations in replication capacity of chimeric NL4-3 viruses carrying gag-protease from elite controllers of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol, 83, 140-9.
- 248. MIURA, T., BRUMME, Z. L., BROCKMAN, M. A., ROSATO, P., SELA, J., BRUMME, C. J., PEREYRA, F., KAUFMANN, D. E., TROCHA, A., BLOCK, B. L., DAAR, E. S., CONNICK, E., JESSEN, H., KELLEHER, A. D., ROSENBERG, E., MARKOWITZ, M., SCHAFER, K., VAIDA, F., IWAMOTO, A., LITTLE, S. & WALKER, B. D. 2010. Impaired replication capacity of acute/early viruses in persons who become HIV controllers. J Virol, 84, 7581-91.
- 249. MLOTSHWA, M., RIOU, C., CHOPERA, D., DE ASSIS ROSA, D., NTALE, R., TREUNICHT, F., WOODMAN, Z., WERNER, L., VAN LOGGERENBERG, F., MLISANA, K., ABDOOL KARIM, S., WILLIAMSON, C. & GRAY, C. M. 2010. Fluidity of HIV-1-specific T-cell responses during acute and early subtype C HIV-1 infection and associations with early disease progression. *J Virol*, 84, 12018-29.
- 250. MONAJEMI, M., WOODWORTH, C. F., BENKAROUN, J., GRANT, M. & LARIJANI, M. 2012. Emerging complexities of APOBEC3G action on immunity and viral fitness during HIV infection and treatment. *Retrovirology*, 9, 35.
- 251. MONINI, P., SGADARI, C., TOSCHI, E., BARILLARI, G. & ENSOLI, B. 2004. Antitumour effects of antiretroviral therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 4, 861-75.
- 252. MOOIJ, P., BALLA-JHAGJHOORSINGH, S. S., BEENHAKKER, N., VAN HAAFTEN, P., BAAK, I., NIEUWENHUIS, I. G., HEIDARI, S., WOLF, H., FRACHETTE, M. J., BIELER, K., SHEPPARD, N., HARARI, A., BART, P. A., LILJESTROM, P., WAGNER, R., PANTALEO, G. & HEENEY, J. L. 2009. Comparison of human and rhesus macaque T-cell responses elicited by boosting with NYVAC encoding human immunodeficiency virus type 1 clade C immunogens. J Virol, 83, 5881-9.
- 253. MOORE, C. B., JOHN, M., JAMES, I. R., CHRISTIANSEN, F. T., WITT, C. S. & MALLAL, S. A. 2002. Evidence of HIV-1 adaptation to HLA-restricted immune responses at a population level. *Science*, 296, 1439-43.
- 254. MOORE, J. P. 1997. Coreceptors: implications for HIV pathogenesis and therapy. *Science*, 276, 51-2.

- 255. MOORE, P. L., GRAY, E. S., CHOGE, I. A., RANCHOBE, N., MLISANA, K., ABDOOL KARIM, S. S., WILLIAMSON, C., MORRIS, L. & TEAM, C. S. 2008. The c3-v4 region is a major target of autologous neutralizing antibodies in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. *J Virol*, 82, 1860-9.
- 256. MOTHE, B., LLANO, A., IBARRONDO, J., DANIELS, M., MIRANDA, C., ZAMARREÑO, J., BACH, V., ZUNIGA, R., PÉREZ-ÁLVAREZ, S. & BERGER, C. T. 2011. Definition of the viral targets of protective HIV-1-specific T cell responses. *Journal of translational medicine*, 9, 208.
- 257. MUDD, P. A., MARTINS, M. A., ERICSEN, A. J., TULLY, D. C., POWER, K. A., BEAN, A. T., PIASKOWSKI, S. M., DUAN, L., SEESE, A. & GLADDEN, A. D. 2012. Vaccine-induced CD8+ T cells control AIDS virus replication. *Nature*, 491, 129-133.
- 258. MUELLER, Y. M., DO, D. H., ALTORK, S. R., ARTLETT, C. M., GRACELY, E. J., KATSETOS, C. D., LEGIDO, A., VILLINGER, F., ALTMAN, J. D., BROWN, C. R., LEWIS, M. G. & KATSIKIS, P. D. 2008. IL-15 treatment during acute simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection increases viral set point and accelerates disease progression despite the induction of stronger SIVspecific CD8+ T cell responses. *J Immunol*, 180, 350-60.
- 259. MUNCH, J., RAJAN, D., SCHINDLER, M., SPECHT, A., RUCKER, E., NOVEMBRE, F. J., NERRIENET, E., MULLER-TRUTWIN, M. C., PEETERS, M., HAHN, B. H. & KIRCHHOFF, F. 2007. Nef-mediated enhancement of virion infectivity and stimulation of viral replication are fundamental properties of primate lentiviruses. J Virol, 81, 13852-64.
- 260. MURDOCH, C. & FINN, A. 2000. Chemokine receptors and their role in inflammation and infectious diseases. *Blood*, 95, 3032-3043.
- 261. MURO-CACHO, C. A., PANTALEO, G. & FAUCI, A. S. 1995. Analysis of apoptosis in lymph nodes of HIV-infected persons. Intensity of apoptosis correlates with the general state of activation of the lymphoid tissue and not with stage of disease or viral burden. *J Immunol*, 154, 5555-66.
- 262. MUSEY, L. K., KRIEGER, J. N., HUGHES, J. P., SCHACKER, T. W., COREY, L. & MCELRATH, M. J. 1999. Early and persistent human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific T helper dysfunction in blood and lymph nodes following acute HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis, 180, 278-84.
- 263. MWIMANZI, P., MARKLE, T. J., MARTIN, E., OGATA, Y., KUANG, X. T., TOKUNAGA, M., MAHITI, M., PEREYRA, F., MIURA, T. & WALKER, B. D. 2013. Attenuation of multiple Nef functions in HIV-1 elite controllers. *Retrovirology*, 10, 1.
- 264. NAICKER, D. D., WERNER, L., KORMUTH, E., PASSMORE, J. A., MLISANA, K., KARIM, S. A. & NDUNG'U, T. 2009. Interleukin-10 promoter polymorphisms

influence HIV-1 susceptibility and primary HIV-1 pathogenesis. *J Infect Dis,* 200, 448-52.

- 265. NDHLOVU, Z. M., PROUDFOOT, J., CESA, K., ALVINO, D. M., MCMULLEN, A., VINE, S., STAMPOULOGLOU, E., PIECHOCKA-TROCHA, A., WALKER, B. D. & PEREYRA, F. 2012. Elite controllers with low to absent effector CD8+ T cell responses maintain highly functional, broadly directed central memory responses. J Virol, 86, 6959-69.
- 266. NDUNG'U, T. & WEISS, R. A. 2012. On HIV diversity. AIDS, 26, 1255-60.
- 267. NEEFJES, J., JONGSMA, M. L., PAUL, P. & BAKKE, O. 2011. Towards a systems understanding of MHC class I and MHC class II antigen presentation. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 11, 823-36.
- 268. NEIL, S. J., ZANG, T. & BIENIASZ, P. D. 2008. Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. *Nature*, 451, 425-30.
- 269. NGUMBELA, K. C., DAY, C. L., MNCUBE, Z., NAIR, K., RAMDUTH, D., THOBAKGALE, C., MOODLEY, E., REDDY, S., DE PIERRES, C., MKHWANAZI, N., BISHOP, K., VAN DER STOK, M., ISMAIL, N., HONEYBORNE, I., CRAWFORD, H., KAVANAGH, D. G., ROUSSEAU, C., NICKLE, D., MULLINS, J., HECKERMAN, D., KORBER, B., COOVADIA, H., KIEPIELA, P., GOULDER, P. J. & WALKER, B. D. 2008. Targeting of a CD8 T cell env epitope presented by HLA-B*5802 is associated with markers of HIV disease progression and lack of selection pressure. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses*, 24, 72-82.
- NILSSON, J., KINLOCH-DE-LOES, S., GRANATH, A., SONNERBORG, A., GOH, L.
 E. & ANDERSSON, J. 2007. Early immune activation in gut-associated and peripheral lymphoid tissue during acute HIV infection. *AIDS*, 21, 565-74.
- 271. NIU, M. T., STEIN, D. S. & SCHNITTMAN, S. M. 1993. Primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection: review of pathogenesis and early treatment intervention in humans and animal retrovirus infections. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 168, 1490-501.
- 272. NORTHFIELD, J. W., LOO, C. P., BARBOUR, J. D., SPOTTS, G., HECHT, F. M., KLENERMAN, P., NIXON, D. F. & MICHAELSSON, J. 2007. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)-specific CD8+ T(EMRA) cells in early infection are linked to control of HIV-1 viremia and predict the subsequent viral load set point. J Virol, 81, 5759-65.
- 273. NOVITSKY, V., GILBERT, P., PETER, T., MCLANE, M. F., GAOLEKWE, S., RYBAK, N., THIOR, I., NDUNG'U, T., MARLINK, R., LEE, T. H. & ESSEX, M. 2003. Association between virus-specific T-cell responses and plasma viral load in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. J Virol, 77, 882-90.

- 274. NOVITSKY, V., RYBAK, N., MCLANE, M. F., GILBERT, P., CHIGWEDERE, P., KLEIN, I., GAOLEKWE, S., CHANG, S. Y., PETER, T., THIOR, I., NDUNG'U, T., VANNBERG, F., FOLEY, B. T., MARLINK, R., LEE, T. H. & ESSEX, M. 2001. Identification of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C Gag-, Tat-, Rev-, and Nef-specific elispot-based cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses for AIDS vaccine design. J Virol, 75, 9210-28.
- 275. NOWROOZALIZADEH, S., MANSSON, F., DA SILVA, Z., REPITS, J., DABO, B., PEREIRA, C., BIAGUE, A., ALBERT, J., NIELSEN, J., AABY, P., FENYO, E. M., NORRGREN, H., HOLMGREN, B. & JANSSON, M. 2010. Microbial translocation correlates with the severity of both HIV-1 and HIV-2 infections. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 201, 1150-4.
- 276. OGG, G. S., JIN, X., BONHOEFFER, S., DUNBAR, P. R., NOWAK, M. A., MONARD, S., SEGAL, J. P., CAO, Y., ROWLAND-JONES, S. L., CERUNDOLO, V., HURLEY, A., MARKOWITZ, M., HO, D. D., NIXON, D. F. & MCMICHAEL, A. J. 1998. Quantitation of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and plasma load of viral RNA. *Science*, 279, 2103-6.
- 277. OKOYE, A., MEIER-SCHELLERSHEIM, M., BRENCHLEY, J. M., HAGEN, S. I., WALKER, J. M., ROHANKHEDKAR, M., LUM, R., EDGAR, J. B., PLANER, S. L., LEGASSE, A., SYLWESTER, A. W., PIATAK, M., JR., LIFSON, J. D., MAINO, V. C., SODORA, D. L., DOUEK, D. C., AXTHELM, M. K., GROSSMAN, Z. & PICKER, L. J. 2007. Progressive CD4+ central memory T cell decline results in CD4+ effector memory insufficiency and overt disease in chronic SIV infection. J Exp Med, 204, 2171-85.
- 278. OSBORN, L., KUNKEL, S. & NABEL, G. J. 1989. Tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 1 stimulate the human immunodeficiency virus enhancer by activation of the nuclear factor kappa B. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 86, 2336-40.
- 279. PALA, P., SERWANGA, J., WATERA, C., RITCHIE, A. J., MOODIE, Z., WANG, M., GOONETILLEKE, N., BIRABWA, E., HUGHES, P., SENKAALI, D., NAKIBONEKA, R., GROSSKURTH, H., HAYNES, B., MCMICHAEL, A. & KALEEBU, P. 2013. Quantitative and qualitative differences in the T cell response to HIV in uninfected Ugandans exposed or unexposed to HIV infected partners. J Virol.
- 280. PALMER, B. E., NEFF, C. P., LECUREUX, J., EHLER, A., DSOUZA, M., REMLING-MULDER, L., KORMAN, A. J., FONTENOT, A. P. & AKKINA, R. 2013. In vivo blockade of the PD-1 receptor suppresses HIV-1 viral loads and improves CD4+ T cell levels in humanized mice. J Immunol, 190, 211-9.
- 281. PALMER, S., KEARNEY, M., MALDARELLI, F., HALVAS, E. K., BIXBY, C. J., BAZMI, H., ROCK, D., FALLOON, J., DAVEY, R. T., JR., DEWAR, R. L., METCALF, J. A., HAMMER, S., MELLORS, J. W. & COFFIN, J. M. 2005. Multiple, linked human immunodeficiency virus type 1 drug resistance

mutations in treatment-experienced patients are missed by standard genotype analysis. *J Clin Microbiol*, 43, 406-13.

- 282. PANTALEO, G., DEMAREST, J. F., SOUDEYNS, H., GRAZIOSI, C., DENIS, F., ADELSBERGER, J. W., BORROW, P., SAAG, M. S., SHAW, G. M., SEKALY, R. P. & ET AL. 1994. Major expansion of CD8+ T cells with a predominant V beta usage during the primary immune response to HIV. *Nature*, 370, 463-7.
- 283. PANTALEO, G., GRAZIOSI, C., BUTINI, L., PIZZO, P. A., SCHNITTMAN, S. M., KOTLER, D. P. & FAUCI, A. S. 1991. Lymphoid organs function as major reservoirs for human immunodeficiency virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 88, 9838-42.
- 284. PANTALEO, G., GRAZIOSI, C. & FAUCI, A. S. 1993. The role of lymphoid organs in the pathogenesis of HIV infection. *Semin Immunol*, 5, 157-63.
- 285. PANTOPHLET, R. & BURTON, D. R. 2006. GP120: target for neutralizing HIV-1 antibodies. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 24, 739-69.
- 286. PARDIEU, C., VIGAN, R., WILSON, S. J., CALVI, A., ZANG, T., BIENIASZ, P., KELLAM, P., TOWERS, G. J. & NEIL, S. J. 2010. The RING-CH ligase K5 antagonizes restriction of KSHV and HIV-1 particle release by mediating ubiquitin-dependent endosomal degradation of tetherin. *PLoS Pathog*, 6, e1000843.
- 287. PAYNE, R. P., KLOVERPRIS, H., SACHA, J. B., BRUMME, Z., BRUMME, C., BUUS, S., SIMS, S., HICKLING, S., RIDDELL, L., CHEN, F., LUZZI, G., EDWARDS, A., PHILLIPS, R., PRADO, J. G. & GOULDER, P. J. 2010. Efficacious early antiviral activity of HIV Gag- and Pol-specific HLA-B 2705-restricted CD8+ T cells. J Virol, 84, 10543-57.
- 288. PEDERSEN, C., DICKMEISS, E., GAUB, J., RYDER, L. P., PLATZ, P., LINDHARDT, B. O. & LUNDGREN, J. D. 1990. T-cell subset alterations and lymphocyte responsiveness to mitogens and antigen during severe primary infection with HIV: a case series of seven consecutive HIV seroconverters. *AIDS*, 4, 523-6.
- 289. PEDERSEN, C., LINDHARDT, B. O., JENSEN, B. L., LAURITZEN, E., GERSTOFT, J., DICKMEISS, E., GAUB, J., SCHEIBEL, E. & KARLSMARK, T. 1989. Clinical course of primary HIV infection: consequences for subsequent course of infection. *BMJ*, 299, 154-7.
- PEREYRA, F., ADDO, M. M., KAUFMANN, D. E., LIU, Y., MIURA, T., RATHOD, A., BAKER, B., TROCHA, A., ROSENBERG, R., MACKEY, E., UEDA, P., LU, Z., COHEN, D., WRIN, T., PETROPOULOS, C. J., ROSENBERG, E. S. & WALKER, B. D. 2008. Genetic and immunologic heterogeneity among persons who control HIV infection in the absence of therapy. *J Infect Dis*, 197, 563-71.

- 291. PEREZ, C. L., MILUSH, J. M., BUGGERT, M., ERIKSSON, E. M., LARSEN, M. V., LIEGLER, T., HARTOGENSIS, W., BACCHETTI, P., LUND, O., HECHT, F. M., NIXON, D. F. & KARLSSON, A. C. 2013. Targeting of conserved gag-epitopes in early HIV infection is associated with lower plasma viral load and slower CD4(+) T cell depletion. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses*, 29, 602-12.
- PEREZ-CABALLERO, D., ZANG, T., EBRAHIMI, A., MCNATT, M. W., GREGORY,
 D. A., JOHNSON, M. C. & BIENIASZ, P. D. 2009. Tetherin inhibits HIV-1 release by directly tethering virions to cells. *Cell*, 139, 499-511.
- 293. PERREAU, M., LEVY, Y. & PANTALEO, G. 2013. Immune response to HIV. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*, 8, 333-40.
- 294. PERRIN, L., KAISER, L. & YERLY, S. 2003. Travel and the spread of HIV-1 genetic variants. *Lancet Infect Dis*, **3**, 22-7.
- PETROVAS, C., CASAZZA, J. P., BRENCHLEY, J. M., PRICE, D. A., GOSTICK, E., ADAMS, W. C., PRECOPIO, M. L., SCHACKER, T., ROEDERER, M., DOUEK, D. C. & KOUP, R. A. 2006. PD-1 is a regulator of virus-specific CD8+ T cell survival in HIV infection. *J Exp Med*, 203, 2281-92.
- 296. PION, M., GRANELLI-PIPERNO, A., MANGEAT, B., STALDER, R., CORREA, R., STEINMAN, R. M. & PIGUET, V. 2006. APOBEC3G/3F mediates intrinsic resistance of monocyte-derived dendritic cells to HIV-1 infection. *J Exp Med*, 203, 2887-93.
- 297. PLANTIER, J. C., LEOZ, M., DICKERSON, J. E., DE OLIVEIRA, F., CORDONNIER, F., LEMEE, V., DAMOND, F., ROBERTSON, D. L. & SIMON, F. 2009. A new human immunodeficiency virus derived from gorillas. *Nat Med*, **15**, 871-2.
- 298. PLOTKIN, S. A. 2009. Sang Froid in a time of trouble: is a vaccine against HIV possible? *J Int AIDS Soc*, 12, 2.
- 299. PLOTKIN, S. A. 2010. Correlates of protection induced by vaccination. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*, 17, 1055-65.
- 300. PLOTKIN, S. A. 2013. Complex correlates of protection after vaccination. *Clin Infect Dis*, 56, 1458-65.
- 301. PRICE, D. A., GOULDER, P. J., KLENERMAN, P., SEWELL, A. K., EASTERBROOK, P. J., TROOP, M., BANGHAM, C. R. & PHILLIPS, R. E. 1997. Positive selection of HIV-1 cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape variants during primary infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 1890-5.
- 302. PRINCE, J. L., CLAIBORNE, D. T., CARLSON, J. M., SCHAEFER, M., YU, T., LAHKI, S., PRENTICE, H. A., YUE, L., VISHWANATHAN, S. A., KILEMBE, W., GOEPFERT, P., PRICE, M. A., GILMOUR, J., MULENGA, J., FARMER, P., DERDEYN, C. A., TANG, J., HECKERMAN, D., KASLOW, R. A., ALLEN, S. A. & HUNTER, E. 2012. Role of transmitted Gag CTL polymorphisms in defining

replicative capacity and early HIV-1 pathogenesis. *PLoS Pathog*, 8, e1003041.

- 303. RADEBE, M., NAIR, K., CHONCO, F., BISHOP, K., WRIGHT, J. K., VAN DER STOK, M., BASSETT, I. V., MNCUBE, Z., ALTFELD, M., WALKER, B. D. & NDUNG'U, T. 2011. Limited Immunogenicity of HIV CD8+ T-Cell Epitopes in Acute Clade C Virus Infection. J Infect Dis, 204, 768-76.
- 304. RAMDUTH, D., CHETTY, P., MNGQUANDANISO, N. C., NENE, N., HARLOW, J. D., HONEYBORNE, I., NTUMBA, N., GAPPOO, S., HENRY, C., JEENA, P., ADDO, M. M., ALTFELD, M., BRANDER, C., DAY, C., COOVADIA, H., KIEPIELA, P., GOULDER, P. & WALKER, B. 2005. Differential immunogenicity of HIV-1 clade C proteins in eliciting CD8+ and CD4+ cell responses. *J Infect Dis*, 192, 1588-96.
- REECE, J. C., ALCANTARA, S., GOONERATNE, S., JEGASKANDA, S., AMARESENA, T., FERNANDEZ, C. S., LAURIE, K., HURT, A., O'CONNOR, S. L. & HARRIS, M. 2013. Trivalent live attenuated Influenza-SIV vaccines: efficacy and evolution of CTL escape in macaques. *Journal of virology*, JVI. 02645-12.
- 306. REECE, W. H., PINDER, M., GOTHARD, P. K., MILLIGAN, P., BOJANG, K., DOHERTY, T., PLEBANSKI, M., AKINWUNMI, P., EVERAERE, S., WATKINS, K. R., VOSS, G., TORNIEPORTH, N., ALLOUECHE, A., GREENWOOD, B. M., KESTER, K. E., MCADAM, K. P., COHEN, J. & HILL, A. V. 2004. A CD4(+) T-cell immune response to a conserved epitope in the circumsporozoite protein correlates with protection from natural Plasmodium falciparum infection and disease. *Nat Med*, 10, 406-10.
- 307. RERKS-NGARM, S., PITISUTTITHUM, P., NITAYAPHAN, S., KAEWKUNGWAL, J., CHIU, J., PARIS, R., PREMSRI, N., NAMWAT, C., DE SOUZA, M., ADAMS, E., BENENSON, M., GURUNATHAN, S., TARTAGLIA, J., MCNEIL, J. G., FRANCIS, D. P., STABLEIN, D., BIRX, D. L., CHUNSUTTIWAT, S., KHAMBOONRUANG, C., THONGCHAROEN, P., ROBB, M. L., MICHAEL, N. L., KUNASOL, P., KIM, J. H. & THE MOPH-TAVEG INVESTIGATORS 2009. Vaccination with ALVAC and AIDSVAX to Prevent HIV-1 Infection in Thailand. N Engl J Med, 361, 2209-2220.
- 308. REYMOND, A., MERONI, G., FANTOZZI, A., MERLA, G., CAIRO, S., LUZI, L., RIGANELLI, D., ZANARIA, E., MESSALI, S., CAINARCA, S., GUFFANTI, A., MINUCCI, S., PELICCI, P. G. & BALLABIO, A. 2001. The tripartite motif family identifies cell compartments. *EMBO J*, 20, 2140-51.
- 309. REYNOLDS, M. R., RAKASZ, E., SKINNER, P. J., WHITE, C., ABEL, K., MA, Z. M., COMPTON, L., NAPOE, G., WILSON, N., MILLER, C. J., HAASE, A. & WATKINS, D. I. 2005. CD8+ T-lymphocyte response to major immunodominant epitopes after vaginal exposure to simian immunodeficiency virus: too late and too little. J Virol, 79, 9228-35.

- 310. RICHARDSON, M. W., GUO, L., XIN, F., YANG, X. & RILEY, J. L. 2014. Stabilized Human TRIM5 Alpha Protects Human T cells from HIV-1 Infection. *Mol Ther*.
- 311. RICHMAN, D. D., WRIN, T., LITTLE, S. J. & PETROPOULOS, C. J. 2003. Rapid evolution of the neutralizing antibody response to HIV type 1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 4144-9.
- 312. RIOU, C., BURGERS, W. A., MLISANA, K., KOUP, R. A., ROEDERER, M., KARIM, S. S. A., WILLIAMSON, C. & GRAY, C. M. 2014. Differential Impact of Magnitude, Polyfunctional Capacity, and Specificity of HIV-Specific CD8+ T Cell Responses on HIV Set Point. *Journal of virology*, 88, 1819-1824.
- 313. ROBERTS, L., PASSMORE, J. A., WILLIAMSON, C., LITTLE, F., BEBELL, L. M., MLISANA, K., BURGERS, W. A., VAN LOGGERENBERG, F., WALZL, G., DJOBA SIAWAYA, J. F., KARIM, Q. A. & KARIM, S. S. 2010. Plasma cytokine levels during acute HIV-1 infection predict HIV disease progression. *Aids*, 24, 819-31.
- 314. ROBERTSON, D. L., ANDERSON, J. P., BRADAC, J. A., CARR, J. K., FOLEY, B., FUNKHOUSER, R. K., GAO, F., HAHN, B. H., KALISH, M. L., KUIKEN, C., LEARN, G. H., LEITNER, T., MCCUTCHAN, F., OSMANOV, S., PEETERS, M., PIENIAZEK, D., SALMINEN, M., SHARP, P. M., WOLINSKY, S. & KORBER, B. 2000. HIV-1 nomenclature proposal. *Science*, 288, 55-6.
- 315. RODRIGUEZ, F., HARKINS, S., SLIFKA, M. K. & WHITTON, J. L. 2002. Immunodominance in virus-induced CD8(+) T-cell responses is dramatically modified by DNA immunization and is regulated by gamma interferon. *J Virol*, 76, 4251-9.
- 316. ROEDERER, M. 2001. Spectral compensation for flow cytometry: visualization artifacts, limitations, and caveats. *Cytometry*, 45, 194-205.
- 317. ROLLAND, M., HECKERMAN, D., DENG, W., ROUSSEAU, C. M., COOVADIA, H., BISHOP, K., GOULDER, P. J., WALKER, B. D., BRANDER, C. & MULLINS, J. I. 2008. Broad and Gag-biased HIV-1 epitope repertoires are associated with lower viral loads. *PLoS One*, *3*, e1424.
- 318. ROSENBERG, E. S., BILLINGSLEY, J. M., CALIENDO, A. M., BOSWELL, S. L., SAX, P. E., KALAMS, S. A. & WALKER, B. D. 1997. Vigorous HIV-1-specific CD4+ T cell responses associated with control of viremia. *Science*, 278, 1447-50.
- 319. ROYCE, R. A., SENA, A., CATES, W., JR. & COHEN, M. S. 1997. Sexual transmission of HIV. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 336, 1072-8.
- 320. SAADE, F., GORSKI, S. A. & PETROVSKY, N. 2012. Pushing the frontiers of Tcell vaccines: accurate measurement of human T-cell responses. *Expert Rev Vaccines*, 11, 1459-70.

- 321. SACHA, J. B., CHUNG, C., RAKASZ, E. G., SPENCER, S. P., JONAS, A. K., BEAN, A. T., LEE, W., BURWITZ, B. J., STEPHANY, J. J., LOFFREDO, J. T., ALLISON, D. B., ADNAN, S., HOJI, A., WILSON, N. A., FRIEDRICH, T. C., LIFSON, J. D., YANG, O. O. & WATKINS, D. I. 2007. Gag-specific CD8+ T lymphocytes recognize infected cells before AIDS-virus integration and viral protein expression. J Immunol, 178, 2746-54.
- 322. SAEZ-CIRION, A., SINET, M., SHIN, S. Y., URRUTIA, A., VERSMISSE, P., LACABARATZ, C., BOUFASSA, F., AVETTAND-FENOEL, V., ROUZIOUX, C., DELFRAISSY, J. F., BARRE-SINOUSSI, F., LAMBOTTE, O., VENET, A. & PANCINO, G. 2009. Heterogeneity in HIV suppression by CD8 T cells from HIV controllers: association with Gag-specific CD8 T cell responses. J Immunol, 182, 7828-37.
- 323. SALAZAR-GONZALEZ, J. F., SALAZAR, M. G., KEELE, B. F., LEARN, G. H., GIORGI, E. E., LI, H., DECKER, J. M., WANG, S., BAALWA, J., KRAUS, M. H., PARRISH, N. F., SHAW, K. S., GUFFEY, M. B., BAR, K. J., DAVIS, K. L., OCHSENBAUER-JAMBOR, C., KAPPES, J. C., SAAG, M. S., COHEN, M. S., MULENGA, J., DERDEYN, C. A., ALLEN, S., HUNTER, E., MARKOWITZ, M., HRABER, P., PERELSON, A. S., BHATTACHARYA, T., HAYNES, B. F., KORBER, B. T., HAHN, B. H. & SHAW, G. M. 2009. Genetic identity, biological phenotype, and evolutionary pathways of transmitted/founder viruses in acute and early HIV-1 infection. J Exp Med, 206, 1273-89.
- 324. SAUNDERS, K. O., WARD-CAVINESS, C., SCHUTTE, R. J., FREEL, S. A., OVERMAN, R. G., THIELMAN, N. M., CUNNINGHAM, C. K., KEPLER, T. B. & TOMARAS, G. D. 2011. Secretion of MIP-1β and MIP-1α by CD8< sup>+</sup> T-lymphocytes correlates with HIV-1 inhibition independent of coreceptor usage. *Cellular immunology*, 266, 154-164.
- 325. SCHEID, J. F., MOUQUET, H., UEBERHEIDE, B., DISKIN, R., KLEIN, F., OLIVEIRA, T. Y., PIETZSCH, J., FENYO, D., ABADIR, A., VELINZON, K., HURLEY, A., MYUNG, S., BOULAD, F., POIGNARD, P., BURTON, D. R., PEREYRA, F., HO, D. D., WALKER, B. D., SEAMAN, M. S., BJORKMAN, P. J., CHAIT, B. T. & NUSSENZWEIG, M. C. 2011. Sequence and structural convergence of broad and potent HIV antibodies that mimic CD4 binding. *Science*, 333, 1633-7.
- 326. SCHELLENS, I. M., NAVIS, M., VAN DEUTEKOM, H. W., BOESER-NUNNINK, B., BERKHOUT, B., KOOTSTRA, N., MIEDEMA, F., KESMIR, C., SCHUITEMAKER, H., VAN BAARLE, D. & BORGHANS, J. A. 2011. Loss of HIV-1-derived cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitopes restricted by protective HLA-B alleles during the HIV-1 epidemic. *Aids*, 25, 1691-700.
- 327. SCHIEFFER, M., JESSEN, H., OSTER, A., PISSANI, F., SOGHOIAN, D. Z., LU, R., JESSEN, A., ZEDLACK, C., SCHULTZ, B., DAVIS, I., RANASINGHE, S., ROSENBERG, E. S., ALTER, G., SCHUMANN, R. & STREECK, H. 2014. Induction of Gag-specific CD4 T cell responses during acute HIV infection is associated with improved viral control. J Virol.

- 328. SCHIFFNER, T., SATTENTAU, Q. J. & DORRELL, L. 2013. Development of prophylactic vaccines against HIV-1. *Retrovirology*, 10, 72.
- 329. SCHINDLER, M., RAJAN, D., BANNING, C., WIMMER, P., KOPPENSTEINER, H., IWANSKI, A., SPECHT, A., SAUTER, D., DOBNER, T. & KIRCHHOFF, F. 2010. Vpu serine 52 dependent counteraction of tetherin is required for HIV-1 replication in macrophages, but not in ex vivo human lymphoid tissue. *Retrovirology*, 7, 1.
- SCHMITZ, J. E., KURODA, M. J., SANTRA, S., SASSEVILLE, V. G., SIMON, M. A., LIFTON, M. A., RACZ, P., TENNER-RACZ, K., DALESANDRO, M., SCALLON, B. J., GHRAYEB, J., FORMAN, M. A., MONTEFIORI, D. C., RIEBER, E. P., LETVIN, N. L. & REIMANN, K. A. 1999. Control of viremia in simian immunodeficiency virus infection by CD8+ lymphocytes. *Science*, 283, 857-60.
- 331. SCHNEIDEWIND, A., BROCKMAN, M. A., SIDNEY, J., WANG, Y. E., CHEN, H., SUSCOVICH, T. J., LI, B., ADAM, R. I., ALLGAIER, R. L., MOTHE, B. R., KUNTZEN, T., ONIANGUE-NDZA, C., TROCHA, A., YU, X. G., BRANDER, C., SETTE, A., WALKER, B. D. & ALLEN, T. M. 2008. Structural and functional constraints limit options for cytotoxic T-lymphocyte escape in the immunodominant HLA-B27-restricted epitope in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 capsid. J Virol, 82, 5594-605.
- 332. SCHNEIDEWIND, A., BROCKMAN, M. A., YANG, R., ADAM, R. I., LI, B., LE GALL, S., RINALDO, C. R., CRAGGS, S. L., ALLGAIER, R. L., POWER, K. A., KUNTZEN, T., TUNG, C. S., LABUTE, M. X., MUELLER, S. M., HARRER, T., MCMICHAEL, A. J., GOULDER, P. J., AIKEN, C., BRANDER, C., KELLEHER, A. D. & ALLEN, T. M. 2007. Escape from the dominant HLA-B27-restricted cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response in Gag is associated with a dramatic reduction in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. *J Virol*, 81, 12382-93.
- 333. SCHWARTZ, O., MARECHAL, V., LE GALL, S., LEMONNIER, F. & HEARD, J. M. 1996. Endocytosis of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules is induced by the HIV-1 Nef protein. *Nat Med*, 2, 338-42.
- 334. SCOTT-ALGARA, D., TRUONG, L. X., VERSMISSE, P., DAVID, A., LUONG, T. T., NGUYEN, N. V., THEODOROU, I., BARRE-SINOUSSI, F. & PANCINO, G. 2003. Cutting edge: increased NK cell activity in HIV-1-exposed but uninfected Vietnamese intravascular drug users. J Immunol, 171, 5663-7.
- 335. SHARP, P. M. & HAHN, B. H. 2011. Origins of HIV and the AIDS pandemic. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, 1, a006841.
- 336. SHARPE, A. H., WHERRY, E. J., AHMED, R. & FREEMAN, G. J. 2007. The function of programmed cell death 1 and its ligands in regulating autoimmunity and infection. *Nat Immunol*, *8*, 239-45.

- 337. SHEEHY, A. M., GADDIS, N. C., CHOI, J. D. & MALIM, M. H. 2002. Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. *Nature*, 418, 646-50.
- 338. SHEEHY, A. M., GADDIS, N. C. & MALIM, M. H. 2003. The antiretroviral enzyme APOBEC3G is degraded by the proteasome in response to HIV-1 Vif. *Nat Med*, 9, 1404-7.
- 339. SHEN, X., PARKS, R. J., MONTEFIORI, D. C., KIRCHHERR, J. L., KEELE, B. F., DECKER, J. M., BLATTNER, W. A., GAO, F., WEINHOLD, K. J., HICKS, C. B., GREENBERG, M. L., HAHN, B. H., SHAW, G. M., HAYNES, B. F. & TOMARAS, G. D. 2009. In vivo gp41 antibodies targeting the 2F5 monoclonal antibody epitope mediate human immunodeficiency virus type 1 neutralization breadth. J Virol, 83, 3617-25.
- 340. SHIN, H. D., WINKLER, C., STEPHENS, J. C., BREAM, J., YOUNG, H., GOEDERT, J. J., O'BRIEN, T. R., VLAHOV, D., BUCHBINDER, S., GIORGI, J., RINALDO, C., DONFIELD, S., WILLOUGHBY, A., O'BRIEN, S. J. & SMITH, M. W. 2000. Genetic restriction of HIV-1 pathogenesis to AIDS by promoter alleles of IL10. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 97, 14467-72.
- 341. SIERRA, S., KUPFER, B. & KAISER, R. 2005. Basics of the virology of HIV-1 and its replication. *J Clin Virol*, 34, 233-44.
- 342. SIMEK, M. D., RIDA, W., PRIDDY, F. H., PUNG, P., CARROW, E., LAUFER, D. S., LEHRMAN, J. K., BOAZ, M., TARRAGONA-FIOL, T., MIIRO, G., BIRUNGI, J., POZNIAK, A., MCPHEE, D. A., MANIGART, O., KARITA, E., INWOLEY, A., JAOKO, W., DEHOVITZ, J., BEKKER, L. G., PITISUTTITHUM, P., PARIS, R., WALKER, L. M., POIGNARD, P., WRIN, T., FAST, P. E., BURTON, D. R. & KOFF, W. C. 2009. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 elite neutralizers: individuals with broad and potent neutralizing activity identified by using a high-throughput neutralization assay together with an analytical selection algorithm. *J Virol*, 83, 7337-48.
- 343. SIMON, F., MAUCLERE, P., ROQUES, P., LOUSSERT-AJAKA, I., MULLER-TRUTWIN, M. C., SARAGOSTI, S., GEORGES-COURBOT, M. C., BARRE-SINOUSSI, F. & BRUN-VEZINET, F. 1998. Identification of a new human immunodeficiency virus type 1 distinct from group M and group O. *Nat Med*, 4, 1032-7.
- 344. SOUMELIS, V., SCOTT, I., GHEYAS, F., BOUHOUR, D., COZON, G., COTTE, L., HUANG, L., LEVY, J. A. & LIU, Y. J. 2001. Depletion of circulating natural type 1 interferon-producing cells in HIV-infected AIDS patients. *Blood*, 98, 906-12.
- 345. SOUTH AFRICAN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH. 2011. National Antenatal Sentinel HIV & Syphilis Prevalence Survey. Pretoria, South Africa: South African Department of Health.

- 346. SPEARMAN, P. 2003. HIV vaccine development: lessons from the past and promise for the future. *Curr HIV Res*, 1, 101-20.
- 347. SPEELMON, E. C., LIVINGSTON-ROSANOFF, D., LI, S. S., VU, Q., BUI, J., GERAGHTY, D. E., ZHAO, L. P. & MCELRATH, M. J. 2006. Genetic association of the antiviral restriction factor TRIM5alpha with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *J Virol*, 80, 2463-71.
- 348. SPIRA, A. I., MARX, P. A., PATTERSON, B. K., MAHONEY, J., KOUP, R. A., WOLINSKY, S. M. & HO, D. D. 1996. Cellular targets of infection and route of viral dissemination after an intravaginal inoculation of simian immunodeficiency virus into rhesus macaques. *J Exp Med*, 183, 215-25.
- 349. SRIKANTH, P., CASTILLO, R. C., SRIDHARAN, G., JOHN, T. J., ZACHARIAH, A., MATHAI, D. & SCHWARTZ, D. H. 2000. Increase in plasma IL-10 levels and rapid loss of CD4+ T cells among HIV-infected individuals in south India. *Int J STD AIDS*, 11, 49-51.
- 350. STACEY, A. R., NORRIS, P. J., QIN, L., HAYGREEN, E. A., TAYLOR, E., HEITMAN, J., LEBEDEVA, M., DECAMP, A., LI, D., GROVE, D., SELF, S. G. & BORROW, P. 2009. Induction of a striking systemic cytokine cascade prior to peak viremia in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection, in contrast to more modest and delayed responses in acute hepatitis B and C virus infections. J Virol, 83, 3719-33.
- 351. STAMATATOS, L., MORRIS, L., BURTON, D. R. & MASCOLA, J. R. 2009. Neutralizing antibodies generated during natural HIV-1 infection: good news for an HIV-1 vaccine? *Nat Med*, 15, 866-70.
- 352. STATS SA. 2013. Mid-year population estimates. *In:* AFRICA, S. S. (ed.). Pretoria.
- 353. STEPHENSON, K. E., SANMIGUEL, A., SIMMONS, N. L., SMITH, K., LEWIS, M. G., SZINGER, J. J., KORBER, B. & BAROUCH, D. H. 2012. Full-length HIV-1 immunogens induce greater magnitude and comparable breadth of T lymphocyte responses to conserved HIV-1 regions compared with conserved-region-only HIV-1 immunogens in rhesus monkeys. J Virol, 86, 11434-40.
- 354. STONE, M., KEELE, B. F., MA, Z. M., BAILES, E., DUTRA, J., HAHN, B. H., SHAW, G. M. & MILLER, C. J. 2010. A limited number of simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) env variants are transmitted to rhesus macaques vaginally inoculated with SIVmac251. J Virol, 84, 7083-95.
- 355. STREECK, H., FRAHM, N. & WALKER, B. D. 2009a. The role of IFN-gamma Elispot assay in HIV vaccine research. *Nat Protoc*, **4**, 461-9.
- 356. STREECK, H., JOLIN, J. S., QI, Y., YASSINE-DIAB, B., JOHNSON, R. C., KWON, D. S., ADDO, M. M., BRUMME, C., ROUTY, J. P., LITTLE, S., JESSEN, H. K.,

KELLEHER, A. D., HECHT, F. M., SEKALY, R. P., ROSENBERG, E. S., WALKER, B. D., CARRINGTON, M. & ALTFELD, M. 2009b. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific CD8+ T-cell responses during primary infection are major determinants of the viral set point and loss of CD4+ T cells. *J Virol*, 83, 7641-8.

- 357. STREECK, H. & NIXON, D. F. 2010. T cell immunity in acute HIV-1 infection. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 202 Suppl 2, S302-8.
- STREMLAU, M., OWENS, C. M., PERRON, M. J., KIESSLING, M., AUTISSIER, P.
 & SODROSKI, J. 2004. The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys. *Nature*, 427, 848-53.
- 359. STYLIANOU, E., AUKRUST, P., KVALE, D., MULLER, F. & FROLAND, S. S. 1999. IL-10 in HIV infection: increasing serum IL-10 levels with disease progression--down-regulatory effect of potent anti-retroviral therapy. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 116, 115-20.
- 360. SUN, Y., IGLESIAS, E., SAMRI, A., KAMKAMIDZE, G., DECOVILLE, T., CARCELAIN, G. & AUTRAN, B. 2003. A systematic comparison of methods to measure HIV-1 specific CD8 T cells. *J Immunol Methods*, 272, 23-34.
- 361. SUNDQUIST, W. I. & KRAUSSLICH, H. G. 2012. HIV-1 assembly, budding, and maturation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, 2, a006924.
- 362. SWINGLER, S., MANN, A., JACQUE, J., BRICHACEK, B., SASSEVILLE, V. G., WILLIAMS, K., LACKNER, A. A., JANOFF, E. N., WANG, R., FISHER, D. & STEVENSON, M. 1999. HIV-1 Nef mediates lymphocyte chemotaxis and activation by infected macrophages. *Nature Medicine*, 5, 997-103.
- 363. TAKAHASHI, N., NOMURA, T., TAKAHARA, Y., YAMAMOTO, H., SHIINO, T., TAKEDA, A., INOUE, M., IIDA, A., HARA, H. & SHU, T. 2013. A novel protective MHC-I haplotype not associated with dominant Gag-specific CD8+ T-cell responses in SIVmac239 infection of Burmese rhesus macaques. *PloS one*, 8, e54300.
- 364. TANAKA, Y., MARUSAWA, H., SENO, H., MATSUMOTO, Y., UEDA, Y., KODAMA, Y., ENDO, Y., YAMAUCHI, J., MATSUMOTO, T., TAKAORI-KONDO, A., IKAI, I. & CHIBA, T. 2006. Anti-viral protein APOBEC3G is induced by interferon-alpha stimulation in human hepatocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 341, 314-9.
- 365. TAYLOR, B. S. & HAMMER, S. M. 2008. The challenge of HIV-1 subtype diversity. *N Engl J Med*, 359, 1965-6.
- 366. TENZER, S., WEE, E., BURGEVIN, A., STEWART-JONES, G., FRIIS, L., LAMBERTH, K., CHANG, C. H., HARNDAHL, M., WEIMERSHAUS, M., GERSTOFT, J., AKKAD, N., KLENERMAN, P., FUGGER, L., JONES, E. Y., MCMICHAEL, A. J., BUUS, S., SCHILD, H., VAN ENDERT, P. & IVERSEN, A. K.
2009. Antigen processing influences HIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte immunodominance. *Nat Immunol,* 10, 636-46.

- 367. THOBAKGALE, C. F., RAMDUTH, D., REDDY, S., MKHWANAZI, N., DE PIERRES, C., MOODLEY, E., MPHATSWE, W., BLANCKENBERG, N., CENGIMBO, A., PRENDERGAST, A., TUDOR-WILLIAMS, G., DONG, K., JEENA, P., KINDRA, G., BOBAT, R., COOVADIA, H., KIEPIELA, P., WALKER, B. D. & GOULDER, P. J. 2007. Human immunodeficiency virus-specific CD8+ T-cell activity is detectable from birth in the majority of in utero-infected infants. *J Virol*, 81, 12775-84.
- 368. TINDALL, B., BARKER, S., DONOVAN, B., BARNES, T., ROBERTS, J., KRONENBERG, C., GOLD, J., PENNY, R. & COOPER, D. 1988. Characterization of the acute clinical illness associated with human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 148, 945-9.
- 369. TITANJI, K., SAMMICHELI, S., DE MILITO, A., MANTEGANI, P., FORTIS, C., BERG, L., KARRE, K., TRAVI, G., TASSANDIN, C., LOPALCO, L., RETHI, B., TAMBUSSI, G. & CHIODI, F. 2008. Altered distribution of natural killer cell subsets identified by CD56, CD27 and CD70 in primary and chronic human immunodeficiency virus-1 infection. *Immunology*, 123, 164-70.
- 370. TODRYK, S. M., BEJON, P., MWANGI, T., PLEBANSKI, M., URBAN, B., MARSH, K., HILL, A. V. & FLANAGAN, K. L. 2008. Correlation of memory T cell responses against TRAP with protection from clinical malaria, and CD4 CD25 high T cells with susceptibility in Kenyans. *PLoS One*, 3, e2027.
- 371. TOMARAS, G. D., FERRARI, G., SHEN, X., ALAM, S. M., LIAO, H. X., POLLARA, J., BONSIGNORI, M., MOODY, M. A., FONG, Y., CHEN, X., POLING, B., NICHOLSON, C. O., ZHANG, R., LU, X., PARKS, R., KAEWKUNGWAL, J., NITAYAPHAN, S., PITISUTTITHUM, P., RERKS-NGARM, S., GILBERT, P. B., KIM, J. H., MICHAEL, N. L., MONTEFIORI, D. C. & HAYNES, B. F. 2013. Vaccine-induced plasma IgA specific for the C1 region of the HIV-1 envelope blocks binding and effector function of IgG. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110, 9019-24.
- 372. TRAUTMANN, L., JANBAZIAN, L., CHOMONT, N., SAID, E. A., GIMMIG, S., BESSETTE, B., BOULASSEL, M. R., DELWART, E., SEPULVEDA, H., BALDERAS, R. S., ROUTY, J. P., HADDAD, E. K. & SEKALY, R. P. 2006. Upregulation of PD-1 expression on HIV-specific CD8+ T cells leads to reversible immune dysfunction. *Nat Med*, 12, 1198-202.
- 373. TROYER, R. M., MCNEVIN, J., LIU, Y., ZHANG, S. C., KRIZAN, R. W., ABRAHA, A., TEBIT, D. M., ZHAO, H., AVILA, S., LOBRITZ, M. A., MCELRATH, M. J., LE GALL, S., MULLINS, J. I. & ARTS, E. J. 2009. Variable fitness impact of HIV-1 escape mutations to cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) response. *PLoS Pathog*, 5, e1000365.

- 374. TURK, G., GHIGLIONE, Y., FALIVENE, J., SOCIAS, M. E., LAUFER, N., COLOCCINI, R. S., RODRIGUEZ, A. M., RUIZ, M. J., PANDO, M. A., GIAVEDONI, L. D., CAHN, P., SUED, O., SALOMON, H. & GHERARDI, M. M. 2013. Early Gag Immunodominance of the HIV-Specific T-Cell Response during Acute/Early Infection Is Associated with Higher CD8+ T-Cell Antiviral Activity and Correlates with Preservation of the CD4+ T-Cell Compartment. *J Virol*, 87, 7445-62.
- 375. TURNBULL, E. L., LOPES, A. R., JONES, N. A., CORNFORTH, D., NEWTON, P., ALDAM, D., PELLEGRINO, P., TURNER, J., WILLIAMS, I., WILSON, C. M., GOEPFERT, P. A., MAINI, M. K. & BORROW, P. 2006. HIV-1 epitope-specific CD8+ T cell responses strongly associated with delayed disease progression cross-recognize epitope variants efficiently. J Immunol, 176, 6130-46.
- 376. TURNBULL, E. L., WONG, M., WANG, S., WEI, X., JONES, N. A., CONROD, K. E., ALDAM, D., TURNER, J., PELLEGRINO, P., KEELE, B. F., WILLIAMS, I., SHAW, G. M. & BORROW, P. 2009. Kinetics of expansion of epitope-specific T cell responses during primary HIV-1 infection. *J Immunol*, 182, 7131-45.
- 377. U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, N. I. O. H. 2013. *History of HIV Vaccine Research* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.niaid.nih.gov/topics/hivaids/research/vaccines/Pages/history.</u> <u>aspx</u> [Accessed 24 April 2014].
- 378. UCHIL, P. D., QUINLAN, B. D., CHAN, W. T., LUNA, J. M. & MOTHES, W. 2008. TRIM E3 ligases interfere with early and late stages of the retroviral life cycle. *PLoS Pathog*, 4, e16.
- 379. UNAIDS 2012. Report on the global AIDS epidemic. Geneva.
- 380. UNAIDS 2013. Report on the global AIDS epidemic. Geneva.
- VACCARI, M., TRINDADE, C. J., VENZON, D., ZANETTI, M. & FRANCHINI, G. 2005. Vaccine-induced CD8+ central memory T cells in protection from simian AIDS. *J Immunol*, 175, 3502-7.
- 382. VALENTINE, L. E., PIASKOWSKI, S. M., RAKASZ, E. G., HENRY, N. L., WILSON, N. A. & WATKINS, D. I. 2008. Recognition of escape variants in ELISPOT does not always predict CD8+ T-cell recognition of simian immunodeficiency virus-infected cells expressing the same variant sequences. J Virol, 82, 575-81.
- 383. VALENTINE, L. E. & WATKINS, D. I. 2008. Relevance of studying T cell responses in SIV-infected rhesus macaques. *Trends Microbiol*, 16, 605-11.
- 384. VALLARI, A., BODELLE, P., NGANSOP, C., MAKAMCHE, F., NDEMBI, N., MBANYA, D., KAPTUE, L., GURTLER, L. G., MCARTHUR, C. P., DEVARE, S. G. & BRENNAN, C. A. 2010. Four new HIV-1 group N isolates from Cameroon: Prevalence continues to be low. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses*, 26, 109-15.

- 385. VAN DAMME, N., GOFF, D., KATSURA, C., JORGENSON, R. L., MITCHELL, R., JOHNSON, M. C., STEPHENS, E. B. & GUATELLI, J. 2008. The interferoninduced protein BST-2 restricts HIV-1 release and is downregulated from the cell surface by the viral Vpu protein. *Cell Host Microbe*, 3, 245-52.
- 386. VAN HEUVERSWYN, F., LI, Y., NEEL, C., BAILES, E., KEELE, B. F., LIU, W., LOUL, S., BUTEL, C., LIEGEOIS, F., BIENVENUE, Y., NGOLLE, E. M., SHARP, P. M., SHAW, G. M., DELAPORTE, E., HAHN, B. H. & PEETERS, M. 2006. Human immunodeficiency viruses: SIV infection in wild gorillas. *Nature*, 444, 164.
- 387. VAN LOGGERENBERG, F., MLISANA, K., WILLIAMSON, C., AULD, S. C., MORRIS, L., GRAY, C. M., ABDOOL KARIM, Q., GROBLER, A., BARNABAS, N., IRIOGBE, I., ABDOOL KARIM, S. S. & FOR THE, C. A. I. S. T. 2008. Establishing a Cohort at High Risk of HIV Infection in South Africa: Challenges and Experiences of the CAPRISA 002 Acute Infection Study. *PLoS One*, 3, e1954.
- VARTHAKAVI, V., SMITH, R. M., BOUR, S. P., STREBEL, K. & SPEARMAN, P. 2003. Viral protein U counteracts a human host cell restriction that inhibits HIV-1 particle production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 15154-9.
- 389. VEAZEY, R. S., THAM, I. C., MANSFIELD, K. G., DEMARIA, M., FORAND, A. E., SHVETZ, D. E., CHALIFOUX, L. V., SEHGAL, P. K. & LACKNER, A. A. 2000. Identifying the target cell in primary simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) infection: highly activated memory CD4(+) T cells are rapidly eliminated in early SIV infection in vivo. *Journal of Virology*, 74, 57-64.
- 390. VEILLETTE, M., DÉSORMEAUX, A., MEDJAHED, H., GHARSALLAH, N.-E., COUTU, M., BAALWA, J., GUAN, Y., LEWIS, G., FERRARI, G. & HAHN, B. H. 2014. Interaction with cellular CD4 exposes HIV-1 envelope epitopes targeted by antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Journal of virology*, 88, 2633-2644.
- 391. VILLINGER, F., BUCUR, S., CHIKKALA, N. F., BRAR, S. S., BOSTIK, P., MAYNE, A. E., ADAMS, J., LEE, M. E., NOVEMBRE, F. J., GATELY, M. K., ANSARI, A. A. & HILLYER, C. D. 2000. In vitro and in vivo responses to interleukin 12 are maintained until the late SIV infection stage but lost during AIDS. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses*, 16, 751-63.
- 392. VIRGIN, H. W. & WALKER, B. D. 2010. Immunology and the elusive AIDS vaccine. *Nature*, 464, 224-31.
- 393. VOGEL, T. U., HORTON, H., FULLER, D. H., CARTER, D. K., VIELHUBER, K., O'CONNOR, D. H., SHIPLEY, T., FULLER, J., SUTTER, G., ERFLE, V., WILSON, N., PICKER, L. J. & WATKINS, D. I. 2002. Differences between T cell epitopes recognized after immunization and after infection. *J Immunol*, 169, 4511-21.
- 394. WAIN-HOBSON, S. 1995. AIDS. Virological mayhem. *Nature*, 373, 102.

- 395. WALKER, B. & MCMICHAEL, A. 2012. The T-cell response to HIV. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med*, 2.
- 396. WALKER, L. M., PHOGAT, S. K., CHAN-HUI, P. Y., WAGNER, D., PHUNG, P., GOSS, J. L., WRIN, T., SIMEK, M. D., FLING, S., MITCHAM, J. L., LEHRMAN, J. K., PRIDDY, F. H., OLSEN, O. A., FREY, S. M., HAMMOND, P. W., MIIRO, G., SERWANGA, J., POZNIAK, A., MCPHEE, D., MANIGART, O., MWANANYANDA, L., KARITA, E., INWOLEY, A., JAOKO, W., DEHOVITZ, J., BEKKER, L. G., PITISUTTITHUM, P., PARIS, R., ALLEN, S., KAMINSKY, S., ZAMB, T., MOYLE, M., KOFF, W. C., POIGNARD, P. & BURTON, D. R. 2009a. Broad and Potent Neutralizing Antibodies from an African Donor Reveal a New HIV-1 Vaccine Target. *Science*.
- WALKER, L. M., PHOGAT, S. K., CHAN-HUI, P. Y., WAGNER, D., PHUNG, P., GOSS, J. L., WRIN, T., SIMEK, M. D., FLING, S., MITCHAM, J. L., LEHRMAN, J. K., PRIDDY, F. H., OLSEN, O. A., FREY, S. M., HAMMOND, P. W., PROTOCOL, G. P. I., KAMINSKY, S., ZAMB, T., MOYLE, M., KOFF, W. C., POIGNARD, P. & BURTON, D. R. 2009b. Broad and potent neutralizing antibodies from an African donor reveal a new HIV-1 vaccine target. *Science*, 326, 285-9.
- 398. WANG, Y. E., LI, B., CARLSON, J. M., STREECK, H., GLADDEN, A. D., GOODMAN, R., SCHNEIDEWIND, A., POWER, K. A., TOTH, I., FRAHM, N., ALTER, G., BRANDER, C., CARRINGTON, M., WALKER, B. D., ALTFELD, M., HECKERMAN, D. & ALLEN, T. M. 2009. Protective HLA class I alleles that restrict acute-phase CD8+ T-cell responses are associated with viral escape mutations located in highly conserved regions of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J Virol, 83, 1845-55.
- 399. WATANABE, N., SYPEK, J. P., MITTLER, S., REIMANN, K. A., FLORES-VILLANUEVA, P., VOSS, G., LORD, C. I. & LETVIN, N. L. 1998. Administration of recombinant human interleukin 12 to chronically SIVmac-infected rhesus monkeys. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses*, 14, 393-9.
- WEI, X., DECKER, J. M., WANG, S., HUI, H., KAPPES, J. C., WU, X., SALAZAR-GONZALEZ, J. F., SALAZAR, M. G., KILBY, J. M., SAAG, M. S., KOMAROVA, N. L., NOWAK, M. A., HAHN, B. H., KWONG, P. D. & SHAW, G. M. 2003. Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. *Nature*, 422, 307-12.
- WESTENDORP, M. O., FRANK, R., OCHSENBAUER, C., STRICKER, K., DHEIN, J., WALCZAK, H., DEBATIN, K. M. & KRAMMER, P. H. 1995. Sensitization of T cells to CD95-mediated apoptosis by HIV-1 Tat and gp120. *Nature*, 375, 497-500.
- 402. WHERRY, E. J., BLATTMAN, J. N. & AHMED, R. 2005. Low CD8 T-cell proliferative potential and high viral load limit the effectiveness of therapeutic vaccination. *J Virol*, 79, 8960-8.
- 403. WHERRY, E. J., BLATTMAN, J. N., MURALI-KRISHNA, K., VAN DER MOST, R. & AHMED, R. 2003. Viral persistence alters CD8 T-cell immunodominance

and tissue distribution and results in distinct stages of functional impairment. *J Virol*, 77, 4911-27.

- 404. WHITTLE, H., MORRIS, J., TODD, J., CORRAH, T., SABALLY, S., BANGALI, J., NGOM, P. T., ROLFE, M. & WILKINS, A. 1994. HIV-2-infected patients survive longer than HIV-1-infected patients. *Aids*, *8*, 1617-20.
- 405. WILSON, J. D., OGG, G. S., ALLEN, R. L., DAVIS, C., SHAUNAK, S., DOWNIE, J., DYER, W., WORKMAN, C., SULLIVAN, S., MCMICHAEL, A. J. & ROWLAND-JONES, S. L. 2000. Direct visualization of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes during primary infection. *Aids*, 14, 225-33.
- 406. WILSON, N. A., KEELE, B. F., REED, J. S., PIASKOWSKI, S. M., MACNAIR, C. E., BETT, A. J., LIANG, X., WANG, F., THORYK, E., HEIDECKER, G. J., CITRON, M. P., HUANG, L., LIN, J., VITELLI, S., AHN, C. D., KAIZU, M., MANESS, N. J., REYNOLDS, M. R., FRIEDRICH, T. C., LOFFREDO, J. T., RAKASZ, E. G., ERICKSON, S., ALLISON, D. B., PIATAK, M., JR., LIFSON, J. D., SHIVER, J. W., CASIMIRO, D. R., SHAW, G. M., HAHN, B. H. & WATKINS, D. I. 2009. Vaccine-induced cellular responses control simian immunodeficiency virus replication after heterologous challenge. J Virol, 83, 6508-21.
- 407. WRIGHT, J. K., BRUMME, Z. L., CARLSON, J. M., HECKERMAN, D., KADIE, C. M., BRUMME, C. J., WANG, B., LOSINA, E., MIURA, T., CHONCO, F., VAN DER STOK, M., MNCUBE, Z., BISHOP, K., GOULDER, P. J., WALKER, B. D., BROCKMAN, M. A. & NDUNG'U, T. 2010. Gag-protease-mediated replication capacity in HIV-1 subtype C chronic infection: associations with HLA type and clinical parameters. *J Virol*, 84, 10820-31.
- 408. WRIGHT, J. K., NOVITSKY, V., BROCKMAN, M. A., BRUMME, Z. L., BRUMME, C. J., CARLSON, J. M., HECKERMAN, D., WANG, B., LOSINA, E., LESHWEDI, M., VAN DER STOK, M., MAPHUMULO, L., MKHWANAZI, N., CHONCO, F., GOULDER, P. J., ESSEX, M., WALKER, B. D. & NDUNG'U, T. 2011. Influence of Gag-protease-mediated replication capacity on disease progression in individuals recently infected with HIV-1 subtype C. J Virol, 85, 3996-4006.
- 409. WU, X., YANG, Z. Y., LI, Y., HOGERKORP, C. M., SCHIEF, W. R., SEAMAN, M. S., ZHOU, T., SCHMIDT, S. D., WU, L., XU, L., LONGO, N. S., MCKEE, K., O'DELL, S., LOUDER, M. K., WYCUFF, D. L., FENG, Y., NASON, M., DORIA-ROSE, N., CONNORS, M., KWONG, P. D., ROEDERER, M., WYATT, R. T., NABEL, G. J. & MASCOLA, J. R. 2010. Rational design of envelope identifies broadly neutralizing human monoclonal antibodies to HIV-1. *Science*, 329, 856-61.
- 410. XU, F., TAN, J., LIU, R., XU, D., LI, Y., GENG, Y., LIANG, C. & QIAO, W. 2011. Tetherin inhibits prototypic foamy virus release. *Virol J*, 8, 198.
- 411. YANG, O. O. 2003. Will we be able to 'spot' an effective HIV-1 vaccine? *Trends Immunol*, 24, 67-72.

- 412. YEWDELL, J. W. 2006. Confronting complexity: real-world immunodominance in antiviral CD8+ T cell responses. *Immunity*, 25, 533-43.
- 413. YOUNES, S. A., YASSINE-DIAB, B., DUMONT, A. R., BOULASSEL, M. R., GROSSMAN, Z., ROUTY, J. P. & SEKALY, R. P. 2003. HIV-1 viremia prevents the establishment of interleukin 2-producing HIV-specific memory CD4+ T cells endowed with proliferative capacity. *J Exp Med*, 198, 1909-22.
- 414. YU, X., YU, Y., LIU, B., LUO, K., KONG, W., MAO, P. & YU, X. F. 2003. Induction of APOBEC3G ubiquitination and degradation by an HIV-1 Vif-Cul5-SCF complex. *Science*, 302, 1056-60.
- YU, X. G., ADDO, M. M., ROSENBERG, E. S., RODRIGUEZ, W. R., LEE, P. K., FITZPATRICK, C. A., JOHNSTON, M. N., STRICK, D., GOULDER, P. J., WALKER, B. D. & ALTFELD, M. 2002. Consistent patterns in the development and immunodominance of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1)specific CD8+ T-cell responses following acute HIV-1 infection. J Virol, 76, 8690-701.
- 416. ZANGERLE, R., STEINHUBER, S., SARCLETTI, M., DIERICH, M. P., WACHTER, H., FUCHS, D. & MOST, J. 1998. Serum HIV-1 RNA levels compared to soluble markers of immune activation to predict disease progression in HIV-1-infected individuals. *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology*, 116, 228-39.
- 417. ZARLING, A. L., JOHNSON, J. G., HOFFMAN, R. W. & LEE, D. R. 1999. Induction of primary human CD8+ T lymphocyte responses in vitro using dendritic cells. *J Immunol*, 162, 5197-204.
- 418. ZHANG, F., PEREZ-CABALLERO, D., HATZIIOANNOU, T. & BIENIASZ, P. D. 2008. No effect of endogenous TRIM5alpha on HIV-1 production. *Nat Med*, 14, 235-6; author reply 236-8.
- 419. ZHANG, J. Y., ZHANG, Z., WANG, X., FU, J. L., YAO, J., JIAO, Y., CHEN, L., ZHANG, H., WEI, J., JIN, L., SHI, M., GAO, G. F., WU, H. & WANG, F. S. 2007. PD-1 up-regulation is correlated with HIV-specific memory CD8+ T-cell exhaustion in typical progressors but not in long-term nonprogressors. *Blood*, 109, 4671-8.
- 420. ZUNIGA, R., LUCCHETTI, A., GALVAN, P., SANCHEZ, S., SANCHEZ, C., HERNANDEZ, A., SANCHEZ, H., FRAHM, N., LINDE, C. H., HEWITT, H. S., HILDEBRAND, W., ALTFELD, M., ALLEN, T. M., WALKER, B. D., KORBER, B. T., LEITNER, T., SANCHEZ, J. & BRANDER, C. 2006. Relative dominance of Gag p24-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes is associated with human immunodeficiency virus control. J Virol, 80, 3122-5.